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Dear Fellow Stockholders:

In 2002, Sealed Air's organization remained keenly focused on
our business and on our most important priority — meeting
the needs of our customers — in the face of a weak economy
across many of our markets around the world and major
litigation in the United States. The result was that we delivered
solid operating results for the year. However, by far the single
most significant event was the settlement of our asbestos
litigation and the resulting fourth quarter charge, discussed

below, which resulted in a net loss for the Company in 2002.

il e

William V. Hickey
President and
Chief Execulive
Officer




Net sales increased 4% for the year primarily due to
higher unit volume in both of cur business segments.

ur operating results for the year 2002 once again demonstrated
the strength of Sealed Air's business. For the first time in our history, Sealed Air
surpassed $800 million in quarterly sales. We exceeded that mark in the third
guarter and followed that with a new record in the fourth quarter. in addition to

higher sales, we delivered sound operating results for 2002:

O Net sales increased 4% for the year primarily due to higher unit volume in
both of our business segments.

O Food packaging segment net sales increased 4%, reflecting the mid-single
digit gains expected in this segment of our business.

O Protective and specialty packaging segment net sales increased 5% in a
difficult global economic environment. These results reflect our expectation
that the gains in this segment of our business will generally outperform annual
growth in the global economy.

O Gross profit improved to 33.0% of net sales compared to 32.3% of net sales
in 2001. This performance is consistent with our long-term business objective
of gross profit margins at or above 33%.

O Marketing, administrative and development expenses were 16.9% of net
sales, which is within ocur targeted range of 16 to 17%.

O Cash flows from operating activities continued to be a financial cornerstone
of Sealed Air's business. We used our cash flow to help build cash balances
from approximately $14 million at the beginning of the year to approximately

$127 million. This build-up in cash is part of our plan to fund a portion of the




Cash flows from cperating activities continued to be
a financial cornerstone of Sealed Alr's business.

costs associated with our asbestos settlement, discussed below, from cash
flow from operations. In addition, we also used our free cash in 2002 to
repurchase approximately $29 milion in preferred shares and to reduce the
use of our accounts receivable securitization facility by approximately $96

million.

e announced in the fourth quarter of 2002 that the Company
reached an agreement in principle with the appropriate parties to resolve all
current and future asbestos-related claims made against it and its affiiates in
connection with the 1998 transaction in which the Cryovac packaging business
of W. R. Grace & Co. was combined with Sealed Air. The costs of the settlement
are fully reflected in our financial statements for 2002. While we believed in
the merits of our case, we are committed to doing what is in the best interests
of our stockholders and our business. Reaching a timely and manageable
resolution of this litigation is part of that commitment. The settlement will allow
Sealed Air to do what we do best — produce superior, innovative packaging
products for our customers and pursue our goal of being the best packaging

company in the world.

With favorable operating results in 2002 and the asbestos litigation behind us,
Sealed Air enters 2003 with a solid foundation. Please take a moment to
review the short booklet inside the front cover of our annual report entitled

“The Advantage is Yours”, which captures the key elements of our business and




Sealed Alr enters 2003 with a solid foundation.

our operating pricrities. These are the essence of Sealed Air's corporate identity

and the foundation of our future:

O Providing powerful brands like Bubble Wrap®, Cryovacs, Instapak® and Jiffy®
products that protect, preserve and present our customers’ products around
the world.

O Enabling our customers’ success by delivering measurable economic
benefits that add value to their operations and proving it day-in and day-out
with our value-analysis selling model.

© Continuing to deliver valuable customer solutions through industry-leading
innovation, expertise and systems support.

O Focusing on upholding our five operating priorities which are:

O Putting the customer first.

O Managing our business for cash flow.

O Continuing to improve everything we do through our World Class
Manufacturing initiative.

O Continuing to invest in technology to provide meaningful innovation for our
customers.

O Doing all of the above every day, which helps us deliver long-term growth
in earnings per share.

O And, most importantly, conducting business under the guiding principles of
our longstanding Code of Conduct that reminds us to seek the high road in

everything we do.




Sealed Alr remains a strong company, well-positioned
for the long-term.

ur history is built upon these strengths and priorities, and our constant
focus on them will help us to continuously deliver the value of the Sealed Air advan-

tage to our stakeholders, including our customers, stockholders and employees.

The year 2002 was also marked with significant focus on corporate governance.
From the early days of our Company, Sealed Air has made sound corporate
governance and accountability 1o stockholders a fundamental part of our
business. We will be in compliance with all the new regulations initiated during
the past year, once these become effective, and we will continue to keep

accountability and governance priorities at Sealed Alr.

Economic weakness persists in many parts of the world and near-term
geopolitical concerns are affecting business activity in 2003. However, Sealed
Air remains a strong and solid company, weil-positioned for the long-term.

Our employees, many of whom are stockholders, remain focused on delivering
value every day to our customers. We have a bright future aided by a deep
commitment to our priorities. Our business should continue to benefit from
favorable longstanding trends like the demand for convenience, rising global
living standards, increasing global trade, the global expansion of the supermarket
and the desire for improved safety and hygiene. For these reasons, we

remain confident in our long-term ocutlock. We thank our stockholders and our

employees for their commitment and support in 2002 and beyond.

William V. Hickey

President and Chief Executive Officer




Corporate Information

Countries in which Sealed Alr and its Subsidiaries Operate

The Americas Eureope, Middle East, Africa
Argentina Belgium Ireland South Africa
Barbados Czech Republic israel Spain
Brazil Denmark ltaly Sweden
Canada Finland Luxembourg Switzerland
Chile France Norway The Netherlands
Colombia Germany Poland Turkey
Costa Rica Greece Portugal Ukraine
Ecuador Hungary Russia United Kingdom
Guatemala
Mexico
Peru Asia Australasia
United States ) . )
Uruguay Chrlna Mglgysla Australia
Venezuela India Philippines New Zealand
Indonesia Singapore
Japan Taiwan
Korea Thailand

Safety and Environment

Sealed Air is committed to providing safe working conditions for our employees and to
investing in product research, development and testing to promote the safe design, use
and handling of our products throughout the world.

We are dedicated to being pro-active on environmental issues affecting our business and
industry and to providing a safe workplace. Our Environment, Health and Safety Steering

Committee, comprised of corporate and operating personnel, is committed to seeing that
our operations are conducted in a way that is consistent with sound environmental, health

and safety practices.

We use significant amounts of recycled materials in our protective packaging products both
by acquiring such materials from third parties, such as newspapers which are used in our
Jiffy® Padded Mallers, and by recycling and reprocessing scrap materials generated in our
manufacturing processes. We also participate in programs to collect packaging materials
from our distributors and other customers and recycle and reprocess those materials.

Through management leadership and the use of key safety process tools, we strive to
improve workplace safety and reduce injuries. We also work toward safety and environmental
excellence as as integral part of our World Class Manufacturing program.




Directors and Officers

Directors

Hank Browmn ®®
President and

Chief Executive Cfficer,

The Daniels Fund
(Charitable Foundation)
Elected to the Board in 1997

Michael Chu®

Managing Director and
Founding Partner,

Pegasus Venture Capital

(Latin American Investment Firm)
Elected to the Board in 2002

Lawrence R. Codey "
Former President,

Public Service Electric

and Gas Company

Elected to the Board in 1993

(1) Member of Audit Committee.
(2) Member of Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee.

(3) Member of Organization and Compensation

Committee.

Officers

William V. Hickey
President and

Chief Executive Officer,

First elected an officer in 1980

Robert A. Pesci
Senior Vice President
First elected an officer in 1990

David H. Kelsey

Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

First elected an officer in 2002

Jonathan B. Baker
Vice Prasident
First elected an officer in 1294

James A. Bixlby
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1990

Mary A. Coventry
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1994

T. J. Dermot Cunphy
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer,
Kildare Enterprises, LLC
(Private Equity Investment
and Management Firm)
Elected to the Board in 1968

Charles F. Farrell, Jr. @
President,

Crystal Creek Associates, LLC
(Investment Management and
Business Consulting Firm)
Elected to the Board in 1971

William V. Hickey
President and

Chief Executive Officer,
Sealed Alr Corporation
Elected to the Board in 1999

Shirley Ann Jackson @@
President,

Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute
Elected to the Board in 1999

Renneth P. Manning @
Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Officer,

Sensient Technologies Corporation
(Supplier of Flavors, Colors

and Inks)

Elected to the Board in 2002

William J. Marino @
President and

Chief Executive Officer,
Horizon Blue Cross and

Blue Shield of New Jersey
Elected to the Board in 2002

The dates shown above indicate the year in which each of the directors was
first elected a director of the Company or of the former Sealed Air Corporation
prior to the 1998 Cryovac transaction (“old Sealed Air"). Dr. Jackson also

James P. Mix
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1994

Manuel Mondragdén
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1999

Carol Lee ©*'Neill
Vice President
First elected an officer in 2002

J. Stuart K. Prosser
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1899

Abraham N. Reichental

Vice President
First elected an officer in 1984

Nugh L. Sargant
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1999

served as a director of old Sealed Air from 1992 to 1895.

Frederick Smagorinsky
Vice President
First elected an officer in 2001

James Donald Tate
Vice President
First elected an officer in 2001

H. Katherine White
Vice President,

General Counsel and Secretary
First elected an officer in 1996

Tod 8. Christie
Treasurer
First elected an officer in 1999

Jeffrey . Warren
Controller
First elected an officer in 1996

The dates shown above indicate the year
in which each of the officers was first
elected an officer of the Company or of
old Sealed Air.




Stockholder Information

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of stock-
holders of the Company is
scheduled to be held on May
16, 2003 at 10:00 am E.D.T.

at the Saddie Brook Marriott,
Garden State Parkway at 1-80,
Saddle Brook, New Jersey
07663-5894.

Sealed Air's Annual Report

to Stockholders is sent to
stockholders of record and

to the street name holders
through banks and brokerage
houses in April unless
electronic access has been
authorized by the stockholder.
[t can also be accessed
through the Company's web
site at www.sealedair.com.

Press Releases

As a New York Stock
Exchange listed company
(NYSE symbo! SEE), Sealed

Air issues guarterly eaming
reports and othar news releases
to the general media. They

can also be accessed through
the Company’s web site at
www.sealedair.com.

Stockholders who wish to
receive paper copies of these
releases should advise the
Company by calling 201-791-
7600 or by writing to Investor
Relations at the following
address:

Investor Relations

Sealed Air Corporation
Park 80 East

Saddle Brook, New Jersey
07663-5291

Securities and
Exchange Commission
Reports

Sealed Air's Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange
Commission is available at
the end of March, and
quarterly Form 10-Q reports
are available in mid-May, mid-
August, and mid-November.

The Company’s SEC filings

are available in the investor
Information section of the
Company’s web site at
www.sealedair.com. Copies
may also be obtained by calling
201-791-7600. For additional
information, please contact:

Philip H. Cook, Jr.
Director of Corporate
Communications
201-791-7600

Stock Transfer Agent
Mellon Investor Services LLC

Regular mail:

P.O. Box 3315

South Hackensack, NJ
07606-1915

Registered or Overnight Mail
85 Challenger Road
Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660

Internet
www.melloninvestor.com

Telephone
800-648-8381

(US and Canada)
201-329-8660 (International)
201-329-8354

(TDD for hearing impaired)

Automated telephone support
services are available 24

hours per day 7 days per
week. Mellon customer service
representatives are available
from 9:00 am to 7:00 pm
Eastern Time, Monday through
Friday.

When caliing, please have
your social security number or
taxpayer identification number
available, and please identify
yourself as a Sealed Air stock-
holder. You will also need to
furnish them with the name in
which your account is being
maintained.

Auditors
KPMG LLP
Short Hills, New Jersey
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The Sealed Air Advantage:

Powerful Brands for
Protection, Preservation,
Presentation

The Ssaled Air Advantage:

Enabling Our
Customers’ Success

The Sealed Air Advantage:

Customer Solutions through
Innovation, Expertise, Systems

The Sealed Alr Advantage:

Upholding Our Priorities




Powertul Branos
Tor Protection,
Preservation,

0

Presentation




Instapak® foam-in-place &f ﬁ
I

The Sealed Air Advantage

Sealed Air customers rely on us to efficiently safeguard their goods so
their customers receive optimum quality. From the factory floor
through the supply chain to the store or home, Sealed Air® packaging
ensures that our customers’ products arrive factory fresh - looking
great, without damage or spoilage.

Our fresh food packaging materials and systems are principally
marketed under the Cryovac® trademark. They include barrier shrink
bags and films as well as non-shrink, multi-layer films that preserve
and protect a wide range of perishable foods throughout distribution.
Aside from safeguarding perishable food, many Cryovac food
packaging materials also feature high gloss, clarity and brilliant
graphics for outstanding presentation in retail grocery stores.

Sealed Air’'s principal protective packaging products are: Bubble
Wrap® and AirCap? air cellular cushioning materials; Fill-Air™ inflatable
packaging; Instapak® foam-in-place packaging systems; and Korrvu®
suspension and retention packaging. Cell-Aire®, Stratocell®, CelluPlank®
and Cellu-Cushion® polyethylene foam products are used for a wide
variety of protective packaging and non-packaging applications.
Protective and durable mailers are sold globally under a variety of
trademarks including the widely recognized Jiffy® mailer brand.

Shrink film products for protection, multi-unit packing and appealing
retail presentation include Cryovac® films, Shanklin® systems and Opti®
packaging products. High-performance products for medical
applications are also generally marketed under the Cryovac trademark.

1

Cryovac® vacuum shrink packaging Bubble Wrap® cushioning

Cryovac®

1 shrink

il

films
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The Sealed Air Advantage

The heart of our value proposition is that Sealed Air products deliver
measurable economic benefits to our customers. In short, we exist to
enable their success.

It all started as a rather simple idea, when we persuaded customers to
stop using old newspaper for cushioning material and replace it with
Bubble Wrap® cushioning to protect their products. Many customers
switched because Sealed Air could prove, through demonstration and
testing, the economic benefits that more than offset the added material
cost of Bubble Wrap cushioning.

Cur value analysis selling model was born from this commitment and
remains the cornerstone of Sealed Air’s sales philosophy. We sell solutions
that enhance the bottom-line value of our customers’ operations.

Customer relationships are developed and nurtured by our sales,
technical support and customer service professionals, and supported
by our manufacturing and development experts. Sealed Air has a
worldwide network of more than 100 manufacturing plants with
operations in 50 countries, and both in-house distribution and strategic
distribution partners to assist in servicing customer needs.

™

Inflatable Bubble
Wrap® cushioning -
the next generation
of Bubble Wrap
brand protection.

Instapacker
Tabletop
enhances the
bottom-line
value of
operations.

15
P«

CorTuff® high-abuse Cryovac®
shrink film reduces Case-ready
damage in storage packaging

and distribution. safeguards
meat and

increases retail
efficiency.




N 7/
;\\‘ -- Cii
/A/ S ¢
:>
S
Oy ©
Sy
- & ﬂnM
/fﬂ\\ ~—
N (a
- s
¢ ¢
) )




Instapak® foam-in-place
packaging systems offer
high performance.

The Sealed Air Advantage

Sealed Air
often provides
total systems
for comptete
customer
solutions.

Throughout the company’s history, Sealed Air has focused on
developing and nurturing superior performance in three areas:
innovation; systems; and professional expertise. While each creates
unique customer value on its own, the combination provides greater
benefits for our customers.

Sealed Air's success can be directly traced to meaningful innovation.
From the beginning we dedicated ourselves to creating innovative
packaging solutions for our customers. By investing twice as much as
the industry average in research and development, Sealed Air has
developed a global portfolio of more than 2,500 patents.

Systems solutions, not products alone, address customer needs. By
offering total systems in many of our businesses, we become an
integral partner in our customers’ packaging process. Through this
partnership, we develop a deeper understanding of our customers’
operations, which ultimately helps us to continucusly create and
deliver ideas that add value.

Expertise and commitment help create trust for long-term
relationships. Sealed Air seeks and develops people who can become
experts in helping our customers succeed. Our employees are
committed to understanding the diverse businesses and operations of
our customers around the world. From catalog fulfilment operations in
the U.S. to meat processing plants in Asia, Sealed Air professionals
constantly strive to create value for our customers through innovative
products, systems solutions and expert support.

1
; :
| Cryovac® barrier bags safeguard ~ Vertical pouch packaging creates 1
| fresh food and increase shelfiife. advantages for the foodservice l
industry through storage i
efficiency, safe handling |
| and labor savings. i
|
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The Sealed Air Advantage

The Sealed Air advantage is rooted in values that go back to the
early days of the company. Although we are flexible enough to
change over time by growth, acquisition, global expansion, societal
change and new ideas, the core of the culture and philosophy
remains constant, and is protected and reinforced by leadership.
Sealed Air's daily operating priorities and Code of Conduct are the
foundation of the company. These are woven into the fabric of
everything we do at Sealed Air.

Cur first priority is our customer. Throughout the life of our company,
our success has been and always will be measured by our
customers’ success. Our second priority is cash flow. We encourage
employees to spend the company’s money like it is their own,
because in a real sense, it is. Through our profit-sharing plan many of
our employees are shareholders. The third priority is our World Class
Manufacturing initiative that focuses all of us on doing our jobs a little
better each day. Through employee involvement and teams, we seek
to identify opportunities to create faster, simpler processes that
enhance our ability to serve customers and improve cash flow. The
fourth priority is innovation, and from day one, that is what Sealed Air
has focused on in every aspect of our business. Our final priority is
earnings per share. If we practice and successfully execute the first
four fundamental priorities, growth in earnings will follow. Growth will
ensure the company’s long-term value and security.

Sealed Air employs a written Code of Conduct that guides our
professional actions. It reminds us to seek the high road in everything
we do. Our Code of Conduct aiso influences our governance and
compensation policies. Sealed Air's entire board of directors is
elected on an annual basis and plays a prominent role in corporate
governance activities.

From the start, Sealed Air has been built on a foundation of quality
and integrity. At each and every level, from our powerful brands to
our innovative customer solutions to a daily commitment to our
priorities, you find a corporate culture focused on delivering value.
That is your advantage - the Sealed Air advantage.

@




Sealed Alr

Sealed Alr Corporation

Park 80 East

Saddle Brook, NJ 07663-5281
(201)721-7600 Fax: (201)703-4205
www.sealedair.com

Our Products Protect Your Products®
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark COne)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period frem to

Commission file number 1-12139

SEALED AIR CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 65-0654331
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer Identification Number)
Incorporation or Organization)

Park 80 East, Saddle Brook, New Jersey 07663-5291
{Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s Telephone Number, including Area Code: (201) 791-7600

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par value $0.10 per share New York Stock Exchange
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value New York Stock Exchange
$0.10 per share

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for
the past 90 days. Yes No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or
information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Act). Yes No I

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s Common Stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant on
June 28, 2002 was approximately $3,300,000,000.

The number of outstanding shares of the registrant’s Common Stock as of March 19, 2003 was 84,360,280.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE: Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement
for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Form 10-K.
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PART [
Item 1. Business

Sealed Air Corporation (the “Company”), operating through its subsidiaries, is engaged in the
manufacture and sale of a wide range of food, protective and specialty packaging products.

The Company conducts substantially all of its business through two direct wholly-owned subsidiaries,
Cryovac, Inc. and Sealed Air Corporation (US). These two subsidiaries directly and indirectly own
substantially all of the assets of the business and conduct operations themselves and through
subsidiaries around the globe. References herein to the Company include, collectively, the Company
and its subsidiaries, except where the context indicates otherwise.

Segments

The Company operates in two reportable business segments: (i) Food Packaging and (ii) Protective and
Specialty Packaging, described more fully below. Information concerning the Company’s reportable
segments appears in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part 11, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Food Packaging Products

The Company’s principal food packaging products are its flexible materials and related systems
marketed primarily under the Cryovac® trademark for packaging a broad range of perishable foods.
This segment also includes the Company’s rigid packaging and absorbent pads. The products in this
segment are primarily sold to food processors, distributors and food service businesses.

Flexible Materials and Related Systems

The Company produces a variety of high-performance proprietary flexible films, bags and associated
packaging equipment marketed and sold primarily under the Cryovac® trademark that are used to
package a broad range of perishable foods such as fresh meat, smoked and processed meat, cheese,
poultry, processed and prepared foods (including soups and sauces for restaurants and institutions) and
produce.

Cryovac® food packaging products include shrink bags, shrink films and laminated films sold for food
packaging applications. Shrink bags and films are co-extruded, multi-layered, shrinkable plastic bags and
films that, when exposed to heat, mold themselves to the shape of the product. Laminated films are
multi-layered, non-shrinkable plastic materials used to package perishable foods and shelf-stable
products such as syrups and toppings. Films and bags are sold in barrier and permeable forms,
depending on the extent to which it is desirable that oxygen or other gases pass through the material.
For fresh-cut produce, the Company produces films that permit gases to pass through at various rates,
thereby matching the varying respiration rates of different vegetables and permitting longer shelf life.

The Company’s food packaging equipment offerings include dispensing and loading units to package
foods in shrink, vacuum or vacuum skin packages, which can utilize the Company’s films and bags;
form-fill-seal units to package foods in pouches, which can be made using the Company’s films; shrink
tunnels; bagging systems; and auxiliary equipment. Systems are marketed to the food processing
industry under the Cryovac® trademark and other trademarks. The Company’s case ready packaging
customers, principally meat and poultry processors, purchase trays and pads (discussed below), specially
designed films, and packaging equipment to centrally package meat and poultry products prior to
shipment to the supermarket. Case ready packages are virtually ready for the meat case upon arrival at
the retail store.




Rigid Packaging and Absorbent Pads

The Company manufactures and sells polystyrene foam and solid plastic trays and containers that are
used for the packaging of a wide variety of food products. Supermarkets and food processors use these
products to protect and display fresh meat, poultry, produce and other food products. The Company
also manufactures and sells absorbent pads used for food packaging, including its Dri-Loc® absorbent
pads.

Protective and Specialty Packaging Products

The Company’s protective and specialty packaging products include its cushioning and surface
protection products and certain other products. The Company’s protective and specialty packaging
products and systems are sold primarily to distributors and manufacturers in a wide variety of
industries. The products in this segment enable the end users to provide a high degree of protection in
packaging their items by means of cushioning or surface protection, or a combination thereof, as well
as void fill.

Cushioning and Surface Protection Products

The Company manufactures and markets Bubble Wrap® and AirCap® air cellular packaging materials,
which consist of air encapsulated between two layers of plastic film, each containing a barrier layer to
retard air loss, that form a pneumatic cushion to protect products from damage through shock or
vibration during shipment. The Company’s performance shrink films are sold for product display and
merchandising applications under the Cryovac® and Opti® trademarks. These films are used primarily
to “shrink-wrap” a wide assortment of industrial and consumer products. The Company’s Instapak®
polyurethane foam packaging systems (which consist of proprietary blends of polyurethane chemicals,
high performance polyolefin films and specially designed dispensing equipment) provide protective
packaging for a wide variety of products. CelluPlank® plank foams and Stratocell® laminated
polyethylene foams are generally sold by the Company to fabricators and converters. The Company also
manufactures thin polyethylene foams in roll and sheet form under the trademarks Cell-Aire® and
Cellu-Cushion®. Korrvu® packaging is the Company’s suspension and retention packaging offering.
The Company’s insulation products are made with foil-faced air cellular materials. The Company also
offers sterilized medical bags and films for use with medical products.

The Company manufactures and markets Jiffy® protective mailers and other durable mailers and bags
that are made in several standard sizes and are used for mailing or shipping a wide variety of items.
The Company’s protective mailers include lightweight, tear-resistant mailers marketed under various
trademarks, including Jiffylite® and Mail Lite®, lined with air cellular cushioning material. These
products also include the widely used Jiffy® padded mailers made from recycled kraft paper padded
with macerated recycled newspaper. The Company’s durable mailers and bags, which are produced
from multi-layered polyolefin film, are lightweight, water-resistant and puncture-resistant and are
available in tamper-evident varieties. These mailers and bags are marketed under a number of
trademarks, including the ShurTuff®, Trigon®, Lab Pak®, Keepsafe® and Tuffgard® trademarks. The
Company also manufactures and sells paper packaging products under the trademarks Kushion Kraft®,
Custom Wrap™, Jiffy Packaging™ and Void Kraft™.

The Company offers inflatable packaging systems, including its Fill-Air™ system, which converts rolls of
polyethylene film into continuous perforated chains of air-filled cushions, and its Rapid Fill® system,
which consists of a compact, portable inflator and self-sealing inflatable plastic bags. The Company
produces and markets converting systems that convert certain of the Company’s packaging materials,
including air cellular cushioning materials, thin polyethylene foam and paper packaging materials, into
sheets of a pre-selected size and quantity or, for the Company’s recycled kraft paper, into paper
dunnage material. The Company also offers its Shanklin® shrink packaging machinery, as well as
certain other shrink packaging equipment models.




Other Products

The Company manufactures and sells a number of other products, including specialty adhesive tapes,
solar collectors and covers for swimming pools, and certain products related to the elimination and
neutralization of static electricity. Also, the Company manufactures recycled kraft paper as well as
loose-fill polystyrene packaging.

Foreign Operations

The Company operates in the United States and in 49 other countries, and its products are distributed
in those countries as well as in other parts of the world. In maintaining its foreign operations, the
Company is exposed to risks inherent in such operations, including those of currency fluctuations,
Information on currency exchange risk appears in Part I, Item 7A of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K, which information is incorporated herein by reference. Financial information about
geographic areas, including net sales and total long-lived assets, for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2002 appears in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
in Part 11, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which information is incorporated herein by
reference.

Marketing, Distribution and Cusiomers

The Company employs over 2,500 sales and marketing personnel in the countries in which it operates,
who market the Company’s products through a large number of distributors, fabricators and converters,
as well as directly to end users (including food processors, food service businesses, and manufacturers).

To support its food packaging customers, the Company has food science laboratories in a number of
locations that assist customers in identifying the appropriate food packaging materials and systems to
meet their needs. The Company also offers customized graphic design services to its food packaging
and mailer customers.

To assist its marketing efforts for its protective and specialty packaging products and to provide
specialized customer services, the Company maintains packaging laboratories in many of its United
States and foreign facilities. These laboratories are staffed by professional packaging engineers and
equipped with drop-testing and other equipment used to develop and test cost-effective package designs
to meet the particular protective and specialty packaging requirements of each customer.

The Company has no material long-term contracts for the distribution of its products. In 2002, no
customer or affiliated group of customers accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s consolidated
net sales.

Although net sales of both food packaging products and protective and specialty packaging products
tend to be slightly higher in the fourth quarter, the Company does not consider seasonality to be
material to its consolidated business.

Competition

Competition for most of the Company’s packaging products is based primarily on packaging
performance characteristics, service and price. Since competition is also based upon innovations in
packaging technology, the Company’s ongoing research and development programs are intended to
enable the Company to maintain technological leadership. Certain companies producing competing
products are well established and may have greater financial resources than the Company.

There are a number of competing manufacturers of food packaging products, including companies
offering similar products that operate on a global basis, as well as those that operate in a region or
single country. Competing manufacturers produce a wide variety of food packaging based on plastic,
paper, metals and other materials. The Company believes that it is one of the leading suppliers of




flexible food packaging materials and related systems in the principal geographic areas in which it
offers those products and one of the leading suppliers of absorbent pads for food products to
supermarkets and poultry processors in the United States.

The Company’s protective and specialty packaging products compete with similar products made by
other manufacturers and with a number of other packaging materials that are used to provide
protection against damage to the packaged product during its shipment and storage. Competitive
materials include various forms of paper packaging products, expanded plastics, corrugated die cuts,
loosefill packaging materials, strapping, envelopes, reinforced bags, boxes and other containers, and
various corrugated materials. The Company’s Instapak® packaging and its plank and laminated foam
products also compete with various types of molded foam plastics, fabricated foam plastics and ;
mechanical shock mounts and with wood blocking and bracing systems. The Company believes that it is
one of the leading suppliers of air cellular cushioning materials containing a barrier layer, shrink films
for industrial and commercial applications, protective mailers, polyethylene foam and polyurethane
foam packaging systems in the principal geographic areas in which it sells these products.

Raw Materials

The raw materials utilized in the Company’s operations generally have been readily available on the
open market and in most cases are available from several suppliers. Some materials used in the
Company’s protective packaging products are reprocessed from scrap generated in the Company’s
manufacturing operations or obtained through participation in recycling programs. The principal raw
materials used in the Company’s food packaging products include polyolefin and other resins and films,
paper and wood pulp products and blowing agents used in foam packaging products. The principal raw
materials used in the Company’s protective and specialty packaging products include raw materials
similar to those used in its food packaging products, as well as polyurethane chemicals. The Company
also offers a wide variety of specialized packaging equipment, some of which it manufactures {(or has
manufactured to its specifications), some of which it assembles and some of which it purchases from
other suppliers.

Product Development

The Company maintains a continuing effort to develop new products and improvements to its existing
products and processes as well as new packaging and non-packaging applications for its products. From
time to time, the Company also acquires new packaging designs or techniques developed by others that
it believes to be promising and commercializes them. The Company has joint research and development
projects combining the technical capabilities of its food packaging operations and its protective and
specialty packaging operations. The Company incurred expenses of $59,283,000 related to Company-
sponsored research and development in 2002, compared with $55,779,000 during 2001, and $54,264,000
during 2000.

Patents and Licenses

The Company is the owner or licensee of a number of United States and foreign patents and patent
applications that relate to certain of its products, manufacturing processes and equipment. The
Company believes that patents, licenses and trademarks collectively provide a competitive advantage.
Neither of the Company’s reportable segments, however, is dependent upon any single patent or license
alone. Rather, the Company believes that its success depends primarily on its marketing, engineering
and manufacturing skills and on its ongoing research and development efforts. The Company believes
that the expiration or unenforceability of any of such patents, applications or licenses would not be
material to the Company’s business or financial position.




Environmental Matters

The Company, like other manufacturers, is subject to various laws, rules and regulations in the
countries, jurisdictions and localities in which it operates covering the discharge of materials into the
environment, standards for the treatment, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes or
otherwise relating to the protection of the environment. The Company reviews the effects of
environmental laws and regulations on its operations and believes that compliance with current
environmental laws and regulations has not had a material effect on the Company’s capital
expenditures or financial position.

In some jurisdictions in which the Company’s packaging products are sold or used, laws and regulations
have been adopted or proposed that seek to regulate, among other things, recycled or reprocessed
content and sale or disposal of packaging materials. In addition, customer demand for packaging
materials that are viewed as being “environmentally responsible” and that minimize the generation of
solid waste continues to evolve. While these issues can be a competitive factor in the marketplace for
packaging materials, the Company maintains programs designed to comply with these laws and
regulations, to monitor their evolution, and to meet such customer demand.

The Company also supports its customers’ interests in eliminating waste by offering or participating in
collection programs for certain of the Company’s products or product packaging and for materials used
in certain of the Company’s products. When possible, materials collected through these programs are
reprocessed and either reused in the Company’s protective packaging operations or offered to other
manufacturers for use in other products.

Employees
At December 31, 2002, the Company had approximately 17,900 employees worldwide.

Available Information

The Company’s Internet address is www.sealedaircom. The Company makes available, free of charge,
on or through its web site at www.sealedair.com, its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant
to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after
the Company electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Item 2. Properties

The Company’s food packaging products are produced in 50 manufacturing facilities (14 in North
America, 15 in Europe, 9 in Latin America, 11 in the Asia Pacific region, and 1 in South Africa).
Protective and specialty packaging products are produced in 87 manufacturing facilities (35 in North
America, 26 in Europe, 10 in Latin America, 14 in the Asia Pacific region, and 2 in South Africa). A
number of the Company’s manufacturing facilities serve both segments. The Company occupies other
facilities containing sales, distribution, technical, warehouse or administrative functions at a number of
locations in the United States and in various foreign countries.

In the United States, the Company’s food packaging products are manufactured at facilities in Indiana,
Iowa, Mississippi, Missouri, New York, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, South Carolina and Texas. Its
protective and specialty packaging products are manufactured at facilities in California, Connecticut,
1llinois, Indiana, Massachusetts, Mississippi, Missouri, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, Ohio,
Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Texas and Washington. Because of the light but bulky nature of the
Company’s air cellular, polyethylene foam and protective mailer products, significant freight savings are
realized by locating manufacturing facilities for these products near customers. To realize the benefit of




such savings, the Company has facilities for manufacturing these products in various locations in
proximity to customers.

The Company owns the large majority of its manufacturing facilities on a worldwide basis (including its
largest plants). Certain of these facilities are subject to secured or other financing arrangements. The
Company also leases sites for warehouse and office needs, as well as for the balance of its
manufacturing facilities (generally smaller sites). The Company’s manufacturing facilities are usually
located in general purpose buildings in which the Company’s specialized machinery for the manufacture
of one or more products is contained. The Company believes that its manufacturing, warehouse and
office facilities are well maintained, suitable for their purposes, and adequate for the Company’s needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth in Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the captions
“Other Matters -—— Cryovac Transaction” and “Other Matters — Contingencies Related to the Cryovac
Transaction” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operation and Financial
Condition is incorporated herein by reference.

At December 31, 2002, the Company was a party to, or otherwise involved in, several federal, state and
foreign government environmental proceedings and private environmental claims for the cleanup of
“Superfund” sites {(from the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act
of 1980) or other sites. The Company may have potential liability for investigation and clean up of
certain of such sites. It is the Company’s policy to accrue for environmental cleanup costs if it is
probable that a liability has been incurred and if an amount which is within the estimated range of the
costs associated with various alternative remediation strategies is reasonably estimable, without giving
effect to any possible future insurance proceeds. As assessments and cleanups proceed, these liabilities
are reviewed periodically and adjusted as additional information becomes available. At December 31,
2002, such environmental related provisions were not material. While it is often difficult to estimate
potential liabilities and the future impact of environmental matters, based upon the information
currently available to the Company and its experience in dealing with such matters, the Company
believes that its potential future liability with respect to such sites is not material to the Company’s
results of operations or consolidated financial position.

The Company is also involved in various other legal actions incidental to its business. Company
management believes, after consulting with counsel, that the disposition of these other legal
proceedings and matters will not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated results of
operations or consolidated financial position.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders during the fourth quarter of 2002.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information appearing in the table below sets forth the current position or positions held by each
executive officer of the Company, his or her age as of March 15, 2003, the year in which he or she was
first elected to the position currently held with the Company or with old Sealed Air (as indicated in the
footnote to the table), and the year in which he or she was first elected an officer of the Company or
of old Sealed Air (as indicated in the footnote to the table).

All of the Company’s officers serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors. All officers have been
employed by the Company or its subsidiaries for more than five years except for Mr. Kelsey, who was
elected Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company effective January 1, 2002.
Previously, Mr. Kelsey was, since 1998, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Oglebay Norton
Company, a public company that mines, processes, transports and markets aggregates and industrial




minerals, and prior to that, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Administrative
Officer of Host Communications, Inc., then a privately-held communications firm. There are no family
relationships among any of the Company’s officers or directors.

Age as of First Elected to First Elected

Name and Current Position March 15, 2003  Current Position®  An Officer*

William V.Hickey . . ......... ... ... .. ... ... 58 2000 1980
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Robert AL Pesci ... ... o 57 1997 1990
Senior Vice President

David H. Kelsey . . ........ . ... o 52 2002 2002
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Jonathan B. Baker ........ ... .. .. . . ... . . 50 1994 1994
Vice President

James A. Bixby. .. ... o 59 1990 1990
Vice President

Mary A. Coventry . . .. ... oot e e 49 1994 1994
Vice President

James P. MixX . .. ... . ... 51 1994 1994
Vice President

Manuel Mondragén ............ ... .. .. ..., 53 1999 1999
Vice President

CarolLee O’Neill . . . ... ... ... . . . i i 39 2002 2002
Vice President

J. Stuart K. Prosser . . . ... .. 57 1999 1999
Vice President

Abraham N. Reichental . . . .. ... . ... ............... 46 1994 1994
Vice President

Hugh L. Sargant........... ... ... .. .. ... ....... 54 1999 1999
Vice President

Fred Smagorinsky . . ... .. ... 43 2001 2001
Vice President

James Donald Tate . . . .. ... . .. . . . e 51 2001 2001
Vice President

H. Katherine White . ... ....... ... ... .. ... ... .... 57 2003 1996
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Tod S. Christie . ... ... .. ... e 44 1999 1999
Treasurer

Jeffrey S. Warren . .. ... ... L. 49 1996 1996
Controller

* All persons listed in the table who were first elected officers before 1998 were executive officers of

old Sealed Air prior to the Cryovac Transaction. Mr. Hickey was first elected President of the Company
in 1996, first elected Chief Executive Officer in 2000 and first elected a director in 1999. Ms. White was
first elected Vice President in 2003, first elected General Counsel in 1998, and first elected Secretary in

1996.




Part II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Commen Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

The Company’s Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (trading symbol: SEE). The
table below sets forth the quarterly high and low sales prices of the Common Stock for 2001 and 2002
as reported in the New York Stock Exchange composite listing. No dividends were paid on the
Common Stock in either year. The Company does not currently intend to begin paying dividends on its
Common Stock. As of March 19, 2003, there were approximately 9,061 holders of record of the
Company’s Common Stock.

The Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is also listed on the New York Stock Exchange
(trading symbol: SEE PrA). The table below sets forth the quarterly high and low sales prices for the
Series A Preferred Stock for 2001 and 2002 as reported in the New York Stock Exchange composite
listing. Quarterly dividends of $0.50 per share were paid on the Preferred Stock in each year. As of
March 19, 2003, there were approximately 7,349 holders of record of the Preferred Stock.

Common Stock
2601

First Quarter
Second Quarter

Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

202

FIISt QUATIET .« o o v ot et e e e e e e e e e $48.39 $36.20
Second QUATLET . o o vttt e e e $48.38 $39.11
Third QUarter . ..t e e e e e $40.68 $13.29
Fourth QUarter . ... ... e e $38.99 $12.70

Preferred Stock

@_ﬂg High Low

First QUarter . . .. oot e e e e $42.50 $30.88
Second CQUaItEr . . ..ot e e e $46.25 $33.83
Third QUATtET . . . . ottt e e e $43.70  $34.50
Fourth QUAarter . ... oot ot e et e e e e e $47.00 $38.00
@E High Low

FIrst QUarter . . ottt e $46.58 $37.20
Second QUAKET . .. . vttt e e $46.96 $39.10
Third QUaTter . . . ottt e e $40.88 $17.20
Fourth QUarter .. ... ..ottt e $43.20 $18.30

The information set forth in Part III, Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption
“Equity Compensation Plan Information as of December 31, 2002” is incorporated herein by reference.




Item 6. Selected Financial Data(1)

(In thousands of dollars, except per share data)

2002(2) 2001 2600 1999 1998
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Netsales....................... $3,204,256  $3,067,482 $3,067,714 $2,931,853  $2,580,207
Grossprofit..................... 1,057,613 990,287 1,035,304 1,028,722 868,736
Operating profit(3) . . . ............. 516,386 387,391 468,463 452,192 259,332
(Loss) earnings before income taxes . . . . (391,933) 297,452 413,429 395,653 198,947
Net (loss) earnings . . .............. (309,069) 156,697 225,319 211,461 73,007
Series A convertible preferred stock
dividends(4) ... ................ 53,845 55,024 64,266 71,422 53,921
(Loss) earnings per common share(5)
Basic................. ... .... $ (420 § 130 § 247 § 1.69 $ 0.04
Diluted ...................... $ (430 $ 122§ 193 § 1.68 § 0.02
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital (net liability) net
asset(6) . ... ... $ (96,496) $ 149372 § 202,512 $ 221,130 $ 309,624
Total assets(6) . .................. 4,260,766 3,907,909 4,090,882 3,887,583 4,066,982
Long-term debt, less current portion(6) . 868,030 788,111 944,453 665,116 996,526
Series A convertible preferred stock(4) . . 1,327,005 1,366,154 1,392,373 1,761,662 1,791,093
Total shareholders’ equity . .......... $ 812,960 $ 850,152 $ 753,129 $ 551,030 $ 437,045
Other Data:
EBIT(7) ... $ (326,618) $ 373,850 § 477,942 $ 453,779 § 252,576
Depreciation and amortization(3) . . . . . . 164,955 220,616 219,641 223,399 195,954
EBITDA(7) . .. ... ..o (161,663) 594,466 697,583 677,178 448,530
Capital expenditures . .. ............ $ 91,625 § 146,277 $ 114197 $ 75080 $ 82,408
(1) The Selected Financial Data include the operations of the Cryovac packaging business (“Cryovac™) for

@

&)

Q)

all periods presented. The operating results, cash flows, assets and liabilities of old Sealed Air are
included for all periods subsequent to March 31, 1998, the date of the Cryovac Transaction. See Note 18
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In November 2002, the Company reached an agreement in principle with the appropriate parties to
resolve all current and future asbestos-related claims made against it and its affiliates in connection with
the Cryovac Transaction. The settlement will also resolve the fraudulent transfer claims, as well as
indemnification claims by Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. and affiliated companies, made against
the Company in connection with the Cryovac Transaction. Due to the above settlement, the Company
recorded a pre-tax charge of $850,118 in the consolidated statement of operations in 2002, which
resulted in the Company’s net loss for the year ended December 31, 2002. See Note 18 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Beginning January 1, 2002, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
the Company ceased recording amortization expense related to goodwill. Goodwill amortization expense
was $57,005 in 2001, $51,776 in 2000, $49,404 in 1999 and $36,062 in 1998. See Note 19 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Series A convertible preferred stock pays a cash dividend at an annual rate of $2.00 per share,
payable quarterly in arrears when and as declared by the Board of Directors, and is subject to
mandatory redemption on March 31, 2018 at $50.00 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends,
to the extent that it then remains outstanding. Dividends of $0.50 per share have been declared and
paid for each quarter since July 1, 1998.



(5) Prior to the Cryovac Transaction, Cryovac did not have a separately identifiable capital structure upon
which a calculation of earnings per common share could be based. In calculating basic and diluted

earnings per common share for 1998, retroactive recognition was given to the various actions undertaken
in connection with the Cryovac Transaction for the period prior to March 31, 1998.

In December 2001, the Company and certain of its U.S. subsidiaries entered into a U.S. accounts
receivable securitization program (the “Receivables Facility””) and sold $95,600 of such interests in U.S.
accounts receivable to the financial institutions participating in such Facility. This amount was removed
from the consolidated balance sheet and used to pay down certain of the Company’s outstanding
borrowings. As of December 31, 2002, such financial institutions held no interests in accounts receivable.
See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(7) EBIT is defined as (loss) earnings before interest expense and provisions for income taxes. EBITDA is
defined as EBIT plus depreciation and amortization. The Company’s management believes that EBIT
and EBITDA are of interest to investors as frequently used measures of a company’s ability to generate
cash to service its obligations, including debt service obligations, and to finance capital and other
expenditures. EBIT and EBITDA do not purport to represent net earnings or net cash provided by
operating activities, as those terms are defined under generally accepted accounting principles, and
should not be considered as an alternative to such measurements or as indicators of the Company’s
performance. The Company’s definitions of EBIT and EBITDA may not be comparable with similarly-
titled measures used by other companies. EBIT and EBITDA are among the indicators used by the
Company’s management to measure the performance of the Company’s operations and are also among
the criteria upon which performance based compensation may be based. The following is a
reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities to EBIT and EBITDA:

2062 2001 2066 1999 1998
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . .. $ 323,939 $578,693 $329413 $430,354 $411,646
Adjustment for items included in cash provided by
operating activities but excluded from the
calculation of EBITDA and EBIT:
Amortization of bond discount ... ......... (744) (561) (318) (169) —_—
Non-cash portion of restructuring and other
charges (credits) . .......... ... . ..... — (7,287) 1,247 — (44,175)
Non-cash portion of asbestos settlement . . . . .. (321,480) — —_ — —
Deferred tax provisions . ................ 257,208 9,083 (20,361)  (19,358)  (24,022)
Net loss (gain) on disposals of property and
equipment . ............. .. ... .. ... (136) 237 (594) (149) (1,980)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net
of businesses acquired . ... ............ (402,901) (202,852) 135,573 24,182 (72,508)
Interestexpense . ..................... 65,315 76,398 64,513 58,126 53,629
Income tax {benefit) expense . ............ (82,864) 140,755 188,110 184,192 125,940
EBITDA ... ... . ... $(161,663) $594,466 $697,583 $677,178 §448,530
Less: depreciation and amortization .......... (164,955) (220,616) (219,641) (223,399) (195,954)
EBIT .. ... $(326,618) $373,850 $477,942 $453,779 $252,576
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Aralysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition
Net Sales

The principal factors affecting changes in net sales in the three years ended December 31, 2002 were
changes in unit volume (including the added net sales of acquired businesses), changes in product mix
and average selling prices and foreign currency translation.

Net sales in 2002 increased 4% to $3,204,256,000 compared with $3,067,482,000 for 2001, which were
essentially even compared with $3,067,714,000 in 2000.

The increase in net sales in 2002 was primarily due to higher unit volume for certain products and, to a
lesser extent, the added net sales of acquired businesses, partially offset by unfavorable changes in
product price/mix. Foreign currency translation had a modestly favorable impact of approximately
$17,000,000 in 2002.

Net sales in 2001 were essentially even compared to 2000 due to the net effect of added net sales of
acquired businesses, offset by lower unit volume for certain products and the negative effect of foreign
currency translation. Foreign currency translation had an unfavorable impact of approximately
$75,000,000 in 2001. Excluding the negative effect of foreign currency translation, net sales would have
increased 2% compared to 2000.

The favorable impact of foreign currency translation on net sales in 2002 was primarily due to the
strengthening of foreign currencies in Europe and the Asia-Pacific region compared with the U.S.
dollar, partially offset by the weakness of the Argentine peso and the Brazilian real. The unfavorable
impact of foreign currency translation on net sales in 2001 was primarily due to the weakness of foreign
currencies in the Asia-Pacific region, Europe and Latin America compared with the U.S. dollar.

Net sales from operations in the United States represented approximately 55% of net sales in each of
2002, 2001 and 2000. Net sales from U.S. operations increased approximately 5% in 2002 to
$1,758,761,000 compared with $1,680,204,000 for 2001. This increase was primarily due to higher unit
volume for certain products and, to a lesser extent, the added net sales of acquired businesses, partially
offset by unfavorable changes in product price/mix. Net sales from U.S. operations in 2001 decreased
approximately 1% to $1,680,204,000 compared to $1,689,467,000 in 2000. This decrease was primarily
due to lower unit volume for certain products, partially offset by the added net sales of acquired
businesses.

Net sales from foreign operations increased approximately 4% in 2002 to $1,445,495,000 compared with
$1,387,278,000 for 2001 primarily due to higher unit volume for certain products and, to a lesser extent,
approximately $17,000,000 from the favorable impact of foreign currency translation discussed above.
Excluding the positive effect of foreign currency translation, net sales from foreign operations would
have increased 3% compared to 2001. Net sales from foreign operations increased 1% in 2001 to
$1,387,278,000 compared with $1,378,247,000 in 2000 due primarily to the added net sales of acquired
businesses, partially offset by the negative effect of foreign currency translation of approximately
$75,000,000 discussed above. Excluding the negative effect of foreign currency translation, net sales
from foreign operations would have increased 6% compared to 2000.

Net sales of the Company’s food packaging segment, which consists primarily of the Company’s Cryovac®
food packaging products, constituted 61% of net sales in each of 2002 and 2001, and 60% in 2000. Net
sales of the Company’s protective and specialty packaging segment, which includes the aggregation of the
Company’s protective packaging products, engineered products and shrink packaging products, all of which
are used principally for non-food packaging applications, constituted the balance of net sales.

Food Packaging Segment Sales

Net sales of food packaging products increased 4% in 2002 to $1,958,078,000 compared to
$1,880,281,000 in 2001 and increased 2% in 2001 compared to $1,837,294,000 in 2000. The increase in
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2002 was primarily due to higher unit volume for certain products. Foreign currency translation had a
modestly favorable impact on this segment of approximately $10,000,000 in 2002. The increase in 2001
was due to the added net sales of acquired businesses and, to a lesser extent, higher average selling
prices and higher unit volume for certain products, partially offset by approximately $50,000,000 from
the negative effect of foreign currency translation. Excluding this negative effect of foreign currency
translation, net sales would have increased 5% in 2001 compared to 2000. Early in 2001, this segment
experienced disruptions due to reductions in meat supply caused by an outbreak of foot-and-mouth
disease and declines in beef consumption resulting from concerns over bovine spongiform
encephalopathy (BSE or “mad-cow” disease), principally in Europe. As these concerns abated in the
third and fourth quarters of 2001, supply and consumption returned to more normal levels.

Among the classes of products in the food packaging segment, in 2002 net sales of flexible packaging
materials and related systems increased 4% to $1,657,185,000 compared with $1,592,142,000 for 2001,
which were essentially even compared with $1,599,230,000 in 2000. Net sales increased in 2002 primarily
due to higher unit volume for certain products. Foreign currency translation had a modestly favorable
impact of approximately $6,000,000 in 2002 for flexible materials and related systems. Net sales of these
products in 2001 were flat compared to 200C due to the net effect of higher average selling prices for
certain flexible packaging materials, and to a lesser extent, the added net sales of acquired businesses,
offset by approximately $44,000,000 from the negative effect of foreign currency translation. Excluding
this negative effect of foreign currency translation, net sales of flexible packaging materials and related
systems would have increased 2% in 2001.

Net sales of rigid packaging and absorbent pads increased 4% to $300,893,000 in 2002 compared with
$288,139,000 for 2001 and increased 21% in 2001 compared with $238,064,000 in 2000. The increase in
net sales in these products in 2002 was primarily due to favorable changes in product price/mix, and to
a lesser extent, a favorable impact of foreign currency translation of approximately $4,000,000.
Excluding the positive effect of foreign currency translation, net sales of rigid packaging and absorbent
pads would have increased 3% in 2002. The increase in 2001 was primarily due to the added net sales
of the Dolphin Packaging business, which was acquired in 2000, and other smaller businesses, and to a
lesser extent, higher unit volume for certain products, partially offset by a negative effect of foreign
currency translation of approximately $6,000,000. Excluding the negative effect of foreign currency
translation, net sales of rigid packaging and absorbent pads would have increased 23% in 2001.

Protective and Specialty Packaging Segment Sales

Net sales of protective and specialty packaging products increased 5% to $1,246,178,000 in 2002
compared with $1,187,201,000 in 2001 but decreased 4% in 2001 compared with $1,230,420,000 in 2000.
The increase in 2002 was primarily due to higher unit volume for certain products and the added net
sales of acquired businesses, partially offset by unfavorable changes in product price/mix. Foreign
currency translation had a modestly favorable impact in 2002 of approximately $7,000,000 for the
protective and specialty packaging segment. The decrease in net sales in 2001 was due primarily to
lower unit volume for certain products due to the recessionary environment and, to a lesser extent,
approximately $25,000,000 from the negative effect of foreign currency translation, partially offset by
the added net sales of acquired businesses. Excluding this negative effect of foreign currency
translation, net sales would have decreased 2% in 2001.

Costs and Margins

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 33.0% in 2002, 32.3% in 2001 and 33.7% in 2000. The
increase in 2002 compared to 2001 was primarily due to higher unit volumes in both reportable
business segments. The decrease in 2001 was primarily due to lower sales volume of certain protective
and specialty packaging products as well as changes in product mix compared to the 2000 period and
was partially offset by lower costs for certain raw materials.
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Marketing, administrative and development expenses increased 6% in 2002 but declined 1% in 2001.
The increase in 2002 was primarily due to higher expenses for certain corporate projects, insurance
costs, the effects of businesses acquired and the impact of foreign currency translation. The decline in
2001 was attributable to cost control measures and the impact of foreign currency translation.
Marketing, administrative and development expenses as a percentage of net sales were 16.9% in 2002,
16.7% in 2001 and 16.8% in 2000.

Beginning January 1, 2002, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™)
No. 142, the Company ceased recording goodwill amortization expense in its consolidated statement of
operations. Goodwill amortization expense was $57,005,000 in 2001 and $51,776,000 in 2000. The
increase in 2001 compared to 2000 was due to acquisitions. See below under “Recently Issued
Statements of Financial Accounting Standards” for a discussion of this new standard.

2001 Restructuring Program

During 2001, based primarily on weakening economic conditions, especially in the U.S., the Company
conducted a review of its business to reduce costs and expenses, simplify business processes and
organizational structure, and to refine further the Company’s manufacturing operations and product
offerings. As a result of such review, which was completed in the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company
announced and began implementing a restructuring program that resulted in charges to operations of
$32,805,000 for 2001. Such charges included the following:

Year Ended
_ December 31, 2001
Employee termination costs . ... ...... ... . o oL $23,877,000
Facility eXit COStS . . .. e e 1,641,000
Long-lived asset impairments ................ ..., ..., 7,287,000
Jotal L e $32,805,000

The portion of this restructuring charge related to the Company’s food packaging segment was
$21,116,000 and the portion applicable to the protective and specialty packaging segment was
$11,689,000.

The Company originally expected to incur $25,518,000 of cash outlays to carry out this restructuring
program. Such cash outlays included primarily severance and other personnel-related costs as well as
lease and other contractual arrangement termination costs. As of December 31, 2002, the Company
had made total cash payments of approximately $17,600,000, of which approximately $11,779,000 were
made in 2002 and $5,821,000 were made in 2001. The cash restructuring liability recorded in 2001 of
$25,518,000 was adjusted in 2002 for a net credit of $1,348,000, discussed below. After such cash
outlays and the net credit, the restructuring liability at December 31, 2002 was $6,570,000, representing
cash outlays expected to be made in 2003 and future years, primarily for severance-related costs. The
2001 restructuring program was substantially completed at December 31, 2002.

The long-lived asset impairment of $7,287,000 included the following write-downs and write-offs:

Year Ended
December 31, 2001

Property, plant and equipment . ............... .. .. ... $3,877,000
Goodwill ... .. e 3,342,000
........................... 68,000

.............................................. $7,287,000
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These long-lived asset impairments related to decisions to rationalize and realign production of certain
small product lines and to close several manufacturing and warehouse facilities in North America,
Europe, South Africa and the Asia Pacific region. The annual reduction of depreciation and
amortization expense as a result of such asset impairments was $365,000. The Company has disposed of
all of the above property, plant and equipment.

During 2002, the Company made an adjustment to the original 2001 restructuring provision, resulting
in a net credit to the consolidated statement of operations of $1,348,000. The portion of this net credit
related to the Company’s food packaging segment amounted to a credit of $2,957,000, while the
portion applicable to the protective and specialty packaging segment amounted to a charge of
$1,609,000. Such adjustment resulted from the completion of certain actions for amounts different than
expected, certain headcount reductions obtained through attrition, and the revision of a plan to shut
down one of the Company’s manufacturing facilities.

As a result of the 2002 adjustments to the 2001 restructuring program, the Company now expects a net
reduction in headcount of approximately 440 positions. This program originally estimated a net
headcount reduction of approximately 470. The revised net headcount reduction was reduced by
approximately 30 positions that were eliminated by attrition. This net reduction consists of the
elimination of 677 positions from all geographic areas in which the Company does business but
primarily from its manufacturing, sales and marketing functions in North America and Europe. As of
December 31, 2002, 657 of these 677 positions had been eliminated. The Company also anticipates the
addition of 237 positions in connection with its realignment or relocation of certain manufacturing
activities.

The Company estimates that approximately $23,000,000 in annualized cost savings (on a full year run
rate basis) were realized by the end of 2002. The estimated annual cost savings include the $365,000

non-cash annual reduction of depreciation expense discussed above. Although certain cost aspects of
the original program have been adjusted, the original cost saving targets have been maintained.

Operating Profit

Operating profit increased 33% in 2002 but decreased 17% in 2001. The increase in 2002 was primarily
due to increased net sales, the discontinuance in 2002 of the amortization of goodwill and the
restructuring and other charges incurred in 2001, while a restructuring credit was recorded in 2002.
Excluding goodwill amortization in 2001 of $57,005,000 and restructuring and other credits in 2002 of
$1,348,000 and restructuring and other charges in 2001 of $32,805,000, operating profit would have
increased 8% in 2002. The decrease in 2001 was primarily due to the 2001 restructuring and other
charges and the lower gross profit discussed above. As a percentage of net sales, operating profit was
16.1% in 2002, 12.6% in 2001 and 15.3% in 2000. Excluding goodwill amortization and restructuring
and other (credits) charges, operating profit as a percentage of net sales was 16.1% in 2002, 15.6% in
2001 and 16.9% in 2000. In 2000, goodwill amortization was $51,776,000 and restructuring and other
credits was $1,247,000.

The food packaging segment contributed 60%, 58% and 54% of the Company’s operating profit in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, before taking into consideration corporate operating expenses and
restructuring and other (credits) charges. The Company’s protective and specialty packaging segment
contributed the balance of operating profit. Corporate operating expenses in 2001 and 2000 consisted
primarily of goodwill amortization.

Asbestos Settlement and Related Costs

On November 27, 2002, the Company reached an agreement in principle with the appropriate parties
to resolve all current and future asbestos-related claims made against it and its affiliates in connection
with the Cryovac Transaction. The settlement will also resolve the fraudulent transfer claims, as well as
indemnification claims by Fresenius, that had been made against the Company in connection with the
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Cryovac Transaction. On December 3, 2002, the agreement in principle was approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors. The Company was advised that both of the Committees had approved the
agreement in principle as of December 5, 2002. For a description of the Cryovac Transaction, asbestos-
related claims and the parties involved, see “Other Matters — Cryovac Transaction” and “Other
Matters — Contingencies Related to the Cryovac Transaction” below.

The Company recorded a charge of $850,118,000 as a result of the asbestos settlement in the consolidated
statement of operations as of December 31, 2002. Such expense consisted of the following items:

* a non-cash charge of $512,500,000 covering a cash payment required to be made by the
Company upon the effectiveness of a plan of reorganization in the bankruptcy of New Grace.
Because it is uncertain when such a plan of reorganization may become effective, this liability
has been recorded as a current liability on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,
2002. Under the terms of the settlement, this amount accrues interest at a 5.5% annual rate
from December 21, 2002 to the date of payment. Such interest through December 31, 2002,
amounted to $861,000 and is included in interest expense in the consolidated statement of
operations and in other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

> a non-cash charge of $321,480,000 representing the fair market value of 9,000,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to such settlement upon the
effectiveness of New Grace’s plan of reorganization. Such shares are subject to customary
anti-dilution provisions (including the effects of stock splits, stock dividends and certain other
events affecting the Company’s common stock). Such fair market value was $35.72 per common
share as of the close of business on December 5, 2002. Such amount has been recorded in the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2002 as follows: $900,000 representing the
aggregate par value of such shares has been recorded in common stock reserved for issnance
related to the asbestos settlement and the remaining $320,580,000, representing the excess of the
aggregate fair market value over the aggregate par value of such common shares, has been
recorded in additional paid-in capital. The shares of common stock reserved for issuance related
to the asbestos settlement are not reflected in the 2002 loss per common share calculations since
the effect would be anti-dilutive (i.e., would reduce the loss per common share).

> $16,138,000 of legal and related fees.

In 2001, other expense in the consolidated statement of operations included $11,995,000 of expense of
which $8,149,000 was primarily a result of the Company’s guarantee, entered into at the time of the
Cryovac Transaction, of certain debt payable by W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn., which filed for
reorganization along with New Grace, and $3,846,000 of legal and related fees.

Interest Expense and Other Income (Expense), net

Including 2002 interest expense relating to the asbestos settlement discussed above, interest expense
decreased 15% in 2002 but increased 18% in 2001. The decrease in 2002 was primarily due to lower
average levels of outstanding debt. The increase in 2001 was primarily due to higher average levels of
debt outstanding during 2001 compared to the corresponding 2000 period primarily due to additional
borrowings made in 2000 in connection with business acquisitions and stock repurchases made under
the Company’s stock repurchase program.

Other income (expense), net, consisted of income of $7,114,000 in 2002, expense of $1,546,000 in 2001
and income of $9,479,000 in 2000. The change in 2002 compared to 2001 was due to lower net foreign
exchange losses during 2002. The change in 2001 compared to 2000 was primarily due to a one-time
cash fee of $10,000,000 received in 2000 from a third party for the assignment of a contract.
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Income Taxes

The Company’s effective income tax rate was a benefit of 21.1% in 2002 compared to an expense of

47.3% in 2001 and 45.5% in 2000. The effective tax rate in 2002 was lower than 2001 due primarily to
the impact of the asbestos settlement and its related costs and the discontinuance of goodwill
amortization in 2002. The effective tax rate in 2001 was higher than 2000 due primarily to lower
earnings before income taxes.

In 2002, the effective tax rate was lower than the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate primarily due
to the effect of the estimated tax benefit for the asbestos settlement. In 2001 and 2000, the effective tax
rates were higher than the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate primarily due to the non-deductibility
of goodwill amortization for tax purposes and, to a lesser extent, state income taxes.

Net (Loss) Earnings

As a result of the asbestos settlement and related costs of $850,118,000 in 2002, the Company had a
net loss of $309,069,000 in 2002 compared to net earnings of $156,697,000 in 2001. Net earnings
decreased 30% to $156,697,000 in 2001 compared to $225,319,000 in 2000. Excluding goodwill
amortization of $57,005,000 and $51,776,000 in 2001 and 2000, respectively, net earnings would have
been $213,702,000 in 2001 and $277,095,000 in 2000.

Basic (loss) earnings per common share were $(4.20) for 2002, $1.30 for 2001 and $2.47 for 2000.
Diluted (loss) earnings per common share were $(4.30) for 2002, $1.22 for 2001 and $1.93 for 2000.
Excluding goodwill amortization in 2001 and 2000, basic earnings per common share would have been
$1.99 and $3.08, respectively, and diluted earnings per common share would have been $1.89 and $2.52
in 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The basic earnings per common share calculations for 2002, 2001 and 2000 include $0.12, $0.09 and
$0.54 per share of gains (excess of book value over repurchase price of preferred stock), respectively,
attributable to the repurchase of preferred stock in the period. To calculate diluted earnings per
common share, the excess of book value over the repurchase price of the Company’s Series A
Preferred Stock in 2002, 2001 and 2000 of $10,291,000, $7,456,000 and $45,283,000, respectively, were
excluded from the calculations.

The diluted earnings per common share in each period were calculated assuming conversion of the
shares of preferred stock repurchased during each of the respective periods in accordance with the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Emerging Issues Task Force Topic D-53 guidance. The effect
of the conversion of the Company’s outstanding convertible preferred stock was not considered in the
calculations of diluted earnings per common share for any of the 2002, 2001 and 2000 periods
presented because the effect would be antidilutive, since such assumed conversions may be included
only if the resulting impact would dilute earnings per common share.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations and amounts available
under the Company’s existing lines of credit, which are described below.

Asbestos Settlement

As noted above, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of $512,500,000 in 2002 covering a cash
payment required to be made by the Company upon the effectiveness of a plan of reorganization in the
bankruptcy of New Grace. No cash was used in 2002 with respect to this liability, and it is currently
uncertain when the Company will be required to make this payment. The Company currently expects to
fund this payment either by using accumulated cash and future cash flows from operations, from the
proceeds of future financings or from a combination of such alternatives.
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Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $323,939,000 in 2002, $578,693,000 in 2001 and
$329,413,000 in 2000. The decrease in 2002 was primarily due to the following:

° changes in receivables interests sold under the Receivables Facility (described below); at
December 31, 2002 the financial institutions participating in the facility held no interests in the
Company’s U.S. accounts receivable while at December 31, 2001, those institutions held
$95,600,000 of such interests; and

> changes in operating asscts and liabilities in the ordinary course of business, as discussed below
under “Changes in Working Capital”;

partially offset by:
¢ increased earnings, excluding the non-cash impact of the asbestos settlement.
The increase in 2001 was primarily due to the following:

° changes in operating assets and liabilities in the ordinary course of business, as discussed below
under “Changes in Working Capital”; and

* the implementation of the Receivables Facility in 2001 (described below);
partially offset by:

* the Company’s lower net earnings in 2001.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to $96,888,000 in 2002, $177,932,000 in 2001 and
$348,989,000 in 2000. In each year, investing activities consisted primarily of capital expenditures and
acquisitions. The decrease in net cash used in these activities in 2002 was due to lower levels of capital
expenditures and, to a lesser extent, acquisitions. The decrease in net cash used in 2001 was due to a
lower level of acquisition activity, partially offset by a higher level of capital expenditures. In 2002, cash
used to complete acquisitions was $10,465,000 compared to $36,007,000 in 2001 and $237,541,000 in
2000. In each year, cash used for acquisitions was net of cash acquired in those acquisitions. Cash
acquired in acquisitions was not material in 2002 or 2001 and was $8,589,000 in 2000. The Company
did not assume any debt in acquisitions in 2002. In 2001 and 2000, the Company assumed
approximately $19,000,000 and $16,600,000, respectively, of debt in acquisitions.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures were $91,625,000 in 2002, $146,277,000 in 2001 and $114,197,000 in 2000. Capital
expenditures for the Company’s food packaging segment amounted to $61,823,000, $103,837,000 and
$75,773,000 and for the protective and specialty packaging segment amounted to $29,802,000,
$42,440,000 and $38,424,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The decrease in capital expenditures in 2002 was primarily due to improved productivity of existing
assets allowing the Company to defer spending on incremental capacity. The increase in capital
expenditures in 2001 compared to 2000 was primarily due to the management of capital planning and
project spending. The Company currently anticipates that capital expenditures for the year ended
December 31, 2003 will be in the range of $125,000,000 to $150,000,000.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities amounted to $101,501,000 in 2002 and $402,583,000 in 2001, while
net cash provided by financing activities amounted to $7,671,000 in 2000. The Company continued to
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reduce outstanding debt in 2002 and made net debt repayments of $35,752,000 compared to
$312,907,000 in 2001. During 2001, the Company paid off the predecessor of the 364-Day Facility
(defined below) and most of the borrowings under the 2003 Facility (also defined below), which
resulted in lower outstanding bank borrowings at December 31, 2001. All remaining borrowings under
the 2003 Facility were paid off during 2002. The 2002 period also reflects a timing difference relating to
the payment of dividends on the Company’s outstanding Series A convertible preferred stock, partially
offset by an increase in cash used to repurchase shares of the Company’s preferred stock. Such timing
difference on the dividends arose from the Company’s pre-funding in December 2001 of the dividend
payable on January 2, 2002. The aggregate dollar amount of that dividend was approximately
$13,682,000. The Company funded the remaining dividends payable on such preferred stock in 2002 on
the payment dates, which were the first business days of each calendar quarter.

The increase in net cash used in financing activities in 2001 reflected primarily net debt repayments of
$312,907,000 and the timing difference relating to the payment of dividends on the Company’s
outstanding Series A convertible preferred stock, discussed above, partially offset by a decrease in cash
used to purchase the Company’s capital stock. Proceeds from long-term debt in 2001 included
$295,773,000 of net proceeds from the issuance on June 26, 2001 of $300,000,000 aggregate principal
amount of 8.75% Senior Notes due July 1, 2008 (the “8.75% Senior Notes”).

Included in financing activities in 2002, 2001 and 2000 are proceeds from the exercise of stock options
of $917,000, $504,000 and $861,000, respectively. These stock options were granted prior to 1998 and
were exercised pursuant to plans in which certain employees of the Cryovac packaging business
participated. The stock option plans were terminated effective March 31, 1998 in connection with the
Cryovac Transaction, except with respect to options that were still outstanding as of such date.

Repurchases of Capital Stock

During 2002, the Company repurchased 782,500 shares of its preferred stock at a cost of approximately
$28,834,000. During 2001, the Company repurchased 524,220 shares of its preferred stock at a cost of
approximately $18,754,000. During 2000, the Company repurchased 7,384,637 shares of its preferred
stock and 494,737 shares of its common stock at a cost of approximately $323,948,000 and $22,873,000,
respectively. The average price per share of these preferred stock repurchases was $36.85, $35.78 and
$43.87 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The average price per share of the common stock
repurchases in 2000 was $46.23.

The share repurchases described above were made pursuant to programs previously adopted by the
Company’s Board of Directors. The currently effective share repurchase program authorizes the
repurchase of up to 16,977,000 shares of common stock (including Series A convertible preferred stock
on an as-converted basis). As of December 31, 2002, approximately 9,452,000 shares of common stock
on an as-converted basis had been repurchased, and approximately 7,525,000 shares remain authorized
for repurchase.

Changes in Working Capital

At December 31, 2002, the Company’s working capital was a net liability of $96,496,000, primarily due
to recording as a current liability the $512,500,000 portion of the asbestos settlement liability to be
funded in cash, compared to working capital that was a net asset of $149,372,000, or 4% of total assets,
at December 31, 2001.

The other changes to working capital, excluding the asbestos settlement liability, were primarily the
following changes in the ordinary course of business:

° increase in other current liabilities, primarily due to the timing of payments, which included
payroll-related costs, customer volume rebates, income taxes payable and the dividend payable
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on January 2, 2002 on the Company’s outstanding Series A convertible preferred stock discussed
above, partially offset by a decrease in the restructuring liability due to cash payments of
approximately $11,779,000 made during 2002;

* increase in accounts payable, partially due to the timing of payments to vendors and to a lesser
extent, the increased levels of inventory as discussed below;

partially offset by:
* increase in cash;

* increase of approximately $128,600,000 in notes and accounts receivable primarily due to
activities under the Receivables Facility (described below) and, to a lesser extent, increased net
sales during the fourth quarter of 2002 compared to the fourth quarter of 2001;

* increase in inventory, primarily due to increased raw material prices; and

* decrease in short-term borrowings, primarily due to changes in short-term liquidity requirements,
including the refinancing of certain short-term borrowings with long-term debt.

Current and Quick Ratios

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities (current ratio) was 0.9 at December 31, 2002 and 1.2 at
December 31, 2001. The ratio of current assets less inventory to current liabilities (quick ratio) was 0.6
at December 31, 2002 and 0.8 at December 31, 2001.

Accounts Receivable Facility

In December 2001, the Company and certain of its U.S. subsidiaries entered into an accounts
receivable securitization program (the “Receivables Facility”) with a bank (the “Bank”) and an issuer
of commercial paper administered by the Bank (the “ICP”). Under the Receivables Facility, the
Company’s two primary operating subsidiaries, Cryovac, Inc. and Sealed Air Corporation (US) (the
“Originators”), sell all of their eligible U.S. accounts receivable to Sealed Air Funding Corporation
(“SA Funding Corp.”), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company that was formed for the
sole purpose of entering into the Receivables Facility. SA Funding Corp. in turn may sell undivided
ownership interests in these receivables (“Receivables Interests”) to the Bank and the ICP, subject to
certain conditions, up to a maximum of $125,000,000 of Receivables Interests outstanding from time to
time.

SA Funding Corp. retains the receivables it purchases from the Originators, except those as to which
Receivables Interests are sold by it to the Bank or the ICP. Sales of accounts receivable by the
Originators to SA Funding Corp. and sales of Receivables Interests from SA Funding Corp. to the
Bank and the ICP have been structured as “true sales” under applicable laws, and the assets of SA
Funding Corp. are not available to pay any creditors of the Company or of its subsidiaries or affiliates.
These transactions are accounted for as sales of receivables under the provisions of SFAS No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities.”

In order to secure the performance of their obligations under the Receivables Facility, SA Funding
Corp. and the Originators granted a first priority security interest to the Bank, as agent, in certain
collateral, including accounts receivable owned by them and proceeds and collections of those
receivables. The Bank and the ICP have no recourse to the Company’s, the Originators’ or SA Funding
Corp.’s other assets for any losses resulting from the financial inability of customers to pay amounts
due on the receivables when they become due. As long as a termination event with respect to the
Receivables Facility has not occurred, the Originators service, administer and collect the receivables
under the Receivables Facility as agent on behalf of SA Funding Corp., the Bank and the ICP. Prior to
a termination event under the Receivables Facility, collections of receivables not otherwise required to
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be paid to the Bank or the ICP are used by SA Funding Corp. to purchase new eligible receivables
from the Originators. The Company has undertaken to cause the Originators to perform their
obligations under the Receivables Facility.

The scheduled expiration date for the Receivables Facility is December 7, 2004. The Bank has extended
its commitment to make purchases of Receivables Interests from SA Funding Corp. from December 7,
2002 to January 26, 2004. However, under the terms of the extension, SA Funding Corp. may not seli
any Receivables Interests to the Bank or the ICP until a definitive settlement agreement, satisfactory to
the Bank, has been entered into relating to the asbestos settiement.

Under certain limited circumstances, the Bank and the ICP can terminate purchases of Receivables
Interests prior to the above dates. Events that could result in termination of the Receivables Facility
include a downgrade of the Company’s long-term senior unsecured debt to BB- or below by
Standard & Poor’s Rating Services (“Standard & Poor’s”) or Ba3 or below by Moody’s Investors
Service, Inc. (“Moody’s™), and failure to comply with interest coverage and debt leverage ratios. In
connection with recording the accounting charge in the fourth quarter of 2002 for the asbestos
settlement and related costs, the Company requested and received a waiver of compliance with the
interest coverage and leverage ratios provided for in the Receivables Facility. After reflecting such
waiver, the Company was in compliance with the requirements of the Receivables Facility as of
December 31, 2002. Since such waiver was as of December 31, 2002, the Company anticipates that it
will request a waiver or amendment for future applicable periods.

The Receivables Facility provides for the payment from time to time of program fees which, after the
Bank’s extension of the Facility to January 2004, were 0.45% per annum (0.375% per annum at
December 31, 2002) on the Receivables Interests sold by SA Funding Corp. and commitment fees
which were 0.40% per annum (0.325% per annum at December 31, 2002) on the unused portion of the
$125,000,000 Receivables Facility.

During 2002, SA Funding Corp. sold Receivables Interests to the ICP from time to time; however, as of
December 31, 2002, neither the Bank nor the ICP held any Receivables Interests.

In December 2001, receivables sold by the Originators to SA Funding Corp. amounted to
approximately $176,900,000. SA Funding Corp. in turn sold Receivables Interests of $95,600,000 under
the Receivables Facility, and this amount was removed from the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
This amount was used to pay down certain of the Company’s outstanding borrowings. SA Funding
Corp. retained the remaining $81,300,000 of receivables that it acquired from the Originators. These
retained receivables at December 31, 2001 were included in notes and accounts receivable on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The carrying amount of the retained receivables approximates
fair value because of the relatively short-term nature of the receivables.

The costs associated with the Receivables Facility are included in other income (expense), net in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.
These costs primarily relate to the loss on the sale of the Receivables Interests to the Bank or the ICP,
which were approximately $409,000 and $75,000 for 2002 and 2001, respectively, and program and
commitment fees and other associated costs, which were approximately $400,000 and $343,000 for 2002
and 2001, respectively.

The Company considers that, when available, the Receivables Facility provides an additional source of
short-term liquidity to the Company.
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Outstanding Indebtedness

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company’s total debt outstanding consisted of the amounts set
forth on the following table (amounts in table in thousands of dollars):

December 31, December 31,

2002 2001
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt:
Short-term bOITOWINGS . . .« v v vt it ettt e $ 53,355 $135,548
Current portion of long-termdebt . ............ ... ... ... ..... 2,049 1,943
Total current debt . . ... ... . e 55,404 137,491
Long-term debt, less current portion:
Revolving Credit Agreement due March 2003 . .................... — 7,539
5.625% Euro Notes due July 2006, iess discount of $790 and $844 in 2002
and 2001, respectively(1) . . . . ... . e 205,228 175,666
8.75% Senior Notes due July 2008, less discount of $1,201 and $3,999 in
2002 and 2001, respectively . .. ... ... 298,799 296,001
6.95% Senior Notes due May 2009, less discount of $1,550 and $1,736 in
2002 and 2001, respectively . . . . . ..o 298,450 298,264
Other ... e 65,553 10,641
Total long-term debt, less current portion . . .. ....... ... ... .. ... 868,030 788,111
Total debt . .. .. . e $923 434 $925,602

(1) The carrying value of the Euro Notes increased approximately $29,000, primarily as a result of the
strengthening of the euro compared to the U.S. dollar during 2002.

In March 2002, the Company refinanced a portion of its short-term borrowings in Australia and New
Zealand under an Australian dollar 175,000,000 (approximately U.S. $92,300,000 at the then current
exchange rate) dual-currency revolving credit facility that expires on March 12, 2005 (the “ANZ
Facility”). This facility was made available to certain of the Company’s Australian and New Zealand
subsidiaries by a syndicate of banks, and such borrowings are guaranteed by the Company. The amount
outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2002 was approximately $57,500,000. Such amount is
included in other long-term debt in the table above.

Substantially all the Company’s short-term borrowings of $53,355,000 at December 31, 2002 were
outstanding under lines of credit available to various of the Company’s U.S. and foreign subsidiaries.
Amounts available under these credit lines as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 were approximately
$209,000,000 and $326,000,000, respectively, of which approximately $155,000,000 and $190,000,000,
respectively, were unused.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had available committed and uncommitted lines of
credit, including the credit lines discussed above, of approximately $832,000,000 and $1,046,000,C00,
respectively, of which approximately $721,000,000 and $903,000,000 respectively, were unused. Such
credit lines include amounts available under the 2003 Facility (defined below), the 364-Day Facility
(defined below) at December 31, 2001 and other lines of credit available to the Company’s subsidiaries.
As of December 31, 2002, the total lines of credit of $832,000,000, include committed lines of credit of
approximately $622,000,000 and uncommitted lines of credit of approximately $210,000,000. Such
committed lines of credit primarily include the 2003 Facility and the ANZ Facility. The Company is not
subject to any material compensating balance requirements in connection with its lines of credit.

At December 31, 2002, the Company’s principal revolving credit facility was a $525,000,000 facility that
expires on March 30, 2003 (the “2003 Facility””). The Company has considered various financing
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alternatives for the replacement of the 2003 Facility. The Company believes that its current financial
resources and cash flows do not require that the Company replace the 2003 Facility, since its net cash
provided by operating activities, net of cash used in investing activities, together with its cash on hand
and amounts available under other committed lines of credit, are adequate to meet its current
operating and investing needs as well as to pay its current debt obligations at December 31, 2002 of
$55,404,000. In 2002, the Company’s operating activities provided net cash of $323,939,000, and its

investing activities used net cash of $96,888,000. While the Company expects it will be able to obtain
any additional financing required for general corporate needs, including the funding of the cash
payment for the asbestos settlement when it is required to be made upon the effectiveness of a plan of
reorganization in the bankruptcy of New Grace, there can be no assurance that such financing will be
available to the Company on commercially favorable terms.

As of December 31, 2002, facility fees were payable at the rate of 0.095% per annum under the 2003
Facility on the total amounts available under the credit facility. The obligations under the 2003 Facility
bear interest at floating rates. The floating rates are generally determined by adding the applicable
borrowing margin to the interbank rate for the relevant currency and time period. The weighted
average interest rate for outstanding borrowings under the 2003 Facility was approximately 4.2% at
December 31, 2001. There were no borrowings outstanding under the 2003 Facility as of December 31,
2002.

The 2003 Facility provides for changes in borrowing margins based on the Company’s long-term senior
unsecured debt ratings and certain financial criteria. The 2003 Facility, the ANZ Facility, the Euro
Notes, the 8.75% Senior Notes and the 6.95% Senior Notes impose limitations on the operations of the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries. These limitations include, depending upon the debt in
question, financial covenants relating to interest coverage and debt leverage as well as restrictions on
the incurrence of additional indebtedness, the creation of liens, sale and leaseback transactions,
mergers and acquisitions and certain dispositions of assets. In connection with recording the accounting
charge in the fourth quarter of 2002 for the asbestos settlement and related costs, the Company
requested and received a waiver of compliance with the interest coverage and leverage ratios provided
for in the 2003 Facility. After reflecting such waiver, the Company was in compliance with the
requirements of each of the above instruments as of December 31, 2002.

The Company had a 364-day $194,375,000 revolving credit facility (the “364-Day Facility”) that the
Company allowed to expire on March 22, 2002. No borrowings were outstanding under this Facility at
the time of its expiration or at December 31, 2001.

The Company’s cost of capital and ability to obtain external financing may be affected by its debt
ratings, which are periodically reviewed by the credit rating agencies. The Company’s long-term senior
unsecured debt is currently rated Baa3 (negative outlook) by Moody’s and BBB (credit watch with
negative implications) by Standard & Poor’s. These ratings are among the ratings assigned by each of
these organizations for investment grade long-term senior unsecured debt. A security rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time
by the rating organization. Each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating.

In June 2002, the Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements (with a total notional
amount of $50,000,000) that were qualified and designated as fair value hedges in accordance with
SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, as amended by SFAS
No. 137 and SFAS No. 138. These agreements were entered into in order to, among other things,
convert a portion of the 8.75% Senior Notes fixed rate debt into floating rate debt. During
September 2002, the Company terminated these swaps and reflected a basis adjustment to the 8.75%
Senior Notes for a portion of the cash received of approximately $2,416,000. Such amount is being
amortized and reflected as a component of interest expense over the remaining life of the 8.75%
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Senior Notes. The Company was not party to any interest rate swap agreements at December 31, 2002
or 2001.

The following table summarizes the Company’s material contractual obligations at December 31, 2002,
that require cash outlays in 2003 and future years (amounts in table in thousands of dollars):

Payments Due by Period

Total 2003 2004-2005  2006-2007  Thereafter

Short-term borrowings . ... ............ $ 53355 $53355 § — $ — ¥ —
Current portion of long-term debt .. ..... 2,049 2,049 _ — —
Long-term debt, exclusive of debt discounts 871,571 — 61,986 208,302 601,283
Totaldebt(1). ... ................... 926,975 55,404 61,986 208,302 601,283
Series A convertible preferred stock(2).... 2,136,478 53,080 106,160 106,160 1,871,078
Operating leases . .. ................. 88,383 23,758 32,722 19,780 12,123
Cash portion of the asbestos settlement,

including accrued interest as of

December 31, 2002(3) .............. 513,361 513,361 — — —
Long-term equipment purchases for resale . 36,000 3,500 8,400 10,500 13,600
Raw material contingent payment ....... 9,500 — — — 9,500
Total contractual cash obligations ....... $3,710,697 $649,103 $209,268 $344,742 $2,507,584

(1) Includes principal maturities only.

(2) Assumes dividends are declared and paid each quarter until March 31, 2018, based on shares
outstanding at December 31, 2002, and that no shares are converted to common stock or otherwise
retired. The total cash outlay of $2,136,478 includes $1,327,005 for the $50.00 per share
redemption value and $809,473 for the amount of the dividends assumed to be declared and paid
each quarter until March 31, 2018.

(3) This liability is reflected as a current liability due to the uncertainty of the timing of payment (as
discussed below). Interest accrues on this amount at a rate of 5.5% per annum until it becomes
due and payable.

In addition to the obligation to pay the principal amount of the debt obligations discussed above, the
Company is obligated under the terms of various leases covering many of the facilities that it occupies,
substantially all of which are accounted for as operating leases. The contractual operating lease
obligations listed in the table above represent estimated future minimum annual rental commitments
under non-cancelable real property leases as of December 31, 2002. The long-term debt shown in the
above table excludes unamortized bond discounts as of December 31, 2002 and therefore represents the
principal amount of such debt required to be repaid in each period. The Series A convertible preferred
stock in the table above is subject to mandatory redemption on March 31, 2018 at $50.00 per share,
plus any accrued and unpaid dividends, to the extent these shares remain outstanding. These shares
receive a cumulative cash dividend, as declared by the Board of Directors, at an annual rate of $2.00
per share, payable quarterly in arrears, until mandatory redemption on March 31, 2018. See below
under “Series A Convertible Preferred Stock™ for further discussion.

As described above in “Asbestos Settlement and Related Costs”, the Company recorded a current
liability of $512,500,000 for the cash portion to be paid, plus accrued interest at a 5.5% annual rate,
which started on December 21, 2002. The Company is required to make such payment upon the
effectiveness of a plan of reorganization in the bankruptcy of New Grace. Because it is uncertain when
such a plan of reorganization may become effective, this liability has been recorded as a current
liability on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2002. The Company currently expects to

23



fund this payment either by using accumulated cash and future cash flows from operations, from the
proceeds of future financings or from a combination of such alternatives.

The Company entered into the following long-term commitments during 2002:

» Approximately $36,000,000 for the purchase of certain equipment over an eight-year period
beginning in 2003, together with a potential termination fee in an amount to be determined. The
Company’s obligation is reduced or increased based on market price changes for the equipment
and certain indexes. Failure to purchase any of the minimum annual requirements in any year
obligates the Company to pay an amount of 45% of such shortfall.

° Approximately $9,500,000 to a supplier if the Company fails to purchase 142,700,000 pounds of
certain raw materials, at the then current market price, over a ten-year period that began in
May, 2002. The amount of the potential contingent payment declines in proportion to the
Company’s purchase of minimum quantities required under the contract. At December 31, 2002,
the Company’s purchases were in line with the minimum quantity requirements under the
agreement.

Derivative Financial Instrumenis

At December 31, 2002 and 2001 the Company was party to foreign currency forward contracts, which
did not have a significant impact on the Company’s liquidity. For further discussion about these
contracts and other financial instruments, see Item 7A. Other Matters — Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk.

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company’s Series A preferred stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and is convertible
at any time into approximately 0.885 of a share of common stock for each share of preferred stock.
These shares vote with the common stock on an as-converted basis and are entitled to receive
cumulative cash dividends, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, at an annual rate of $2.00
per share, payable quarterly in arrears on the first business day of the succeeding calendar quarter. The
Series A preferred stock ranks senior to the Company’s common stock and junior to the Company’s
indebtedness. On and after March 31, 2003, the Series A preferred stock is redeemable at the option of
the Company at a price of $51.00 per share declining ratably on each March 31 thereafter to $50.00 per
share on and after March 31, 2008, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends. The Series A preferred
stock is subject to mandatory redemption on March 31, 2018 at $50.00 per share, plus any accrued and
unpaid dividends, to the extent these shares remain outstanding. Because it is subject to mandatory
redemption, the Series A convertible preferred stock is classified outside of the shareholders’ equity
section of the consolidated balance sheets. At its date of issuance, the fair value of the Series A
preferred stock exceeded its mandatory redemption amount primarily due to the common stock
conversion feature. Accordingly, the book value of the Series A preferred stock is reflected in the
consolidated balance sheets at its mandatory redemption value.

Shareholders’ Equity

The Company’s shareholders’ equity was $812,960,000 at December 31, 2002, $850,152,000 at
December 31, 2001 and $753,129,000 at December 31, 2000.
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Shareholders’ equity decreased in 2002 due to the following:

* a reduction in retained earnings arising from the Company’s net loss of $309,069,000 and
preferred stock dividends of $53,845,000;

* additional foreign currency translation adjustments of $14,508,000;
partially offset by:

* the $321,480,000 value of the 9,000,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance related to
the asbestos settlement; and

* the excess of book value over the repurchase price of $10,291,000 recognized in connection with
preferred stock repurchases.

Shareholders’ equity increased in 2001 due to the following:
* net carnings of $156,697,000;

* the excess of book value over the repurchase price of $7,456,000 recognized in connection with
preferred stock repurchases;

partially offset by:
* preferred stock dividends of $55,024,000; and

* additional foreign currency translation adjustments of $19,931,000.

Other Matters
Cryovac Transaction

On March 31, 1998 the Company completed a multi-step transaction (the “Cryovac Transaction™),
which brought the Cryovac packaging business and the former Sealed Air Corporation (“old Sealed
Air”) under the common ownership of the Company. These businesses operate as subsidiaries of the
Company, and the Company acts as a holding company. As part of that transaction, the Cryovac
packaging business, held by various direct and indirect subsidiaries of the Company, was separated from
the remaining businesses of the Company. Such remaining businesses were then contributed to a
company now known as W. R. Grace & Co. (“New Grace”), whose shares were distributed to the
Company’s stockholders. As a result, New Grace became a separate publicly owned company. The
Company recapitalized its outstanding shares of common stock into a new common stock and a new
convertible preferred stock. A subsidiary of the Company then merged into old Sealed Air, which
changed its name to Sealed Air Corporation (US). The agreements pursuant to which the Cryovac
Transaction was carried out are referred to below as the “Transaction Agreements.”

Contingencies Related to the Cryovac Transaction

In connection with the Cryovac Transaction, New Grace and its subsidiaries retained all liabilities
arising out of their operations before the Cryovac Transaction, whether accruing or occurring before or
after the Cryovac Transaction, other than liabilities arising from or relating to Cryovac’s operations.
The liabilities retained by New Grace include, among others, liabilities relating to asbestos-containing
products previously manufactured or sold by New Grace’s subsidiaries prior to the Cryovac Transaction,
including its primary U.S. operating subsidiary, W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn., which has operated for
decades and has been a subsidiary of New Grace since the Cryovac Transaction. The Transaction
Agreements provided that, should any claimant seek to hold the Company, including any of its
subsidiaries, responsible for liabilities of New Grace or its subsidiaries, including such asbestos-related
liabilities, New Grace and its subsidiaries would indemnify and defend the Company.
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Since the beginning of 2000, the Company has been served with a number of lawsuits alleging that, as a
result of the Cryovac Transaction, the Company is responsible for alleged asbestos liabilities of New

Grace and its subsidiaries, certain of which were also named as co-defendants in some of these actions.
These actions include several purported class actions and a number of personal injury lawsuits. Some
plaintiffs seek damages for personal injury or wrongful death, while others seek medical monitoring,
environmental remediation or remedies related to an attic insulation product. Neither old Sealed Air
nor Cryovac ever produced or sold any of the asbestos-containing materials that are the subjects of
these cases. None of these cases has been resolved through judgment, settlement or otherwise. All such
cases have been stayed in connection with New Grace’s Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding discussed
below.

While the allegations in these actions directed to the Company vary, these actions all appear to allege
that the transfer of the Cryovac business as part of the Cryovac Transaction was a fraudulent transfer
or gave rise to successor liability. Under a theory of successor liability, plaintiffs with claims against
New Grace and its subsidiaries may attempt to hold the Company liable for liabilities that arose with
respect to activities conducted prior to the Cryovac Transaction by W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn. or
other New Grace subsidiaries. A transfer would be a fraudulent transfer if the transferor received less
than reasonably equivalent value and the transferor was insolvent or was rendered insolvent by the
transfer, was engaged or was about to engage in a business for which its assets constitute unreasonably
small capital, or intended to incur or believed that it would incur debts beyond its ability to pay as they
mature. A transfer may also be fraudulent if it was made with actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud
creditors. If any transfers in connection with the Cryovac Transaction were found by a court to be
fraudulent transfers, the Company could be required to return the property or its value to the
transferor or could be required to fund certain liabilities of New Grace or its subsidiaries for the
benefit of their creditors, including asbestos claimants. The Company has reached an agreement in
principle, described below, that will resolve all such claims. Previously, the Company was unable to
estimate the loss or range of loss in the event that there had been a finding that the Cryovac
Transaction was a fraudulent transfer or gave rise to successor liability.

In the Joint Proxy Statement furnished to their respective stockholders in connection with the Cryovac
Transaction, both Sealed Air and Grace stated that it was their belief that New Grace and its
subsidiaries were adequately capitalized and would be adequately capitalized after the Cryovac
Transaction and that none of the transfers contemplated to occur in the Cryovac Transaction would be
a fraudulent transfer. They also stated their belief that the Cryovac Transaction complied with other
relevant laws. However, if a court applying the relevant legal standards had reached conclusions
adverse to the Company, such determination could have had a materially adverse effect on the
Company’s consolidated results of operations and financial position.

On April 2, 2001, New Grace and certain of its subsidiaries filed a petition for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in the District of Delaware.
New Grace stated that the filing was made in response to a sharply increasing number of asbestos
claims since 1999.

In connection with its Chapter 11 filing, New Grace filed an application with the Bankruptcy Court
seeking to stay, among others, all actions brought against the Company (including certain of its
subsidiaries) related to alleged asbestos liabilities of New Grace and its subsidiaries or alleging
fraudulent transfer claims. The court issued an order dated May 3, 2001, which was modified on
January 22, 2002, under which all such filed or pending actions against the Company were stayed and
all such future actions are stayed upon filing and service on the Company. No further proceedings
involving the Company can occur in the actions that have been stayed except upon further order of the
Bankruptcy Court.
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Committees appointed to represent asbestos claimants in New Grace’s bankruptcy case received the
court’s permission to pursue fraudulent transfer and other claims against the Company and its
subsidiary Cryovac, Inc. and against Fresenius, as discussed below. The claims against Fresenius are
based upon a 1996 transaction between Fresenius and W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn. Fresenius is not
affiliated with the Company. In March 2002, the court ordered that the issues of the solvency of New
Grace following the Cryovac Transaction and whether New Grace received reasonably equivalent value
in the Cryovac Transaction would be tried on behalf of all creditors of New Grace. The proceeding is
pending in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (Adv. No. 02-02210).

In June 2002, the court permitted the U.S. government to intervene as a plaintiff in the fraudulent
transfer proceeding, so that the U.S. government could pursue allegations that remediation expenses at
certain sites were underestimated or omitted in the solvency analyses of New Grace that were
conducted at the time of the Cryovac Transaction. The court also permitted New Grace, which asserted
that the Cryovac Transaction was not a fraudulent transfer, to intervene in the proceeding. In July 2002,
the court issued an interim ruling on the legal standards to be applied in the trial, holding, among
other things, that, subject to certain limitations, post-1998 claims should be considered in the solvency
analysis of New Grace. The Company believes that only claims and liabilities that were known or
reasonably should have been known at the time of the 1998 Cryovac Transaction should be considered
pursuant to the applicable standard. The trial was scheduled to commence December 9, 2002.

On November 27, 2002, the Company reached an agreement in principle with the Committees
prosecuting the claims against the Company and Cryovac, Inc., to resolve all current and future
asbestos-related claims arising from the Cryovac Transaction. On the same day, the court entered an
order confirming that an amicable resolution of the disputes among the parties had been reached and
that counsel for the Company and the Committees had agreed and bound the parties to the terms of
the agreement in principle. As discussed above, the agreement in principle calls for payment of
9,000,000 shares of Sealed Air common stock and $512,500,000 in cash, plus interest on the cash
payment at a 5.5% annual rate starting on December 21, 2002 and ending on the effective date of the
New Grace plan of reorganization, when payment must be made. Such shares are subject to customary
anti-dilution provisions (including the effects of stock splits, stock dividends and certain other events
affecting the Company’s common stock). Pursuant to the agreement, the Company cannot seek
indemnity from New Grace for this payment. On December 3, 2002, the agreement in principle was
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. The Company was advised that both of the
Committees had approved the agreement in principle as of December 5, 2002. The parties are jointly
engaged in the process of drafting a definitive settlement agreement consistent with the terms of the
agreement in principle. Once signed by the appropriate parties, the settlement agreement will be
presented to the court for approval and will eventually be incorporated into New Grace’s plan of
reorganization and, assuming approval by New Grace’s creditors as part of the approval of the plan of
reorganization, will then be implemented.

The settlement, upon approval and implementation in the New Grace bankruptcy, will provide that,
upon the effective date of New Grace’s plan of reorganization and payment of the shares and cash, all
present and future asbestos-related claims against the Company and its affiliates that arise from alleged
asbestos liabilities of New Grace and its affiliates (including former affiliates that became affiliates of
the Company through the Cryovac Transaction) will be channeled to and become the responsibility of
one or more trusts to be established as part of New Grace’s plan of reorganization. The settlement will
also resolve all fraudulent transfer claims against the Company and its affiliates arising from the
Cryovac Transaction as well as the claims of Fresenius described below. The settlement will provide
that the Company and its affiliates will receive releases of all such claims. As a condition to the
Company’s obligation to make the payments required by the settlement, New Grace’s plan of
reorganization must be consistent with the terms of the settlement, including provisions for the trusts
and releases referred to above and for an injunction barring the prosecution of any asbestos-related
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claims against the Company and its affiliates. It is expected that the order approving the settlement
agreement will also provide that the stay of proceedings involving the Company described above will
continue through the effective date of New Grace’s plan of reorganization, after which the Company
will be released from the liabilities asserted in those proceedings and their continued prosecution
against the Company will be enjoined.

In January 2002, the Company filed a declaratory judgment action against Fresenius Medical Care
Holdings, Inc., its parent, Fresenius AG, a German company, and certain of its affiliates (collectively,
“Fresenius”} in New York State court asking the court to resolve a contract dispute between the
parties. Fresenius contended that the Company was obligated to indemnify Fresenius for certain
liabilities that Fresenius might incur as a result of the 1996 Fresenius transaction mentioned above.
Fresenius’s contention was based on its interpretation of the agreements between Fresenius and W. R.
Grace & Co. — Conn. in connection with the 1996 Fresenius transaction. In February 2002, Fresenius
announced that it had accrued a charge of $172,000,000 for such potential liabilities, which include
pre-transaction tax liabilities of New Grace and the costs of defense of litigation arising from New
Grace’s Chapter 11 filing. The Company believed that it was not responsible to indemnify Fresenius
under the 1996 agreements and filed the action in order to proceed to a resolution of Fresenius’s
claims. In April 2002, Fresenius filed a motion to dismiss the action and for entry of declaratory relief
in its favor. The Company opposed the motion, and in June 2002, the court reserved decision after oral
argument. No written order has been issued, and the parties have requested the court to defer issuing a
ruling pending implementation of the definitive settlement agreement between the Company and the
Committees. As noted above, as a result of the November 27, 2002 agreement in principle referred to
above, the parties expect that there will be mutual releases exchanged between Fresenius and the
Company releasing any and ali claims related to the 1996 Fresenius transaction.

In view of New Grace’s Chapter 11 filing, the Company may receive additional claims asserting that the
Company is liable for obligations that New Grace had agreed to retain in the Cryovac Transaction and
for which the Company may be contingently liable. To date, no material additional claims have been
asserted or threatened against the Company.

Final determinations and accountings under the Transaction Agreements with respect to matters
pertaining to the Cryovac Transaction had not been completed at the time of New Grace’s Chapter 11
filing. The Company expects to file a claim in the bankruptcy proceeding that will include all of the
costs and liabilities that it has incurred or may incur that New Grace agreed to retain or that are
subject to indemnification by New Grace under the Transaction Agreements other than payments to be
made under the settlement agreement. New Grace alleges that the Company is responsible for certain
amounts under the Transaction Agreements. Any amounts for which the Company may be liable to
New Grace may be used to offset New Grace’s liabilities to the Company. Costs and liabilities for
which the Company intends to seek indemnification by New Grace will also include certain defense
costs related to asbestos and fraudulent transfer litigation and the Fresenius claims, the guaranteed
debt paid by the Company described above, and any of the other potential claims against the Company
mentioned above. Except to the extent of any potential setoff or similar claim, the Company expects
that its claim will be as an unsecured creditor of New Grace. It is not currently possible to determine
the amount of the Company’s claim against New Grace, the extent to which such claim may be secured
by setoff, how much of that claim may be allowed, or the amount of the Company’s recovery on such
claim, if any, in the bankruptcy proceeding.

Environmental Matters

The Company is subject to loss contingencies resulting from environmental laws and regulations, and it
accrues for anficipated costs associated with investigatory and remediation efforts when an assessment
has indicated that a loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated. These accruals do not take into
account any discounting for the time value of money and are not reduced by potential insurance
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recoveries, if any. Environmental liabilities are reassessed whenever circumstances become better
defined or remediation efforts and their costs can be better estimated. These liabilities are evaluated
periodically based on available information, including the progress of remedial investigations at each
site, the current status of discussions with regulatory authorities regarding the methods and extent of
remediation and the apportionment of costs among potentially responsible parties. As some of these
issues are decided (the outcomes of which are subject to uncertainties) or new sites are assessed and
costs can be reasonably estimated, the Company adjusts the recorded accruals, as necessary. The
Company believes that such exposures are not material to the Company’s consolidated results of
operations and financial position. The Company believes that it has adequately reserved for all
probable and estimable environmental exposures.

Recently Issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141”), and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS
No. 142”). SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 as well as all purchase method business combinations
completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead be tested for impairment at least annually in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. This new standard also requires that intangible assets
with definite useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated
residual values, and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 141
upon issuance and adopted SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002. Any goodwill and any intangible
assets determined to have an indefinite useful life that were acquired in a purchase business
combination completed after June 30, 2001 were not amortized, but were evaluated for impairment.
Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in business combinations completed before July 1, 2001 were
amortized through the end of 2001.

In connection with the transitional impairment evaluation, SFAS No. 142 required the Company to
assess whether goodwill and other intangibie assets were impaired as of January 1, 2002, As required by
this statement, the Company completed its assessment process on a reporting unit basis as of June 30,
2002 and determined that no impairment charge was necessary as of January 1, 2002. A reporting unit
is the operating segment unless, at businesses one level below that operating segment (the
“component” level), discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by management,
and such businesses have economic characteristics that are different from the economic characteristics
of the other components of the operating segments, in which case such component is the reporting
unit. A fair value approach is used to test goodwill for impairment. An impairment charge is
recognized for the amount, if any, by which the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its fair value. An
estimate of fair values for the Company as a whole and each of the Company’s reporting units was
derived by using discounted cash flows, equity market capitalization and comparative market multiples.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had unamortized goodwill in the amount of
$1,926,244,000 and $1,913,000,000, respectively. Amortization expense related to goodwill was
$57,005,000 and $51,776,000 in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Beginning January 1, 2002, in accordance
with SFAS No. 142, the Company is no longer recording amortization expense related to goodwill.
Although goodwill will no longer be systematically amortized, this statement requires that periodic
reviews be conducted to assess whether or not the carrying amount of goodwill may be impaired. Such
reviews could result in future write-downs of goodwill which would be reflected as a charge against
operating income.

As required by SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives have to be
tested for impairment at least annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, The
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Company completed its annual testing for impairment for 2002 during the fourth quarter of 2002 and
determined that no impairment charge was necessary on a reporting unit basis.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had identifiable intangible assets with definite useful
lives with a gross carrying value of approximately $69,100,000 and $63,600,000, respectively, less
accumulated amortization of approximately $47,700,000 and $40,100,000, respectively. Amortization of
identifiable intangible assets was approximately $7,200,000 for 2002. Assuming no change in the gross
carrying value of identifiable intangible assets from the value at December 31, 2002, the estimated
amortization for the year ended December 31, 2003 and the next four succeeding years is
approximately $7,200,000 per year. Such assets are reflected in “other assets” in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, there were no identifiable intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives as defined by SFAS No. 142.

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 143, “Asset Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS

No. 143”), which provides the accounting requirements for retirement obligations associated with
tangible long-lived assets. This statement requires entities to record the fair value of a liability for an
asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 did not
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”), which excludes from the definition of long-lived assets
goodwill and other intangibles that are not amortized in accordance with SFAS No. 142. SFAS No. 144
requires that the disposal of long-lived assets by sale be measured at the lower of carrying amount or
fair value less cost to sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in discontinued operations.
SFAS No. 144 also expands the reporting of discontinued operations to include components of an entity
that have been or will be disposed of rather than limiting such discontinuance to a segment of a
business. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities” (“SFAS No. 146”). SFAS No. 146 nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITE”) Issue

No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an
Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)” (“EITF 94-3”) and requires that a
liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized and measured initially at
fair value in the period in which the liability is incurred. Under EITF 94-3, a liability for an exit cost
was required to be recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. The adoption of
SFAS No. 146 is expected to result in delayed recognition for certain types of costs as compared to the
provisions of EITF 94-3. SFAS No. 146 is effective for new exit or disposal activities that are initiated
after December 31, 2002, and does not affect amounts currently reported in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. SFAS No. 146 will affect the types and timing of costs included in
future restructuring programs, if any.

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based

Compensation — Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS No. 148”), which provides alternative methods of
transition for companies that choose to switch to the fair value method of accounting for stock options.
SEAS No. 148 also makes changes in the disclosure requirements for stock-based compensation,
regardless of which method of accounting is chosen. As discussed above under “Financing Activities”,
the Company terminated all previously maintained stock option plans effective March 31, 1998 in
connection with the Cryovac Transaction, except with respect to options that were still outstanding as of
such date. The adoption of SFAS No. 148 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others”
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(“Interpretation No. 457). Interpretation No. 45 requires the disclosure of certain guarantees existing at
December 31, 2002. The Company had no guarantees meeting the requirements of Interpretation

No. 45 at December 31, 2002. In addition, Interpretation No. 45 requires the recognition of a liability
for the fair value of the obligation of qualifying guarantee activities that are initiated or modified after
December 31, 2002. Accordingly, the Company will apply the recognition provisions of Interpretation
No. 45 prospectively to applicable guarantee activities initiated after December 31, 2002.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”
(“Interpretation No. 46”). Interpretation No. 46 requires that the assets, liabilities and results of the
activity of variable interest entities be consolidated into the financial statements of the company that
has the controlling financial interest. Interpretation No. 46 also provides the framework for determining
whether a variable interest entity should be consolidated based on voting interests or significant
financial support provided to it. Interpretation No. 46 will be effective for the Company on February 1,
2003 for variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003, and on July 31, 2003 for variable
interest entities created prior to February 1, 2003. Based on its preliminary analysis of Interpretation
No. 46, the Company does not currently expect the adoption of Interpretation No. 46 to have a
material impact on its 2003 consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Company’s discussion and analysis of its results of operations and financial condition are based
upon its consolidated financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“US GAAP”). The preparation of
financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitics. Estimates and assumptions are evaluated on an ongoing
basis and are based on historical and other factors believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The results of these estimates may form the basis of the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities
and may not be readily apparent from other sources. Actual results, under conditions and circumstances
different from those assumed, may differ from estimates, and any such differences may be material to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company believes the following accounting policies are critical to its business operations and the
understanding of results of operations and affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in
the preparation of its consolidated financial statements:

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — The Company maintains accounts receivable allowances for
estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments. Additional
allowances may be required if the financial condition of the Company’s customers deteriorates.

Commitments and Contingencies — Litigation—On an ongoing basis, the Company assesses the
potential liabilities related to any lawsuits or claims brought against the Company. While it is typically
very difficult to determine the timing and ultimate outcome of such actions, the Company uses its best
judgment to determine if it is probable that it will incur an expense related to the settlement or final
adjudication of such matters and whether a reasonable estimation of such probable loss, if any, can be
made. In assessing probable losses, the Company makes estimates of the amount of insurance
recoveries, if any. The Company accrues a liability when it believes a loss is probable and the amount
of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to the inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome
of litigation and potential insurance recovery, it is possible that certain matters may be resolved for
amounts materially different from any provisions or disclosures that the Company has previously made.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets—The Company periodically reviews long-lived assets, other than
goodwill, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Goodwill, in accordance with SFAS No. 142, is reviewed
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for possible impairment at least annually during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. A review of
goodwill may be initiated prior to conducting the annual analysis if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may be impaired. Assumptions and estimates used in the
determination of impairment losses, such as future cash flows and disposition costs, may affect the
carrying value of long-lived assets and possible impairment expense in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Self-Insurance — The Company retains the obligation for certain claims and losses related to property,
casualty, workers’ compensation and employee benefit claims. The Company accrues for outstanding
reported claims, claims that have been incurred but not reported and projected claims based upon
management’s estimates of the aggregate liability for uninsured claims using historical experience,
insurance company estimates and the estimated trends in claim values. Although management believes
it has the ability to adequately project and record estimated claim payments, it is possible that actual
results could differ significantly from the recorded liabilities.

Pensions — Although the Company maintains a non-contributory profit sharing plan and contributory
thrift and retirement savings plans in which most U.S. employees of the Company are eligible to
participate, the Company does maintain defined benefit pension plans for certain of its U.S. and
non-U.S. employees. The Company accounts for such pension plans in accordance with SFAS No. 87,
“Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (“SFAS No. 87”). Under these accounting standards,
assumptions are made regarding the valuation of benefit obligations and performance of plan assets.
Certain of these assumptions include the discount rate used to measure future obligations, the expected
future rate of return on plan assets, the expected rate of future compensation increases and various
other actuarial assumptions. Changes to these assumptions could have a significant impact on costs and
liabilities recorded under SFAS No. 87.

Income Taxes — The Company’s deferred tax assets arise from net deductible temporary differences
and tax benefit carryforwards. The Company believes that its taxable earnings during the periods when
the temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets become deductible or when tax benefit
carryforwards may be utilized should be sufficient to realize the related future income tax benefits. For
those jurisdictions where the expiration date of tax benefit carryforwards or the projected taxable
earnings indicate that realization is not likely, a valuation allowance is provided.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, the Company estimates future taxable earnings, with
consideration for the feasibility of ongoing tax planning strategies and the realizability of tax benefit
carryforwards, to determine which deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized in the
future. Valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets can be impacted by changes to tax laws,
changes to statutory tax rates and future taxable earnings. In the event that actual results differ from
these estimates in future periods, the Company may need to adjust the valuation allowance, which
could materially impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements made by the Company in this report and in the documents incorporated by
reference herein, and in future oral and written statements by the Company may be forward-looking.
These statements include comments as to the Company’s beliefs and, expectations as to future events
and trends affecting the Company’s business, its results of operations and its financial condition. These
forward-looking statements are based upon management’s current expectations concerning future events
and discuss, among other things, anticipated future performance and future business plans. Forward-
looking statements are identified by such words and phrases as “expects,” “intends,” “believes,” “will
continue,” “plans to,” “could be,” “estimates” and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are
necessarily subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside the control of the Company,
which could cause actual results to differ materially from such statements.

Iy &5
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The Company recognizes that it is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that may affect the
future performance of the Company, such as:

economic, political, business and market conditions in the geographic areas in which it conducts

business;
the Company’s ability to hire, develop and retain talented employees worldwide;

factors affecting the customers, industries and markets that use the Company’s packaging
materials and systems;

competitive factors;
the Company’s development and commercialization of successful new products;

the Company’s accomplishments in entering new markets and acquiring and integrating new
businesses;

changes in the Company’s relationships with customers and suppliers;
acts and effects of war or terrorism;

changes in the value of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar;
changes in interest rates, credit availability and ratings;

the Company’s access to financing and other sources of capital;

the success of the Company’s key information systems projects;

the magnitude and timing of the Company’s capital expenditures;

the Company’s inventory management proficiency;

raw material availability and pricing;

production capacity;

changes in energy-related expenses;

the effect on the Company of new pronouncements by accounting authorities;

the approval and implementation of a definitive settlement agreement with the Official

Committee of Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants, the Official Committee of Asbestos Property

Damage Claimants and any other appropriate parties in the New Grace bankruptcy proceeding;
other effects on the Company of the bankruptcy filing by New Grace and its subsidiaries;
other legal proceedings and claims (including environmental matters) involving the Company;

the effects of animal and food-related health issues (including BSE (““mad-cow”) and
foot-and-mouth); and

changes in domestic or foreign laws or regulations, or governmental or agency actions.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates, which may adversely affect its results of operations and financial condition. The Company seeks
to minimize these risks through regular operating and financing activities and, when deemed

appropriate, through the use of derivative financial instruments. The Company does not purchase, hold

or sell derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
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Interest Rates

From time to time, the Company may use interest rate swaps, collars or options to manage its exposure
to fluctuations in interest rates. During September 2002, the Company terminated certain interest rate
swaps and reflected a basis adjustment to the 8.75% Senior Notes for a portion of the cash received of
approximately $2.416,000. Such amount is being amortized and reflected as a component of interest
expense over the remaining life of the 8.75% Senior Notes. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the
Company had no interest rate swaps, coliars or options outstanding.

The fair value of the Company’s fixed rate debt varies with changes in interest rates. Generally, the fair
value of fixed rate debt will increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise. At
December 31, 2002, the carrying value of the Company’s total debt was $923,434,000 of which
approximately $812,569,000 was fixed rate debt. At December 31, 2001, the carrying value of the
Company’s total debt was $925,602,000 of which $782,517,000 was fixed rate debt. The estimated fair
value of the Company’s total debt, which includes the cost of replacing the Company’s fixed rate debt
with borrowings at current market rates, was approximately $958,256,000 at December 31, 2002
compared to $889,434,000 at December 31, 2001. A hypothetical 10% decrease in interest rates would
result in an increase in the fair value of the total debt balance at December 31, 2002 of approximately
$25,656,000. Such changes in the fair value of the Company’s fixed rate debt do not alter the
Company’s obligations to repay the outstanding principal amount of such debt.

Foreign Exchange Rates

The Company may use other derivative instruments from time to time, such as foreign exchange
options to manage exposure due to foreign exchange rates and interest rate and currency swaps to gain
access to additional sources of international financing while limiting foreign exchange exposure and
limiting or adjusting interest rate exposure by swapping borrowings in one currency for borrowings
denominated in another currency. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had no foreign
exchange options or interest rate and currency swap agreements outstanding.

The Company uses foreign currency forward contracts to fix the amount payable on certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies. The terms of such instruments are generally twelve months or less.
At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had foreign currency forward contracts with an
aggregate notional amount of approximately $146,910,000 and $266,900,000, respectively. The estimated
fair values of these contracts, which represent the estimated net payments that would be paid or
received by the Company in the event of termination of these contracts based on the then current
foreign exchange rates, were a net payable of approximately $32,000 and a net receivable of
approximately $313,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. A hypothetical 10% adverse
change in foreign exchange rates at December 31, 2002 would have caused the Company to pay
approximately $650,000 to terminate these contracts,

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries had outstanding debt of approximately $322,700,000 and
$321,700,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Such debt is generally denominated in the
functional currercy of the borrowing subsidiary. The Company believes that this enables it to better
match operating cash flows with debt service requirements and to better match foreign currency-
denominated assets and liabilities, thereby reducing its need to enter into foreign exchange contracts.

Commeodities

The Company uses various commodity raw material and energy products in conjunction with its
manufacturing processes. Generally, the Company acquires such components at market prices and does
not use financial instruments to hedge commodity prices. As a result, the Company is exposed to
market risks related to changes in commodity prices of these components.
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item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The following consolidated financial statements of the Company are filed as part of this report.

Sealed Air Corporation

Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants . . .......... ... ... ... ... .....

Financial Statements:

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

Consolidated Balance Sheets — December 31, 2002 and 2001 ... .....................

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000 . ... e e

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 .. e e e e

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000 . . . . ..o

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .. ............. .. .. ...

Consolidated Schedule:
II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves . . .. ........... ... ... ..... ... ..
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Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Sealed Air Corporation:

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sealed Air Corporation and subsidiaries as
listed in the accompanying index. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial
statements, we also have audited the financial statement schedule as listed in the accompanying index.
These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In cur opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Sealed Air Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and
2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
pericd ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in
all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets,” as of January 1, 2002.

G

KPMG LLP
Short Hiils, New Jersey
January 24, 2003
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
(In thousands of dollars, except for per share data)

2002 2001 2000

Netsales. ... v e $3,204,256  $3,067,482 $3,067,714
Costofsales ....coin i i i e e e 2,146,643 2,077,195 2,032,410

Grossprofit . . ... ... e 1,057,613 990,287 1,035,304
Marketing, administrative and development expenses . . . . ... .. 542,575 513,086 516,312
Goodwill amortization .. .......... ... ... . . . — 57,005 51,776
Restructuring and other (credits) charges ................. (1,348) 32,805 (1,247)

Operating profit . .. ... ... .. . 516,386 387,391 468,463
Interest EXPense . . .. ...t e (65,315) (76,398) (64,513)
Asbestos settlement and related costs ... ....... ... .. ... (850,118) (11,995) —
Other income (expense), Net .. .......c.coivvrvrvnuennn.. 7,114 (1,546) 9,479

(Loss) earnings before income taxes ................... (391,933) 297,452 413,429
Income tax (benefit) expense ........... ... ... ... .. .. (82,864) 140,755 188,110

Net (loss) earmings . . . .. ... vt e i, $ (309,069) $ 156,697 $ 225319
Add: Excess of book value over repurchase price of Series A

convertible preferred stock .. ...... ... ... oo 10,291 7,456 45,283
Less: Series A convertible preferred stock dividends ......... 53,845 55,024 64,266

Net (loss) earnings ascribed to common shareholders . . . .. .. $ (352,623) $ 109,129 § 206,336
(Loss) earnings per common share:

BaSiC . . oot e $ (420) § 130 § 2.47

Diluted . ...... . 0 e $  (430) § 122§ 1.93

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2002 and 2001
(In thousands of dollars, except share data)

2002 2001
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ... ... ... .. ... . ... $ 126,751 $ 13,805
Notes and accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $18,683 in
2002 and $25,424 in 2000 . .. ... e 546,761 418,161
IOVentOTIES . . . . v e 329,449 288,570
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. . . . ....... .. ... .. e 11,701 10,172
Deferred inCome taxes . . . . . .. . it e 41,596 45,644
Total current assetS . . . . .o i e e e e e e 1,056,258 776,352
Property and equipment, net . .. ... ... ... 1,013,017 1,050,438
Goodwill . . . . 1,926,244 1,913,000
Deferred income taxes . . ... .o vt ittt e e e e 84,243 5,686
Other ASSCES . . . .ttt it e e e e e e e 181,004 162,433
TOtAl ASSEES . . v v ot e e e $4,260,766  $3,907,909
Liabilities, Preferred Stock and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings . . . . . ... ... e $ 53,355 § 135,548
Current portion of long-term debt . . .. ... ... .. . . o 2,049 1,943
Accounts payable . ... ... 167,039 135,533
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . o vttt e e e 4,239 5,097
Asbestos settlement liability . .. ... ... .. .. .. .. .. L L o 512,500 —
Other current labilities . . . . . . . . e e 413,572 348,859
Total current liabilities . ... ... ... .. ... . .. .. e 1,152,754 626,980
Long-term debt, less current portion . . . . ... .. ..o e e 868,030 788,111
Deferred inCOmeE taXeS . . . o ittt it e e e e 31,037 210,830
Other lHabilities . . . . . . ot s e e 68,980 63,682
Total Liabilities . . . .. ... e 2,120,801 1,691,603
Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)
Authorized 50,000,000 preferred shares. Series A convertible preferred stock, $50.00 per
share redemption value, authorized 27,365,594 shares in 2002 and 2001, outstanding
26,540,099 shares in 2002 and 27,323,084 shares in 2001, mandatory redemption in
2008 L 1,327,005 1,366,154
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.10 par value per share. Authorized 400,000,000 shares; issued
84,764,347 shares in 2002 and 84,494,504 shares in 2001. . .................. 8,476 8,449
Cost of treasury common stock, 723,415 shares in 2002 and 717,615 shares in 2001 . . . (31,139) (31,133)
Common stock reserved for issuance related to asbestos settlement, 9,000,000 shares,
$.10 par value pershare ... ....... ... .. . ... e 900 —
Additional paid-in capital . . .. ... ... 1,037,150 699,088
Retained €arnings . . . . ... ot e 31,885 394,799
Deferred compensation . . ... ... ... ... e (9,853) (10,973)
1,037,419 1,060,230
Minimum pension liability . ... ..... . ... .. e (2,212} (2,237)
Accumulated translation adjustment . . . ... . ... .. ... . o e (222,218)  (207,710)
Unrecognized loss on derivative instruments . . ........................... (29) (131)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . .. .. .. ... . ... o o ... (224,459)  (210,078)
Total Shareholders’ Equity . . .. ... ... .. 812,960 850,152
Total Liabilitics, Preferred Stock and Shareholders’ Equity . .. ............... $4,260,766  $3,907,909

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balance at December 31, 1999

Effect of contingent stock
transactions, net . . ... .....
Shares issued for non-cash
compensation . . .. ........
Exercise of stock options . . . . . ..
Purchase of preferred stock . . . . .
Conversion of preferred stock . . . .
Purchase of common stock . . . ..
FAS 87 pension adjustment . . . . .
Foreign currency translation . . . . .
Netearnings. . . . ... .......
Dividends on preferred stock . . . .

Balance at December 31, 2000

Effect of contingent stock
transactions, net . . ... ... ..
Shares issued for non-cash
compensation . . ... .. .....
Exercise of stock options. . . . . ..
Purchase of preferred stock . . . . .
Conversion of preferred stock . . . .
FAS 87 pension adjustment . . . . .
Foreign currency translation . . . . .
Unrecognized loss on derivative
instruments . . ... ... ...
Net earnings. . . ... ........
Dividends on preferred stock . . . .

Balance at December 31, 2001

Effect of contingent stock
transactions, net . . . ... ....
Shares issued for non-cash
compensation . . . ... ... ...
Exercise of stock options . . . . . ..
Purchase of preferred stock . . . . .
Conversion of preferred stock . . . .
FAS 87 pension adjustment . . . . .
Foreign currency translation . . . . .
Unrecognized gain on derivative
instruments . . . ... .. .....
Netloss . ...............
Dividends on preferred stock . . . .
Common stock reserved for
issuance related to the asbestos
settlement . . . ... ... ... ..

Balance at December 31, 2002 . . .

SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Conseolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2080

(In theusands of dollars)

Related to Additional
Common Asbestos
Settlement Capital

Paid-in Retained  Deferred

Gther Comprehensive Loss

Treasury Accumulated
Common Translation
Earnings Compensation Stock Adjustment Instruments Liability Total

$ 632,230 $ 132,073 §(24,511)

$(23,652) $(171,521)

$ (2,002) $551,030

8,607 — 7438
2,049 - —
858 — —
45,283 — —_
57 — —

— 225319 -

—  (64,266) —_

16,041

17,455
860
45,283
57
(22,873)
481
(16,258)
225319
(64,266)

689,084 293,126 (17,073)

753,129

1,664 — 6,100
374 — —
502 — -

7,456 - —

8 — —
— 156,697 —
—  (55,024) —

7,785

375
504
7,456
8

(716)

(19,931)

(131)
156,697
(55,024)

699,083 394,799 (10973

850,152

6,143 — 1,120

112 — —
912 — —
10,291 — _
24 — —

— (309,069 -
—  (53,845) —

320,580 — —_

7,279

112

917

10,291

24

25
(14,508)

102

— (309,069)

(53,845)

321,480

$1,037,150 $ 31,885 § (9,853)

$(31,139) $(222,218)

$ (2,212) $812,960

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
(In thousands of doliars)

2002 2001 2060

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (1oss) €arnings . . . ..ottt it e e $(309,069) $156,697 $225,319
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) earnings to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment . . ........ 144,013 141,665 140,795
Other amortization, including goodwill in 2001 and 2000 ........... 20,942 78,951 78,846
Amortization of bond discount . . ... .. ... L L . 744 561 318
Non-cash portion of restructuring and other charges (credits) . ....... — 7,287 (1,247)
Non-cash portion of asbestos settlement. . .. ................... 321,480 — —
Deferred tax provisions . .. ......... ... i (257,208) (9,083) 20,361
Net loss (gain) on disposals of property and equipment . ........... 136 (237) 594
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of businesses acquired:
Change in the Receivables Facility . . . ...................... (95,600) 95,600 —
Change in notes and accounts receivable, net of Receivables Facility . . (22,718) 27,089 (41,316)
INVENtOTIES . . . . . . o e (32,576) 16,531 (54,710)
Other Current assets. . . . .. . vttt (2,123) (1,718) 3,432
Otherassets .. ... .. e (19,999) (3,918)  (12,645)
Accounts payable .. ... ... . ... 23,722 (5,656) (17,109)
Income taxes payable . . . ... ... .. ... ... . L. 12,733 35,711 566
Asbestos settlement liability .. .............. ... ... ....... 512,500 — —
Other current liabilities . . ... ... ... . .. .. .. . ... 25,105 40,279 (8,632)
Other liabilities . . .. ...... .. ... . . 1,857 (1,066) (5,559)
Net cash provided by operating activities .. .................... 323,939 578,693 329,413
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures for property and equipment. ... ................ (91,625) (146,277) (114,197)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment. . . .. ... ... ... ... 5,202 4,352 2,749
Businesses acquired in-purchase transactions, net of cash acquired . . . . . ... (10,465)  (36,007) (237,541)
Net cash used in investing activities . . . . ...................... (96,888) (177,932) (348,989)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-termdebt . . . .. ... .. ... .. .. L L L. 281,351 482,351 661,048
Payment of long-term debt . . . .. .. ... ... o (240,007)  (631,502) (369,661}
Payment of senior debt issuance costs . ... ...... ... ... — (2,241) —_
Termination of interest rate swap agreements . ..................... 2,716 — 642
Net (payments of) proceeds from short-term borrowings . . . ... ... ...... (77,096) (163,756) 129,482
Purchases of treasury common stock . ........... .. .. ... ... ... — —  (22,873)
Purchases of preferred stock. . . ....... ... . . Lo i (28,834)  (18,754) (323,948)
Dividends paid on preferredstock . . .. ........ ... . ... . . ... ... (40,548)  (69,185) (67,880)
Proceeds from stock option exercises . .. ......... ... ... 917 504 861
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities . . ... ........... (101,501) (402,583) 7,671
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents. . ... ........ (12,604) 4,398 9,462
Cash and cash equivalents:
Net change during the period . . .. ...... ... . ... ... ... ....... 112,946 2,576 (2,443)
Balance, beginning of period . ........... ... ... . ... . ... ... 13,805 11,229 13,672
Balance,end of period . . . . ... ... ... $ 126,751 §$ 13,805 $ 11,229

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income
Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 20060
(In thousands of doilars)

2002 2001 2000

Net (loss) €armings . . . ...ttt vt e e $(309,069) $156,697 $225,319
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Minimum pension liability, net of income tax expense (benefit) of
$76, $(477) and $326, in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively . . . . . 25 (716) 481
Unrecognized gain (loss) on derivative instruments, net of income
tax expense (benefit) of $75 and $(79), in 2002 and 2001,

respectively . . .. ... L 102 (131) —
Foreign currency translation adjustments . .................. (14,508)  (19,931) (16,258)
Comprehensive (loss) income ... ... .. .. . ., $(323,450) $135,919 $209,542

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Comnsclidated Financial Statements
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Note 1 General

Sealed Air Corporation (the “Company”), operating through its subsidiaries, is engaged in the
manufacture and sale of a wide range of food, protective and specialty packaging products.

The Company conducts substantially all of its business through two direct wholly-owned subsidiaries,
Cryovac, Inc. and Sealed Air Corporation (US). These two subsidiaries directly and indirectly own
substantially all of the assets of the business and conduct operations themselves and through
subsidiaries around the globe. This corporate structure was established in connection with the Cryovac
Transaction. See Note 18 for a description of the Cryovac Transaction and certain related terms used in
these notes.

Note 2 Summary of Sigrificant Accounting Pelicies

Basis of Consclidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenue and expenses during the period
reported. These estimates include assessing the collectibility of accounts receivable, the use and
recoverability of inventory, the realization of deferred tax assets, useful lives and recoverability of
tangible and intangible assets and accruals for commitments and contingencies, among others.
Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and the effects of revisions are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements in the period they are determined to be necessary. Actual results
could differ from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue earning activities primarily involve manufacturing and selling goods, and
revenues are considered to be earned when the Company has completed the process by which it is
entitled to such revenues. The following criteria are used for revenue recognition: persuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists, shipment has occurred, selling price is fixed or determinable, and collection is
reasonably assured.

Cash and Cask Equivalents

Investments with original maturities of three months or less are considered to be cash equivalents. The
Company’s pclicy is to invest cash in excess of short-term operating and debt service requirements in
such cash equivalents. These instruments are stated at cost, which approximates market value because
of the short maturity of the instruments.
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains accounts receivable allowances for estimated losses resulting from the inability
of its customers to make required payments. Additional allowances may be required if the financial
condition of the Company’s customers deteriorates.

Commitments and Contingencies — Litigation

On an ongoing basis, the Company assesses the potential liabilities related to any lawsuits or claims
brought against the Company. While it is typically very difficult to determine the timing and ultimate
outcome of such actions, the Company uses its best judgment to determine if it is probable that it will
incur an expense related to the settlement or final adjudication of such matters and whether a
reasonable estimation of such probable loss, if any, can be made. In assessing probable losses, the
Company makes estimates of the amount of insurance recoveries, if any. The Company accrues a
liability when it believes a loss is probable and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to
the inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome of litigation and potential insurance
recovery, it is possible that certain matters may be resolved for amounts materially different from any
provisions or disclosures that the Company has previously made.

Self-Insurance

The Company retains the obligation for certain claims and losses related to property, casualty, workers’
compensation and employee benefit claims. The Company accrues for outstanding reported claims,
claims that have been incurred but not reported and projected claims based upon management’s
estimates of the aggregate liability for uninsured claims using historical experience, insurance company
estimates and the estimated trends in claim values. Although management believes it has the ability to
adequately project and record estimated claim payments, it is possible that actual results could differ
significantly from the recorded liabilities.

Pensions

Although the Company maintains a non-contributory profit sharing and contributory thrift and
retirement savings plans in which most U.S. employees of the Company are eligible to participate, the
Company does maintain defined benefit pension plans for certain of its U.S. and non-U.S. employees.
The Company accounts for such pension plans in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (“SFAS No. 87”). Under these
accounting standards, assumptions are made regarding the valuation of benefit obligations and
performance of plan assets. Certain of these assumptions include the discount rate used to measure
future obligations, the expected future rate of return on plan assets, the expected rate of future
compensation increases and various other actuarial assumptions. Changes to these assumptions could
have a significant impact on costs and liabilities recorded under SFAS No. 87.

Financial Instruments

The Company has limited involvement with derivative financial instruments. These financial instruments
generally include cross currency swaps, interest rate swaps, caps and collars and foreign exchange
forward contracts and options relating to the Company’s borrowing and trade activities. Such financial
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instruments are used from time to time to manage the Company’s exposure to fluctuations in interest
rates and foreign exchange rates. The Company does not purchase, hold or sell derivative financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes. The Company is exposed to credit risk if the
counterparties to such transactions are unable to perform their obligations. However, the Company
seeks to minimize such risk by entering into transactions with counterparties that are major financial
institutions with high credit ratings.

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities” as amended by SFAS No. 137 and SFAS No. 138 (“SFAS No. 133”), which
require that all derivative instruments be reported on the balance sheet at fair value and establish
criteria for designation and effectiveness of transactions entered into for hedging purposes. Prior to
entering into any derivative transaction, the Company identifies the specific financial risk to which the
Company is exposed, the appropriate hedging instrument to be used to reduce the risk and the
correlation between the financial risk and the hedging instrument. Purchase orders and historical data
are used as the basis for determining the anticipated values of the transactions to be hedged. The
Company does not enter into derivative transactions that do not have a high correlation with the
underlying financial risk. The Company regularly reviews its hedge positions and the correlation
between the transaction risks and the hedging instruments.

The Company accounts for derivative instruments as hedges of the related underlying risks if such
derivative instruments are designated by the Company as hedges and are effective as hedges of
recognized assets or liabilities, forecasted transactions, unrecognized firm commitments or forecasted
intercompany transactions.

Gains and losses on derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive
income (loss), to the extent that hedges are effective and until the underlying transactions are
recognized in the consolidated statement of operations, at which time such gains and losses are
recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. Gains and losses on qualifying fair value hedges
and the related loss or gain on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in the
consolidated statement of operations.

The Company’s practice is to terminate derivative transactions if the underlying asset or liability
matures or is sold or terminated, or if the underlying forecasted transaction is no longer deemed to be
probable of occurring.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 133, the Company recorded realized and unrealized gains and losses
from foreign exchange hedging instruments (including cross currency swaps, forwards and options)
differently depending on whether the instrument qualified for hedge accounting. Gains and losses on
those foreign exchange instruments that qualified as hedges were deferred as part of the cost basis of
the asset or liability being hedged and were recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in
the same period as the underlying transaction. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on instruments
that did not qualify for hedge accounting were recognized currently in the consolidated statement of
operations. The Company recorded net payments or receipts from interest rate swaps, caps, collars and
the interest rate component of cross currency swaps as adjustments to interest expense on a current
basis. If an interest rate hedging instrument was terminated prior to its maturity date, any gain or loss
would have been amortized into earnings over the shorter of the original term of the derivative
instrument and the remaining term of the underlying transaction.
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Accounts Receivable Securitization

The Company’s two primary U.S. operating subsidiaries sell eligible U.S. accounts receivable to an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company that was formed for the sole purpose of entering
into an accounts receivable securitization program. Such wholly-owned subsidiary in turn sells an
undivided ownership interest in such receivables to a bank or an issuer of commercial paper
administered by that bank. Such wholly-owned subsidiary retains the receivables it purchases from the
two operating subsidiaries, except those as to which interests are sold by it to the bank or to the issuer
of commercial paper. The undivided ownership interest amounts sold are removed from the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets at that time, and the proceeds from the sale are reflected in cash provided
by operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows. The retained receivables are
included in notes and accounts receivable on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, and the
carrying amounts thereof approximate fair value because of the relatively short-term nature of the
receivables. Costs associated with the sale of receivables are included in other income (expense), net, in
the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The cost of most U.S. inventories is determined
on a last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis, while the cost of other inventories is determined on a first-in,
first-out (“FIFQ”) basis.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, except for property and equipment that have been impaired,
for which the carrying amount is reduced to the estimated fair value at the impairment date. Significant
improvements are capitalized; repairs and maintenance costs that do not extend the lives of the assets
are charged to expense as incurred. The cost and accumulated depreciation of assets sold or otherwise
disposed of are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is recognized upon the
disposition of the assets.

The cost of property and equipment is depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis as follows: buildings — 20 to 40 years; machinery and other property and equipment — 3 to
20 years.

Goedwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets
acquired in business combinations over their estimated fair value. Identifiable intangible assets are
included in other assets at cost and consist primarily of patents, licenses, trademarks and non-compete
agreements. They are amortized over the shorter of their legal lives or their estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis, generally ranging from 3 to 20 years. Identifiable intangibles, other than goodwill,
individually and in the aggregate comprise less than 5% of the Company’s consolidated assets.

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations” (“SFAS No. 141”), and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS
No. 142”). SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business
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combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 as well as all purchase method business combinations
completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead be tested for impairment at least annually in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. A review of goodwill may be initiated prior to
conducting the annual analysis if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
goodwill may be impaired. A reporting unit is the operating segment unless, at businesses one level
below that operating segment (the “‘component” level), discrete financial information is prepared and
regularly reviewed by management, and such businesses have economic characteristics that are different
from the economic characteristics of the other components of the operating segments, in which case
such component is the reporting unit. A fair value approach is used to test goodwill for impairment. An
impairment charge is recognized for the amount, if any, by which the carrying amount of goodwill
exceeds its fair value. An estimate of fair values for the Company as a whole and each of the
Company’s reporting units is derived by using discounted cash flows, equity market capitalization and
comparative market multiples. The Company performs this annual test for impairment during the
fourth quarter of each year. This standard also requires that intangible assets with definite useful lives
be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated residual values, and
reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 141 upon issuance and adopted SFAS No. 142
effective January 1, 2002. Any goodwill and any intangible assets determined to have an indefinite
useful life that were acquired in a purchase business combination completed after June 30, 2001 were
not amortized, but were evaluated for impairment. Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in business
combinations completed before July 1, 2001 were amortized through the end of 2001.

Empairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically reviews long-lived assets, other than goodwill, for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Impairments are recognized when the expected future undiscounted cash flows derived
from such assets are less than their carrying value. For such cases, losses are recognized for the
difference between the fair value and the carrying amount. Assets to be disposed of by sale or
abandonment, and where management has the current ability to remove such assets from operations,
are recorded at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost of disposition. Depreciation for
these assets is suspended during the disposal period, which is generally less than one year. Assumptions
and estimates used in the determination of impairment losses, such as future cash flows and disposition
costs, may affect the carrying value of long-lived assets and possible impairment expense in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company follows the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation.” As permitted by SEAS No. 123, the Company continues to follow the measurement
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.”
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Foreign Currency Translation

In non-U.S. locations that are not considered highly inflationary, the balance sheets are translated at
the end of period exchange rates with translation adjustments accumulated in shareholders’ equity.
Statements of operations are translated at the average exchange rates during the applicable period.
Assets and liabilities of the Company’s operations in countries with highly inflationary economies are
translated at the end of period exchange rates, except that certain financial statement amounts are
translated at historical exchange rates. Items included in statements of operations of the Company’s
operations in countries with highly inflationary economies are translated at average rates of exchange
prevailing during the period, except that certain financial statement amounts are translated at historical
exchange rates.

Income Taxes

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return. The
Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries file income tax returns in their respective local jurisdictions. The
Company provides for income taxes on those portions of its foreign subsidiaries’ accumulated earnings
that it believes are not reinvested indefinitely in their businesses.

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and tax
benefit carryforwards. Deferred tax liabilities and assets at the end of each period are determined using
enacted tax rates.

The Company believes that its taxable earnings during the periods when the temporary differences
giving rise to deferred tax assets become deductible or when tax benefit carryforwards may be utilized
should be sufficient to realize the related future income tax benefits. For those jurisdictions where the
expiration date of tax benefit carryforwards or the projected taxable earnings indicate that realization is
not likely, a valuation allowance is provided.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, the Company estimates future taxable earnings, with
consideration for the feasibility of ongoing tax planning strategies and the realizability of tax benefit
carryforwards, to determine which deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized in the
future. Valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets can be impacted by changes to tax laws,
changes to statutory tax rates and future taxable earnings. In the event that actual results differ from
these estimates in future periods, the Company may need to adjust the valuation allowance, which
could materially impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and amounted to $59,283, $55,779 and
854,264 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

(Less) Earnings per Common Share

Basic (loss) earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net (loss) earnings ascribed to
common shareholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding for the period. Net (loss)
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earnings ascribed to common shareholders represents net (loss) earnings plus gains attributable to the
repurchase of preferred stock for an amount below its book value less preferred stock dividends. The
computation of diluted (loss) earnings per common share is similar, except that the weighted average
common shares outstanding for the period are adjusted to reflect the potential issuance of dilutive
shares, and the related change in net (loss) earnings ascribed to common shareholders that would occur
is factored into the calculation.

Environmemntal Expenditures

Environmental expenditures that relate to ongoing business activities are expensed or capitalized, as
appropriate. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations, and which do
not contribute to current or future net sales, are expensed. Liabilities are recorded when the Company
determines that environmental assessments or remediations are probable and that the cost or a range
of costs to the Company associated therewith can be reasonably estimated.

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Note 3 Business Segment Information

The Company operates in two reportable business segments: (i) Food Packaging and (ii) Protective and
Specialty Packaging. The Food Packaging segment comprises primarily the Company’s Cryovac® food
packaging products. The Protective and Specialty Packaging segment includes the aggregation of the
Company’s protective packaging products, engineered products and shrink packaging products, all of
which products are used principally for non-food packaging applications.

The Food Packaging segment includes flexible materials and related systems (shrink bag and film
products, laminated films, and packaging systems marketed primarily under the Cryovac® trademark
for packaging a broad range of perishable foods). This segment also includes rigid packaging and
absorbent pads (foam and solid plastic trays and containers for the packaging of a wide variety of focd
products and absorbent pads used for the packaging of meat, fish and poultry). Net sales of flexible
materials and related systems were: 2002 — $1,657,185; 2001 — $1,592,142; and 2000 — $1,599,230.
Net sales of rigid packaging and absorbent pads were: 2002 — $300,893; 2001 — $288,139; and 2000—
$238,064. Products in this segment are primarily sold to food processors, distributors and food service
businesses.

The Protective and Specialty Packaging segment includes cushioning and surface protection products
(including Bubble Wrap® cushioning and other air cellular cushioning materials, shrink and non-shrink
films principally for non-food applications, polyurethane foam packaging systems sold under the
Instapak® trademark, polyethylene foam sheets and planks, Jiffy® mailers and bags and other
protective and durable mailers and bags, certain paper-based protective packaging materials, suspension
and retention packaging, inflatable packaging, and packaging systems) and other products. Net sales of
cushioning and surface protection products were: 2002 — $1,201,351; 2001 — $1,153,123; and 2000 —
$1,199,059. Net sales of other products for 2002, 2001 and 2000 were approximately 1% of consolidated
net sales. Products in this segment are primarily sold to distributors and manufacturers in a wide
variety of industries.
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2002 2001 2000

Net sales

Food Packaging . .. ..ot e e $1,958,078  $1,880,281  $1,837,294

Protective and Specialty Packaging. . ... ...... ... ... ... .. ... 1,246,178 1,187,201 1,230,420

Total . .. e e $3,204,256  $3,067,482 $3,067,714
Operating profit

Food Packaging . .. ... .. ... ..ttt $ 325284 § 287,701 $ 288,880

Protective and Specialty Packaging . . .. .......... ... .. ... ..... 219,376 210,982 249,684

Total SEEMENTS . . . . . ottt e e 544,660 498,683 538,564

Restructuring and other credits (charges)(1) .. .................. 1,348 (32,805) 1,247

Corporate operating expenses (including goodwill amortization of

$57,005 and $51,776 in 2001 and 2000, respectively) ............. (29,622) (78,487) (71,348)

Total . .. e $ 516,386 $ 387,391 § 468,463
Depreciation and amortization

Food Packaging . ....... ..., $ 105,768 § 105,333 $§ 108,050

Protective and Specialty Packaging. . . .. ....... ... ... ... ... ... 59,187 57,387 58,954

Total SegMENts . . . .ttt e e e 164,955 162,720 167,004

Corporate (including goodwill in 2001 and 2000 and other amortization) . — 57,896 52,637

Total . .. e e e e e $ 164,955 § 220,616 $ 219,641
Capital expenditures

Food Packaging . . . ..o vt oottt e e e $ 61,823 $ 103837 $ 75,773

Protective and Specialty Packaging. . . .. ........... ... ... ... .. 29,802 42,440 38,424

Total . .. e e $ 91625 $ 146277 $ 114,197
Assets(2)

Food Packaging . ...... ... .. .. . $1,476,242  $1,284,080 $1,392,172

Protective and Specialty Packaging. . .. ........ ... .. ... ... . ... 841,037 704,201 734,303

Total segments . . . .. ... . e e 2,317,279 1,988,281 2,126,475

Corporate (including goodwill of $1,926,244, $1,913,000 and $1,959,909

in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively) ............ ... . ...... 1,943,487 1,919,628 1,964,407
Total . . e e $4,260,766  $3,907,909  $4,090,882

(1) Includes a credit of $2,957 for Food Packaging and a charge of $1,609 for Protective and Specialty
Packaging in 2002. In 2001 includes a $21,116 charge related to the Food Packaging segment
(including a net non-cash charge of $1,361) and a $11,689 charge related to the Protective and
Specialty Packaging segment (including a net non-cash charge of $5,926). The 2000 period includes
a non-cash credit of $1,247 related to the Food Packaging segment.

(2) Plant, equipment and other resources of the Food Packaging segment are used to manufacture

films sold by the Protective and Specialty Packaging segment for non-food applications. A

proportionate share of capital expenditures, assets, depreciation and other costs of manufacturing

are allocated to the Protective and Specialty Packaging segment.
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Geographic Information
2002 2001 2000

Net sales:(1)
United States $1,758,761  $1,680,204  $1,689,467
100,805 93,460 92,559
819,531 775,673 762,271
Latin America 217,006 225,573 225,229
Asia Pacific 308,153 292,572 298,188

$3,204,256  $3,067,482  $3,067,714

Total long-lived assets:(1)
United States (2) $2,589,109  $2,606,734  $2,635,928
Canada 27,273 26,999 31,228
328,920 309,211 307,700
Latin America 43,803 63,440 62,120
Asia Pacific 131,160 119,487 126,675

$3,120,265  $3,125,871  $3,163,651

(1) Net sales attributed to the geographic areas represent trade sales to external customers. No
non-U.S. country has net sales in excess of 10% of consolidated net sales or long-lived assets in
excess of 10% of consolidated long-lived assets.

(2) Includes goodwill, net, of $1,926,244, $1,913,000 and $1,959,909 in 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Note 4 Accounts Receivable Securitization

In December 2001, the Company and certain of its U.S. subsidiaries entered into an accounts
receivable securitization program (the “Receivables Facility”’) with a bank (the “Bank”) and an issuer
of commercial paper administered by the Bank (the “ICP”). Under the Receivables Facility, the
Company’s two primary operating subsidiaries, Cryovac, Inc. and Sealed Air Corporation (US) (the
“QOriginators™), sell all of their eligible U.S. accounts receivable to Sealed Air Funding Corporation
(“SA Funding Corp.”), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company that was formed for the
sole purpose of entering into the Receivables Facility. SA Funding Corp. in turn may sell undivided
ownership interests in these receivables (“Receivables Interests”) to the Bank and the ICP, subject to
certain conditions, up to a maximum of $125,000 of Receivables Interests outstanding from time to
time.

SA Funding Corp. retains the receivables it purchases from the Originators, except those as to which
Receivables Interests are sold by it to the Bank or the ICP Sales of accounts receivable by the
Originators to SA Funding Corp. and sales of Receivables Interests from SA Funding Corp. to the
Bank and the ICP have been structured as “true sales” under applicable laws, and the assets of SA
Funding Corp. are not available to pay any creditors of the Company or of its subsidiaries or affiliates.
These transactions are accounted for as sales of receivables under the provisions of SFAS No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities.”
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In order to secure the performance of their obligations under the Receivables Facility, SA Funding
Corp. and the Originators granted a first priority security interest to the Bank, as agent, in certain
collateral, including accounts receivable owned by them and proceeds and collections of those
receivables. The Bank and the ICP have no recourse to the Company’s, the Originators’ or SA Funding
Corp.’s other assets for any losses resulting from the financial inability of customers to pay amounts
due on the receivables when they become due. As long as a termination event with respect to the
Receivables Facility has not occurred, the Originators service, administer and collect the receivables
under the Receivables Facility as agent on behalf of SA Funding Corp., the Bank and the ICP. Prior to
a termination event under the Receivables Facility, collections of receivables not otherwise required to
be paid to the Bank or the ICP are used by SA Funding Corp. to purchase new eligible receivables
from the Originators. The Company has undertaken to cause the Originators to perform their
obligations under the Receivables Facility.

The scheduled expiration date for the Receivables Facility is December 7, 2004. The Bank has extended
its commitment to make purchases of Receivables Interests from SA Funding Corp. from December 7,
2002 to January 26, 2004. However, under the terms of the extension, SA Funding Corp. may not sell
any Receivables Interests to the Bank or the ICP until a definitive settlement agreement, satisfactory to
the Bank, has been entered into relating to the asbestos settlement (see Note 18).

Under certain limited circumstances, the Bank and the ICP can terminate purchases of Receivables
Interests prior to the above dates. Events that could result in termination of the Receivables Facility
include a downgrade of the Company’s long-term senior unsecured debt to BB- or below by
Standard & Poor’s Rating Services (“Standard & Poor’s”) or Ba3 or below by Moody’s Investors
Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), and failure to comply with interest coverage and debt leverage ratios. In
connection with recording the accounting charge in the fourth quarter of 2002 for the asbestos
settlement and related costs, the Company requested and received a waiver of compliance with the
interest coverage and leverage ratios provided for in the Receivables Facility. After reflecting such
waiver, the Company was in compliance with the requirements of the Receivables Facility as of
December 31, 2002. Since such waiver was as of December 31, 2002, the Company anticipates that it
will request a waiver or amendment for future applicable periods.

The Receivables Facility provides for the payment from time to time of program fees which, after the
Bank’s extension of the Facility to January 2004, were 0.45% per annum (0.375% per annum at
December 31, 2002) on the Receivables Interests sold by SA Funding Corp. and commitment fees
which were 0.40% per annum (0.325% per annum at December 31, 2002) on the unused portion of the
$125,000 Receivables Facility.

During 2002, SA Funding Corp. sold Receivables Interests to the ICP from time to time; however, as of
December 31, 2002, neither the Bank nor the ICP held any Receivables Interests.

In December 2001, receivables sold by the Originators to SA Funding Corp. amounted to
approximately $176,900. SA Funding Corp. in turn sold Receivables Interests of $95,600 under the
Receivables Facility, and this amount was removed from the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
This amount was used to pay down certain of the Company’s outstanding borrowings. SA Funding
Corp. retained the remaining $81,300 of receivables that it acquired from the Originators. These
retained receivables at December 31, 2001 were included in notes and accounts receivable on the
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Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The carrying amount of the retained receivables approximates
fair value because of the relatively short-term nature of the receivables.

The costs associated with the Receivables Facility are included in other income (expense), net in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2062 and 2001.
These costs primarily relate to the loss on the sale of the Receivables Interests to the Bank or the ICP,
which were approximately $409 and $75 for 2002 and 2001, respectively, and program and commitment
fees and other associated costs, which were approximately $400 and $343 for 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

Nete 5 Acquisitions

In 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company made several acquisitions (including the acquisitions of Dolphin
Packaging plc and Shanklin Corporation in the third and fourth quarters of 2000, respectively). These
businesses were acquired for cash in the aggregate amount of $10,465, $36,007 and $237,541 in 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively, and were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. These
acquisitions resulted in goodwill of approximately $7,300 in 2002, $16,700 in 2001 and $153,000 in 2000.
In each year, cash used for acquisitions was net of cash acquired in those acquisitions. Cash acquired in
acquisitions was not material in 2002 or 2001 and was $8,589 in 2000. The Company did not assume
any debt in acquisitions in 2002. In 2001 and 2000, the Company assumed approximately $19,000 and
$16,600, respectively, of debt in acquisitions. These acquisitions were not material to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Note 6 Inventories

December 31,
2002 2001

Inventories (at FIFO, which approximates current cost):
Raw materials . ... ..o $ 76,893 §$ 69,312
WOTK In PIOCESS « . . oot e 71,287 65,148
Finished goods . . . .. ... i e e 198,440 174,968
346,620 309,428
Reduction of certain inventories to LIFO basis . ........... ... ... .. ... (17,171)  (20,858)
Total . .. $329,449  $288,570

Inventories accounted for on a LIFO basis represented approximately 40% of total inventories at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Note 7 Property and Equipment

December 31,

2002 2001

Land and improvements . . ..............oueiuriinr.n... $ 27335 § 29,784
Buildings . . ... ... . e 449,945 413,320
Machinery and equipment . . ... ...... ... ... e 1,616,029 1,466,954
Other property and equipment . ............c..coouu.... 119,592 110,666
Construction-in-progress . . . ... oo v vttt 79,560 139,448

2,292,461 2,160,172
Accumulated depreciation and amortization . .. ............. (1,279,444)  (1,109,734)
Property and equipment, net . .. ... ... L. $ 1,013,017 § 1,050,438

Interest cost capitalized during 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $8,100, $6,800 and $3,300, respectively.

Note 8 Other Liabilities

December 31,

2002 2001
Other current liabilities:
Accrued salaries, wages and related costs .. .............. $ 127451 $ 94,145
Accrued Operating expenses . . . .. ... 90,520 90,927
Income taxes payable. .. ........ ... ... ... . . . ... 85,837 71,263
Accrued customer volume rebates . .................... 65,963 49,832
Accrued dividends and interest. . . .............. .. ..... 37,231 22,995
Accrued restructuring costs (Note 10). ... ............... 6,570 19,697
Total. .. e $ 413,572 $§ 348,859

December 31,

2002 2001
Other liabilities:
Other postretirement benefits . ....................... $ 2,470 % 3,082
Non-U.S. statutory social security and pension obligations . . . . 37,128 33,395
Other various liabilities . . ............ ... .. ... ..... 29,382 29,205
Total. .. $ 68980 $ 65,682

Non-U.S. statutory social security and pension obligations primarily represent the present value of the
Company’s unfunded future obligations for certain eligible, active non-U.S. employees based on
actuarial calculations.
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Note 9 Income Taxes

The components of (loss) earnings before income taxes were as follows:

2602 2001 2000
Domestic . . ..o $(561,409) $213,689 $310,361
FOTEIZN . .ot 169,476 83,763 103,068
Total. ..o $(391,933) $297,452 $413,429
The components of the (benefit) provision for income taxes were as follows:
2002 2001 2000
Current tax expense:
Federal . . ... .. e $ 90312 $ 82,124 $ 96,864
State and local . ...... ... ... ... 19,110 17,828 23,498
Foreign . . ... e 64,922 49,886 47,387
Total current . ... ... .. 174,344 149,838 167,749
Deferred tax (benefit) expense:
Federal ... ... .. e (237,952) 2,089 14,769
Stateand local ............ . .. ... .. i .. (22,891) 449 3,668
Foreign . ... e e 3,635 (11,621) 1,924
Total deferred .. ... .. ... . . L (257,208) (9,083) 20,361
Total (benefit) provision . . ......... ... ... ... .. ... .. $ (82,864) $140,755 $188,110

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of the following:

December 31,

2002 2001

Asbestos settlement . ... ... ... ... $ 261,893 § —
Accruals not yet deductible for tax purposes. ... ............ 17,765 22,002
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards and investment tax

AllOWaNCES . .. e 17,659 16,256
Employee benefititems. ... ... ... ... ... ... 12,778 12,226
INVEenIOrIES v o v et e e e e 14,073 10,994
Other. . 6,242 9,165

Gross deferred tax assets . . .. ... ... ... 330,410 70,643

Valuation allowance . . . ....... ... ... (17,521)  (15,956)

Total deferred tax assets . ... ... ... 312,889 54,687
Depreciation and amortization .............. ... ... ..... (108,684) (111,216)
Unremitted foreign earnings . . ........ ... ... ........... (43,673)  (39,645)
Intangibles . . ... .. (27,953)  (27,021)
Pension . ....... ... .. ... (18,605)  (19,008)
Capitalized INEETESt . . . . . ..o i ittt e (8,617)  (10,166)
Other. . . (14,794)  (12,228)

Total deferred tax liabilities .. ........................ (222,326) (219,284

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) . ................... . $ 90563 $(164,597)
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Note 9 Income Taxes (Continued)

The U.S. federal statutory corporate tax rate reconciles to the Company’s effective tax rate as follows:

2002

Statutory U.S. federal taxrate . ........ ... ... ... ... (35.0)%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit.................. ... ... (0.6)
Income taxes on foreign earnings . ............. ... ... 1.6
Goodwill amortization . . ..... ... ... —
Asbestos settlement . .. ... ... 11.5
Non-deductible expenses . ........ ... . . . . . 14

Effective tax rate . ... ... ... ... .. (21.1)%

2001

35.0%
4.0
1.6
6.2

05
473%

2000

The Company has concluded that it is more likely than not that the $312,889 balance of deferred tax

assets, net of the valuation allowance of $17,521 at December 31, 2002, will be realized based upon

anticipated future results. The valuation allowance is related to the uncertainty of utilizing $27,898 of

foreign net operating loss carryforwards ($8,111 tax effected) and $33,603 of foreign investment tax

allowances ($9,410 tax effected) that have no expiration period.

The Company provides for income taxes on those portions of its foreign subsidiaries’ accumulated

earnings that it believes are not reinvested indefinitely in their businesses. As of December 31, 2002,

the Company has provided $43,673 of taxes in respect of such accumulated earnings.

Note 10 Restructuring Costs and Other Charges
2001 Restructuring Program

During 2001, based primarily on weakening economic conditions, especially in the U.S., the Company
conducted a review of its business to reduce costs and expenses, simplify business processes and
organizational structure, and to refine further the Company’s manufacturing operations and product
offerings. As a result of such review, which was completed in the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company
announced and began implementing a restructuring program that resulted in charges to operations of

$32,805 for 2001. Such charges included the following:

Year Ended
December 31, 2001
Employee termination COStS . . . .. oo vt vt $23,877
Facility exit cOStS . .. . ... . 1,641
Long-lived asset impairments . . ... ... ...ttt 7,287
TOtal . . . e $32.805

The portion of this restructuring charge related to the Company’s food packaging segment was $21,116

and the portion applicable to the protective and specialty packaging segment was $11,689.

The Company originally expected to incur $25,518 of cash outlays to carry out this restructuring
program. Such cash outlays included primarily severance and other personnel-related costs as well as

lease and other contractual arrangement termination costs. As of December 31, 2002, the Company

had made total cash payments of approximately $17,600, of which approximately $11,779 were made in
2002 and $5,821 were made in 2001. The cash restructuring liability recorded in 2001 of $25,518 was
adjusted in 2002 for a net credit of $1,348, discussed below. After such cash outlays and the net credit,
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Note 10 Restructuring Costs and Other Charges (Continued)

the restructuring liability at December 31, 2002 was $6,570, representing cash outlays expected to be
made in 2003 and future years, primarily for severance-related costs. The 2001 restructuring program
was substantially completed at December 31, 2002.

The long-lived asset impairment of $7,287 included the following write-downs and write-offs:

Year Ended
December 31, 2601

Property, plant and equipment . .............. ... ... $3,877
Goodwill .. ... . e 3,342
Certain other long-lived assets . ............... ... ... ... ... 68
Total ... $7.287

These long-lived asset impairments related to decisions to rationalize and realign production of certain
small product lines and to close several manufacturing and warehouse facilities in North America,
Europe, South Africa and the Asia Pacific region. The annual reduction of depreciation and
amortization expense as a result of such asset impairments was $365. The Company has disposed of all
of the above property, plant and equipment.

During 2002, the Company made an adjustment to the original 2001 restructuring provision, resulting
in a net credit to the consolidated statement of operations of $1,348, The portion of this net credit
related to the Company’s food packaging segment amounted to a credit of $2,957, while the portion
applicable to the protective and specialty packaging segment amounted to a charge of $1,609. Such
adjustment resulted from the completion of certain actions for amounts different than expected, certain
headcount reductions obtained through attrition, and the revision of a plan to shut down one of the
Company’s manufacturing facilities.

As a result of the 2002 adjustments to the 2001 restructuring program, the Company now expects a net
reduction in headcount of approximately 440 positions. This program originally estimated a net
headcount reduction of approximately 470. The revised net headcount reduction was reduced by
approximately 30 positions that were eliminated by attrition. This net reduction consists of the
elimination of 677 positions from all geographic areas in which the Company does business but
primarily from its manufacturing, sales and marketing functions in North America and Europe. As of
December 31, 2002, 657 of these 677 positions had been eliminated. The Company also anticipates the
addition of 237 positions in connection with its realignment or relocation of certain manufacturing
activities,
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Neote 10 Restructuring Costs and Other Charges (Continued)

The components of the restructuring charges, spending and other activity through December 31, 2002
and the remaining liability balance at December 31, 2002 were as follows:

Employee Plant/Office Exit

Termination Costs Cost Total Cost
Restructuring liability recorded in 2001 . . ..., ......... $ 23,877 $1,641 $ 25,518
Cash payments during 2001 .. .............. .. .. ... (5,644) 77 (5,821)
Restructuring liability at December 31,2001 ........... 18,233 1,464 19,697
Reversal of restructuring liability, net .. .............. (1,285) (63) (1,348)
Cash payments during 2002 . .. .................... (11,118) (661) (11,779)
Restructuring liability at December 31,2002 ........... $ 5,830 $ 740 $ 6,570

1998 Restructuring Program

All restructuring actions related to the 1998 restructuring program, consisting of final cash outlays for
severance and other personnel-related costs, were completed during 2001 as follows:

Employee

Termination Costs
Restructuring liability at December 31,2000 ................. $ 537
Payments during 2001 . . . .. ... (537)
Restructuring liability at December 31,2001 ................. § —

Note 11 Employee Benefits and Incentive Programs
Profit-Sharing and Retirement Savings Plans

The Company has a non-contributory profit-sharing plan covering most of the Company’s U.S.
employees. Contributions to this plan, which are made at the discretion of the Board of Directors, may
be made in cash, shares of the Company’s common stock, or in a combination of cash and shares of
the Company’s common stock. The Company also maintains contributory thrift and retirement savings
plans in which most U.S. employees of the Company are eligible to participate. The contributory thrift
and retirement savings plans generally provide for Company contributions based upon the amount
contributed to the plans by the participants. Company contributions to or provisions for its profit-
sharing and retirement savings plans are charged to operations and amounted to $36,248, $26,064 and
$22,004 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. In 2002 and 2001, there were no shares of common stock
issued for the Company’s contribution to its profit-sharing plan. The value of shares of common stock
issued as part of the Company’s contribution to the profit-sharing plan in 2000 was $13,877.

Pension Plans

The Company maintains pension plans for certain U.S. employees, including certain employees who are
covered by collective bargaining agreements. Net periodic pension costs for all U.S. defined benefit
pension plans charged to operations during 2002, 2001 and 2000 amounted to $1,008, $850 and $624,
respectively. The balance sheets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 include prepaid pension assets of
$12,172 and $7,829, respectively. The aggregate benefit obligation at December 31, 2002 and 2001
amounted to $23,808 and $19,671, respectively, while the fair value of plan assets at such dates
amounted to $21,046 and $18,862, respectively.
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Note 11 Employee Benefits and Incentive Programs (Continued)

Certain of the Company’s non-U.S. employees participate in defined benefit pension plans in their
respective countries. The following presents the Company’s funded status for 2002 and 2001 under

SFAS No. 132 for its non-U.S. pension plans.

2002 2091

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of period $133,830 $137,126

Service cost

Interest cost

Plan amendment

Actuarial (gain) loss (10,926)
Plan merger (140)

4,901
7,912

873

Curtailment gain — (1,042)
Benefits paid (7,612)  (10,864)

Employee contributions 1,145

926

Foreign exchange impact 15,064 (6,002)

Benefit obligation at end of period $144,682 $133,830

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period .. .............. . ...... $125,711 $150,478
Planmerger . .. ... ... . e (140) —
Actual losson planmassets . .. ... .. L e (17,412) (9,796)
Employer contributions. . . ... . ... 10,341 1,809
Benefits paid . ... ... .. e (7,612)  (10,864)
Assets transferred to defined contribution plan . ............. ... ...... (1,228) (509)
Employee contributions .. .......... ... 1,145 926
Foreign exchange impact. . . ... ... ... . .. 10,979 (6,333)
Fair value of plan assets atend of period . . . ............... ... .. .... $121,784 $125,711
Funded status:
Plan assets less than benefit obligation. ... ......... .. ... ... ... .. ..... $(22,897) § (8,119)
Unrecognized net obligation . . .......... .. . . .. . 255 286
Unrecognized net prior SEIVICE COSt. . . . v v v vi vttt et i e e 990 712
Unrecognized net actuarial loss . . . .. ... .. o 58,699 39,320
Net asset recognized at end of period . . ........ .. ... . ... . i $ 37,047 $ 32,199
Amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consists of:
Prepaid benefit COSt . . ..o oottt e $ 63,408 §$ 53,039
Accrued benefit lability . ......... ... . . . L (30,538)  (25,131)
Intangible @SSEt . . . .ot e 550 563
Accumulated other comprehensive income . ... ... .. .o e 3,627 3,728
Net amount recogized . . . ..ot e $ 37,047 $ 32,199
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Note 11 Employee Benefits and Incentive Programs (Continued)

The following presents the Company’s pension expense for 2002, 2001 and 2000 under SFAS No. 132
for its non-U.S. pension plans.

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Components of net periodic benefit cost:

SEIVICE COSt. . o v i it e e e $ 4,841 $ 4901 $ 6,754
INEErest COSE . . v v vt i e e 8,035 7,912 7,350
Expected returnon plan assets. . . .. .......... . L. (10,450) (12,364) (13,060)
Amortization of obligation (asset) . ........... .. ......... 78 36 (159)
Amortization of prior service cost. . .. .. ... .. ... 135 110 115
Amortization of net actuarial loss . . . ..................... 2,779 583 326
Net periodic pension cost . . . ....... ... it $ 5418 $ 1,178 $ 1,366

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for
non-U.S. pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $41,831,
$36,186 and $8,596 as of December 31, 2002, respectively, and $26,733, $24,009 and $7,612 as of
December 31, 2001, respectively.

The following significant assumptions were used in calculating the non-U.S. pension cost and funded
status presented above:

2002 2001 2000
Discount rate at December 31 .. ........ ... ... .. .. ... ..... 5.5% 5.8% 5.9%
Expected long-term rate of return . . . . .. ... ... L. 7.9% 8.1% 8.6%
Rate of compensation increase . ...................cou.. .. 3.4% 3.5% 3.9%

Note 12 Debt
A summary of debt at December 31, 2002 and 2001 follows:

December 31, December 31,

2002 2601
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt:
Short-term bOITOWINES . . . . . oo $ 53,355 $135,548
Current portion of long-termdebt . .. ... ... ... ......... 2,049 1,943
Total current debt . . . .. . e e 55,404 137,491
Long-term debt, less current portion:
Revolving Credit Agreement due March 2003 .. ............. — 7,539
5.625% Euro Notes due July 2006, less discount
of $790 and $844 in 2002 and 2001, respectively(1) 205,228 175,666
8.75% Senior Notes due July 2008, less discount
of $1,201 and $3,999 in 2002 and 2001, respectively 298,799 296,001
6.95% Senior Notes due May 2009, less discount
of $1,550 and $1,736 in 2002 and 2001, respectively 298,450 298,264
Other .. ... 65,553 10,641
Total long-term debt, less current portion. . . . ................ 868,030 788,111
Total debt .. ... o e $923,434 $925,602

(1) The carrying value of the Euro Notes increased approximately $29,000, primarily as a result of the
strengthening of the euro compared to the U.S. dollar during 2002.
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Note 12 Debt (Continued)

In March 2002, the Company refinanced a portion of its short-term borrowings in Australia and New
Zealand under an Australian dollar 175,000 (approximately U.S. $92,300 at the then current exchange
rate) dual-currency revolving credit facility that expires on March 12, 2005 (the “ANZ Facility”). This
facility was made available to certain of the Company’s Australian and New Zealand subsidiaries by a
syndicate of banks, and such borrowings are guaranteed by the Company. The amount outstanding
under this facility at December 31, 2002 was approximately $57,500. Such amount is included in other
long-term debt in the table above.

Substantially all the Company’s short-term borrowings of $53,355 at December 31, 2002 were
outstanding under lines of credit available to various of the Company’s U.S. and foreign subsidiaries.
Amounts available under these credit lines as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 were approximately
$209,000 and $326,000, respectively, of which approximately $155,000 and $190,000, respectively, were
unused.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had available committed and uncommitted lines of
credit, including the credit lines discussed above, of approximately $832,000 and $1,046,000,
respectively, of which approximately $721,000 and $903,000, respectively, were unused. Such credit lines
include amounts available under the 2003 Facility (defined below), the 364-Day Facility (defined below)
at December 31, 2001 and other lines of credit available to the Company’s subsidiaries. As of
December 31, 2002, the total lines of credit of $832,000 include committed lines of credit of
approximately $622,000 and uncommitted lines of credit of approximately $210,000. Such committed
lines of credit primarily include the 2003 Facility and the ANZ Facility. The Company is not subject to
any material compensating balance requirements in connection with its lines of credit.

At December 31, 2002, the Company’s principal revolving credit facility was a $525,000 facility that
expires on March 30, 2003 (the “2003 Facility”). The 2003 Facility provides that the Company and
certain of its subsidiaries may borrow for various purposes until the expiration or earlier termination of
such Facility, including the refinancing of existing debt, the provision of working capital and other
general corporate needs, including acquisitions, repurchases of the Company’s outstanding common and
preferred stock and capital expenditures.

Amounts repaid under the 2003 Facility may be re-borrowed from time to time prior to the expiration
or earlier termination of the Facility. As of December 31, 2002, facility fees were payable at the rate of
$.095% per annum under the 2003 Facility on the total amounts available under the credit facility.

The obligations under the 2003 Facility bear interest at floating rates. The floating rates are generally
determined by adding the applicable borrowing margin to the interbank rate for the relevant currency
and time period. The weighted average interest rate for outstanding borrowings under the 2003 Facility
was approximately 4.2% at December 31, 2001. There were no borrowings outstanding under the 2003
Facility as of December 31, 2002.

The 2003 Facility provides for changes in borrowing margins based on the Company’s long-term senior
unsecured debt ratings and certain financial criteria. The 2003 Facility, the ANZ Facility, the Euro
Notes, the 8.75% Senior Notes and the 6.95% Senior Notes impose limitations on the operations of the
Company and certain of its subsidiaries. These limitations include, depending upon the debt in
question, financial covenants relating to interest coverage and debt leverage as well as restrictions on
the incurrence of additional indebtedness, the creation of liens, sale and leaseback transactions,
mergers and acquisitions and certain dispositions of assets. In connection with recording the accounting
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Note 12 Debt (Continued)

charge in the fourth quarter of 2002 for the asbestos settlement and related costs, the Company
requested and received a waiver of compliance with the interest coverage and leverage ratios provided
for in the 2003 Facility. After reflecting such waiver, the Company was in compliance with the
requirements of each of the above instruments as of December 31, 2002.

The Company had a 364-day $194,375 revolving credit facility (the “364-Day Facility”) that the
Company allowed to expire on March 22, 2002. No borrowings were outstanding under this Facility at
the time of its expiration or at December 31, 2001,

Scheduled annual maturities of long-term debt, exclusive of debt discounts, for the five years
subsequent to December 31, 2002 are as follows: 2003 — $2,049; 2004 — $2,013; 2005 — $59,973;
2006 — $207,235; 2007 — $1,067; and thereafter — $601,283.

Note 13 Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities” as amended by SFAS No. 137 and SFAS No. 138 (“SFAS No. 133”), which
requires that all derivative instruments be reported on the balance sheet at fair value and establishes
criteria for designation and effectiveness of transactions entered into for hedging purposes. The
cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 133 was not material to the Company’s 2001 consolidated
financial statements.

The Company is exposed to market risk, such as fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and
changes in interest rates. To manage the volatility relating to these exposures, the Company enters into
various derivative instruments from time to time pursuant to its risk management policies. Designation
of derivative instruments as hedges is performed on a transaction basis to support hedge accounting.
The changes in fair value of these hedging instruments are offset in part or in whole by corresponding
changes in the fair value or cash flows of the underlying exposures being hedged. The Company
assesses the initial and ongoing effectiveness of its hedging relationships in accordance with its
documented policy. The Company does not purchase, hold or sell derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes.

The Company’s subsidiaries have foreign currency exchange exposure from buying and selling in
currencies other than their functional currencies. The primary purpose of the Company’s foreign
currency hedging activities is to manage the potential changes in value associated with the amounts
receivable or payable on transactions denominated in foreign currencies. At December 31, 2002 and
2001, the Company was party to foreign currency forward contracts, with aggregate notional amounts of
approximately $146,910 maturing through April 2003 and $266,900, which matured through June 2002,
respectively. Such contracts qualified and were designated as cash flow hedges, and had original
maturities of less than twelve months.

In June 2002, the Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements (with a total notional
amount of $50,000) that were qualified and designated as fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS
No. 133. These agreements were entered into in order to, among other things, convert a portion of the
8.75% Senior Notes fixed rate debt into floating rate debt. During September 2002, the Company
terminated these swaps and reflected a basis adjustment to the 8.75% Senior Notes for a portion of the
cash received of approximately $2,416. Such amount is being amortized and reflected as a component
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Note 13 Derivatives and Hedging Activities (Continued)

of interest expense over the remaining life of the 8.75% Senior Notes. The Company was not party to
any interest rate swap agreements at December 31, 2002 or 2001.

The Company may use other derivative instruments from time to time, such as options and collars to
manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange options to manage exposure to
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, and interest rate and currency swaps to gain access to additional
sources of international financing while limiting foreign exchange exposure and limiting or adjusting
interest rate exposure by swapping borrowings in one currency for borrowings denominated in another
currency.

Gains and losses on derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive
(loss) income, to the extent that such hedges are effective and until the underlying transactions are
recognized in earnings, at which time such gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated
statement of operations. Included in other comprehensive (loss) income for the years ended

December 31, 2002 and 2001 were net unrealized losses of $29 after tax ($33 pre-tax), and net
unrealized losses of $131 after tax ($210 pre-tax), respectively, all of which are expected to be included
in the consolidated statement of operations within the next twelve months when the underlying
transactions are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. The unrealized amounts in
other comprehensive (loss) income will fluctuate based on changes in the fair value of open contracts
during each reporting period. The Company’s practice is to terminate derivative transactions if the
underlying asset or liability matures or is sold or terminated, or if the underlying forecasted transaction
is no longer deemed to be probable of occurring. The Company’s cash flow hedges for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001 were effective.

The Company is exposed to credit losses if the counterparties to its outstanding derivative contracts are
unable to perform their obligations. However, it does not expect any counterparties to fail to perform
as they are major financial institutions with high credit ratings and financial strength. Nevertheless,
there is a risk that the Company’s exposure to losses arising out of derivative contracts could be
material if the counterparties to such agreements fail to perform their obligations.

Note 14 Financial Instruments

The Company is required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
to disclose its estimate of the fair value of material financial instruments, including those recorded as
assets or liabilities in its consolidated financial statements and derivative financial instruments. The
carrying amounts of current assets and liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term
maturities. The fair value of the Company’s 8.75% Senior Notes, 6.95% Senior Notes, Euro Notes and
Series A convertible preferred stock are based on quoted market prices. The fair value estimates of the
Company’s various other debt instruments were derived by evaluating the nature and terms of each
instrument, considering prevailing economic and market conditions, and examining the cost of similar
debt offered at the balance sheet date. Such estimates are subjective and involve uncertainties and
matters of significant judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in
assumptions could significantly affect the Company’s estimates. The fair values of the Company’s
various derivative instruments, which are based on current market rates, generally reflect the estimated
amounts that the Company would receive or pay to terminate the contracts at the reporting date.
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All financial instruments inherently expose the holders to market risk, including changes in currency
and interest rates. The Company manages its exposure to these market risks through its regular
operating and financing activities and, when it considers appropriate, through the use of derivative
financial instruments.

The Company uses derivative financial instruments from time to time to manage its exposure to
fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The Company does not purchase, hold or sell
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. For further discussion of derivative instruments
relating to the implementation of SFAS No. 133 see Note 13.

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at
December 31, 2002 and 2001 were as follows:

2002 2001
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Derivative financial assets:
Foreign currency forward contracts. .. ........ $ — § — $ 523§ 523
Derivative financial liabilities:
Foreign currency forward contracts. . ... ...... $ 33 § 33§ 210 $ 210
Financial liabilities:
Debt:
Credit Agreements . . .. ................. $ — 3 — $ 75539 $ 7539
875% Senior Notes . .. ................. 298,799 333,000 296,001 303,075
6.95% Senior Notes . . .................. 298,450 306,000 298,264 275,229
EuroNotes . .......... . .. 205,228 196,747 175,666 156,370
Other foreignloans .................... 117,469 116,404 143,828 142,622
Otherloans . .......... .. ... .. 3,488 6,105 4,304 4,599
Total debt . .......... . .. $ 923,434 § 958,256 $ 925,602 § 889,434
Series A convertible preferred stock. . .......... $1,327,005 $1,130,608 $1,366,154 $1,132,542

The fair value of the debt in the table above differs from the carrying amount due to changes in
interest rates based on the market conditions as of December 31, 2002. Generally, the fair value of
fixed rate debt will increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise. The carrying value
of the Series A convertible preferred stock in the table above is reflected in the consolidated balance
sheets at its mandatory redemption value of $50.00 per share. See Note 15 for further discussion of the
convertible preferred stock.

The Company’s subsidiaries have foreign currency exchange exposure from buying and selling in
currencies other than their functional currencies. The primary purpose of the Company’s foreign
currency hedging activities is to manage the potential changes in value associated with the amounts
receivable or payable on transactions denominated in foreign currencies. At December 31, 2002 and
2001, the Company was party to foreign currency forward contracts, with aggregate notional amounts of
approximately $146,910 maturing through April 2003 and $266,900, which matured through June 2002,
respectively.
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Note 15 Shareholders’ Equity

Common Stock

The following is a summary of changes during 2002, 2001 and 2000 in shares of common stock:

2002 2001 2000

Changes in common stock:

Number of shares, beginning of year .. ................. 84,494,504 84,352,492 84,135,255
Shares issued for contingent stock . . ....... ... ... .. ... 238,900 113,950 183,050
Non-cash compensation .. ..............couuiiineneinn. 2,605 7,926 10,800
Conversion of preferred stock . . ............ .. .. ..., 427 139 1,008
Exercise of stock options . . ..., .. ... . oL 27,911 19,997 22,379
Number of shares issued, end of year .................. 84,764,347 84,494,504 84,352,492
Changes in common stock in treasury:
Number of shares held, beginning of year ... ............ 717,615 706,265 535,356
Contingent stock forfeited. . .. ...... ... ... . ... ..... 5,800 11,850 21,550
Purchase of shares during period. .. ................... — — 494,737
Non-cash compensation .. .......................... — (500) (60,000)
Profit sharing contribution . ............ ... .. ... ..., — — (285,378)
Number of shares held, end of year. ... ................ 723,415 717,615 706,265

Contingent Stock Plan and Directors Stock Plan

The Company’s contingent stock plan provides for the granting to employees of awards to purchase
common stock (during the succeeding 60-day period) for less than 100% of fair market value at the
date of award. Shares issued under the contingent stock plan (“contingent stock”) are restricted as to
disposition by the holders for a period of at least three years after award. In the event of termination
of employment prior to lapse of the restriction, the shares are subject to an option to repurchase by the
Company at the price at which the shares were issued. Such restriction lapses prior to the expiration of
the vesting pericd if certain events occur that affect the existence or control of the Company. The
aggregate fair value of contingent stock issued is credited to common stock and additional paid-in
capital accounts, and the unamortized portion of the compensation is deducted from shareholders’
equity. The excess of fair value over the award price of contingent stock is charged to operations as
compensation expense over a three-year period. Such charges amounted to $7,847, $9,962, and $16,015
in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Non-cash compensation in 2002 comprises shares issued to non-employee directors in the form of
awards under the Company’s 2002 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the “2002 Directors Stock
Plan”), which was approved by the stockholders of the Company at the 2002 annual meeting. The 2002
Directors Stock Plan provides for annual grants of shares to non-employee directors, and interim grants
of shares to eligible directors elected at times other than at an annual meeting, at a price per share
equal to the par value of the shares, as all or part of the annual or interim retainer fees for
non-employee directors. During 2002, the Company adopted a plan that permits non-employee
directors to elect to defer all or part of their annual retainer until the non-employee director retires
from the Board. The non-employee director can elect to defer the portion of the annual retainer
payable in shares of stock. If such an election is made, the non-employee director may also elect to
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Note 15 Shareholders’ Equity (Continued)

defer the portion, if any, of the annual retainer payable in cash. The excess of fair value over the price
at which shares are issued under this plan is charged to operations at the date of such grant. Such
charge amounted to $352 in 2002.

In 2001 and 2000, the Company made grants of shares to non-employee directors at a price of $1.00
per share under the then-effective Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the “1998
Directors Stock Plan”), which was terminated when the 2002 Directors Stock Plan was approved. The
excess of fair value over the price at which shares are issued under this plan is charged to operations at
the date of such grant. Such charges amounted to $367 and $587 in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Shares
issued under both plans are restricted as to disposition by the holders as long as such holders remain
directors of the Company.

Amortization expense related to the issuance of 60,000 and 50,000 shares in 2000 and 1999,
respectively, of the Company’s common stock in exchange for certain non-employee consulting services
was $1,639, $1,639 and $1,474, in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Such shares vest ratably over a
three to five year period and are amortized on a straightline basis.

The Company has adopted only the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation,” but applies APB No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for these
plans. Since the compensation cost noted above is consistent with the compensation cost that would
have been recognized for such plans under the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the pro forma disclosure
requirements under such statement are not applicable for these plans.

A summary of the changes in shares available for the Contingent Stock Plan and the Directors Stock
Plan follows:

2002 2001 2000
Changes in Contingent Stock Plan shares:
Number of shares available, beginning of year ... ......... 1,484,450 1,587,050 1,748,550
Shares issued fornew awards . .......... ... ... . .... (238,900)  (114,450)  (183,050)
Contingent stock forfeited . . . .......... .. ... .......... 5,800 11,850 21,550
Number of shares available, end ofyear ................ 1,251,350 1,484,450 1,587,050
Weighted average per share market value of stock on grant
date . ... . e $ 3027 $ 4044 § 4896
Changes in Directors Stock Plan shares:
Number of shares available, beginning of year ... ......... 55,800 64,200 75,000
Shares no longer available under the 1998 Directors Stock
Plan . .. ... (55,800) — —
Shares available under the 2002 Directors Stock Plan . .. . ... 100,000 — —
Shares granted and issued . . .. ... ... .. .. ... ... (2,605) (8,400) (10,800)
Shares granted and deferred . .. .......... ... ... ... ... (5,293) — —
Number of shares available, end of year ................ 92,102 55,800 64,200
Weighted average per share market value of stock on grant
date . .. $ 4465 $ 4465 § 5531
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Redeemable Preferred Stock — Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company’s Series A preferred stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and is convertible
at any time into approximately 0.885 of a share of common stock for each share of preferred stock.
These shares vote with the common stock on an as-converted basis and are entitled to receive
cumulative cash dividends, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, at an annual rate of $2.00
per share, payable quarterly in arrears on the first business day of the succeeding calendar quarter. The
Series A preferred stock ranks senior to the Company’s common stock and junior to the Company’s
indebtedness. On and after March 31, 2003, the Series A preferred stock is redeemable at the option of
the Company at a price of $51.00 per share declining ratably on each March 31 thereafter to $50.00 per
share on and after March 31, 2008, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends. The Series A preferred
stock is subject to mandatory redemption on March 31, 2018 at $50.00 per share, plus any accrued and
unpaid dividends, to the extent these shares remain outstanding.

Because it is subject to mandatory redemption, the Series A convertible preferred stock is classified
outside of the shareholders’ equity section of the consolidated balance sheets. At its date of issuance,
the fair value of the Series A preferred stock exceeded its mandatory redemption amount primarily due
to the common stock conversion feature. Accordingly, the book value of the Series A preferred stock is
reflected in the consolidated balance sheets at its mandatory redemption value.

During 2002, the Company repurchased 782,500 shares of the Company’s convertible preferred stock at
a cost of approximately $28,834, representing a cost of approximately $10,291 below its book value.
During 2001, the Company repurchased 524,220 shares of the Company’s convertible preferred stock at
a cost of approximately $18,754, representing a cost of approximately $7,456 below its book value. This
excess of book value over the purchase price of the preferred stock was recorded as an increase to
additional paid-in-capital.

The following is a summary of changes during 2002, 2001 and 2000 in shares of the Company’s

Series A preferred stock:

2002 2001 2000

Changes in preferred stock:

Number of skares issued, beginning of year .. ............ 27,358,084 28,282,362 36,015,645

Conversion of preferred stock . .. .......... ... ... .... (485) (158) (1,146)

Retired repurchased preferred stock ................... — (924,120) (7,732,137)

Number of shares issued, end of year .................. 27,357,599 27,358,084 28,282,362
Changes in preferred stock in treasury:

Number of shares held, beginning of year .. ... .......... 35,000 434,900 782,400

Purchase of shares during period . . .................... 782,500 524,220 7,384,637

Retired repuichased preferred stock . ............. .. ... — (924,120) (7,732,137)

Number of shares held, end of year. . .................. 817,500 35,000 434,900

Stock Options

Stock option plans in which certain employees of the Cryovac packaging business participated were
terminated effective March 31, 1998 in connection with the Cryovac Transaction except with respect to
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options that remained outstanding as of such date, which were granted at an exercise price equal to
their fair market value on the date of grant. Such options have terms expiring up to March 2007.

During 2002, 2001 and 2000, 27,911, 19,997 and 22,379 options, respectively, were exercised with an
aggregate exercise price of $917, $504 and $860, respectively. At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
335,992, 371,178 and 395,116 options, respectively, to purchase shares of common stock were
outstanding at an average per share exercise price of $38.66, $38.28 and $37.66, respectively.

The pro forma effect on earnings and earnings per common share of applying SFAS No. 123 for those
options outstanding at the time of the termination of the plans were as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2000
Net earnings ascribed to common shareholders:
AS TepOrted . . . e $206,366
Proforma(l) . . ... ... $206,191
Basic earnings per common share:
ASTEPOIEd . o o . $ 247
Proforma(l) . ... ..o $ 246
Diluted earnings per common share:
AsTepOTted . . o oo $ 193
Proforma(l) . . ... . $ 193

(1) These pro forma amounts calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 123 may not be indicative of
future net earnings or earnings per common share effects.

All options outstanding upon the termination of the plans in 1998 fully vested prior to January 1, 2001;
therefore, there is no pro forma effect on earnings and earnings per common share as a result of
applying SFAS No. 123 for subsequent years.

To compute the pro forma effect on earnings and earnings per common share in the table above, the
fair value of 1997 option grants, the last year in which options were granted before termination of the
plans, after giving effect to adjustments provided for in the Cryovac Transaction, was estimated using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following historical weighted average assumptions:
dividend yields of 1%; expected volatility of 29%; risk-free interest rates of 6%; and 4 years of
expected life.

Based on the above assumptions, the weighted-average fair value of each option granted in 1997 was
$10.60 after giving effect to the Cryovac Transaction.

Note 16 Supplementary Cash Flow Information

2002 2001 2000
Interest payments, net of amounts capitalized ................ $ 64,541 § 65,225 $ 55,384
Income tax payments . .. ... .o v v i e $165,118 $141,661  $176,235
Non-cash items:
Issuance of shares of common stock to the profit sharing plan . ... $ — 3 —  $ 13,877
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Note 17 (Loss) Earnings Per Common Share

In calculating diluted (loss) earnings per common share, the weighted average number of common
shares assumes the exercise of dilutive stock options in 2000 as well as the shares of preferred stock
repurchased in each year. The shares of common stock reserved for issuance related to the asbestos
settlement are not reflected in the 2002 loss per common share calculations since the effect would be
anti-dilutive (i.e., would reduce the loss per common share). Except as noted in the table below, the
outstanding preferred stock is not assumed to be converted in the calculation of diluted (loss) earnings
per common share because the treatment of the preferred stock as the common stock into which it is
convertible would be anti-dilutive (i.e., would reduce the loss per common share or increase earnings
per common share) in those years.

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per common share
computations for the years ended December 31, 20062, 2001 and 2000 (shares in thousands).

2002 2001 2000

Basic EPS:

Numerator

Net (10S8) @ATMINES « « « v v v oot et e e $(309,069) $156,697 $225,319
Add: Excess of book value over repurchase price of preferred stock . ..... .. 10,291 7,456 45,283
Less: Preferred stock dividends . . ... . ... i e 53,845 55,024 64,266
Net (loss) earnings ascribed to common shareholders — basic ... ......... $(352,623) $109,129 $206,336
Denominator

Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic . . .. ............. 83,930 83,692 83,672
Basic (loss) earnings per common share . ............ ... ... ... ... $ (4200 § 130 $ 247
Diluted EPS:

Numerator

Net (loss) earnings ascribed to common shareholders — basic . ........... $(352,623) $109,129 $206,336
Add: Dividends associated with repurchased preferred stock. . .. ... ....... 772 302 8,423
Less: Excess of book value over repurchase price of preferred stock . ... .. .. 10,291 7,456 45,283
Net (loss) earnings ascribed to common shareholders — diluted . .. ... ... .. $(362,142) $101,975 $169,476
Denominater

Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic . . ............... 83,930 83,692 83,672
Effect of conversion of repurchased preferredstock ................... 358 208 4,189
Effect of assumed exercise of options . .. ......... ... ... .. . ... — — 90
Weighted average common shares outstanding — diluted . . . .. ........... 84,288 83,900 87,951
Diluted (loss) earnings per common share(1) . . ... ................... $ (4300 $§ 122 $ 193

(1) For the purpose of calculating diluted (loss) earnings per common share, net (loss) earnings ascribed to
common shareholders have been adjusted to exclude the gains attributable to the repurchase of preferred
stock and to add back dividends attributable to such repurchased preferred stock in each period, and the
weighted average common shares outstanding have been adjusted to assume conversion of the shares of
preferred stock repurchased during each period in accordance with the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force
Topic D-53 guidance.

See Note 19 for a reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings per common share for the vears ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000 as if SFAS No. 142 were adopted January 1, 2000.
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Note 18 Commitments and Contingencies
Asbestos Settlement and Related Costs

On November 27, 2002, the Company reached an agreement in principle with the appropriate parties
to resolve all current and future asbestos-related claims made against it and its affiliates in connection
with the Cryovac Transaction. The settlement will also resolve the fraudulent transfer claims, as well as
indemnification claims by Fresenius, that had been made against the Company in connection with the
Cryovac Transaction. On December 3, 2002, the agreement in principle was approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors. The Company was advised that both of the Committees had approved the
agreement in principle as of December 5, 2002. For a description of the Cryovac Transaction, asbestos-
related claims and the parties involved, see “Cryovac Transaction” and “Contingencies Related to the
Cryovac Transaction” below.

The Company recorded a charge of $850,118 as a result of the asbestos settlement in the consolidated
statement of operations as of December 31, 2002. Such expense consisted of the following items:

* a non-cash charge of $512,500 covering a cash payment required to be made by the Company
upon the effectiveness of a plan of reorganization in the bankruptcy of New Grace. Because it is
uncertain when such a plan of reorganization may become effective, this liability has been
recorded as a current liability on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2002.
Under the terms of the settlement, this amount accrues interest at a 5.5% annual rate from
December 21, 2002 to the date of payment. Such interest through December 31, 2002, amounted
to $861 and is included in interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations and in
other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

* a non-cash charge of $321,480 representing the fair market value of 9,000,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to such settlement upon the
effectiveness of New Grace’s plan of reorganization. Such shares are subject to customary
anti-dilution provisions (including the effects of stock splits, stock dividends and certain other
events affecting the Company’s common stock). Such fair market value was $35.72 per common
share as of the close of business on December 5, 2002. Such amount has been recorded in the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2002 as follows: $900 representing the aggregate
par value of such shares has been recorded in common stock reserved for issuance related to the
asbestos settlement and the remaining $320,580, representing the excess of the aggregate fair
market value over the aggregate par value of such common shares, has been recorded in
additional paid-in capital. The shares of common stock reserved for issuance related to the
asbestos settlement are not reflected in the 2002 loss per common share calculations since the
effect would be anti-dilutive (i.e., would reduce the loss per common share).

* $16,138 of legal and related fees.

In 2001, other expense in the consolidated statement of operations included $11,995 of expense of
which $8,149 was primarily a result of the Company’s guarantee, entered into at the time of the
Cryovac Transaction, of certain debt payable by W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn., which filed for
reorganization along with New Grace, and $3,846 of legal and related fees.

Cryovac Transaction

On March 31, 1998, the Company completed a multi-step transaction (the “Cryovac Transaction”),
which brought the Cryovac packaging business and the former Sealed Air Corporation (“old Sealed
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Air”) under the common ownership of the Company. These businesses operate as subsidiaries of the
Company, and the Company acts as a holding company. As part of that transaction, the Cryovac
packaging business, held by various direct and indirect subsidiaries of the Company, was separated from
the remaining businesses of the Company. Such remaining businesses were then contributed to a
company now known as W. R. Grace & Co. (“New Grace”), whose shares were distributed to the
Company’s stockholders. As a result, New Grace became a separate publicly owned company. The
Company recapitalized its outstanding shares of common stock into a new common stock and a new
convertible preferred stock. A subsidiary of the Company then merged into old Sealed Air, which
changed its name to Sealed Air Corporation (US). The agreements pursuant to which the Cryovac
Transaction was carried out are referred to below as the “Transaction Agreements.”

Contingencies Related to the Cryovac Transaction

In connection with the Cryovac Transaction, New Grace and its subsidiaries retained all liabilities
arising out of their operations before the Cryovac Transaction, whether accruing or occurring before or
after the Cryovac Transaction, other than liabilities arising from or relating to Cryovac’s operations.
The liabilities retained by New Grace include, among others, liabilities relating to asbestos-containing
products previously manufactured or sold by New Grace’s subsidiaries prior to the Cryovac Transaction,
including its primary U.S. operating subsidiary, W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn., which has operated for
decades and has been a subsidiary of New Grace since the Cryovac Transaction. The Transaction
Agreements provided that, should any claimant seek to hold the Company, including any of its
subsidiaries, responsible for liabilities of New Grace or its subsidiaries, including such asbestos-related
liabilities, New Grace and its subsidiaries would indemnify and defend the Company.

Since the beginning of 2000, the Company has been served with a number of lawsuits alleging that, as a
result of the Cryovac Transaction, the Company is responsible for alleged asbestos liabilities of New
Grace and its subsidiaries, certain of which were also named as co-defendants in some of these actions.
These actions include several purporied class actions and a number of personal injury lawsuits. Some
plaintiffs seek damages for personal injury or wrongful death, while others seek medical monitoring,
environmental remediation or remedies related to an attic insulation product. Neither old Sealed Air
nor Cryovac ever produced or sold any of the asbestos-containing materials that are the subjects of
these cases. Nonie of these cases has been resolved through judgment, settlement or otherwise. All such
cases have been stayed in connection with New Grace’s Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding discussed
below.

While the allegations in these actions directed to the Company vary, these actions all appear to allege
that the transfer of the Cryovac business as part of the Cryovac Transaction was a fraudulent transfer
or gave rise to successor liability. Under a theory of successor liability, plaintiffs with claims against
New Grace and its subsidiaries may attempt to hold the Company liable for liabilities that arose with
respect to activities conducted prior to the Cryovac Transaction by W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn. or
other New Grace subsidiaries. A transfer would be a fraudulent transfer if the transferor received less
than reasonably equivalent value and the transferor was insolvent or was rendered insolvent by the
transfer, was engaged or was about to engage in a business for which its assets constitute unreasonably
small capital, or intended to incur or believed that it would incur debts beyond its ability to pay as they
mature. A transfer may also be fraudulent if it was made with actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud
creditors. If any transfers in connection with the Cryovac Transaction were found by a court to be
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fraudulent transfers, the Company could be required to return the property or its value to the
transferor or could be required to fund certain liabilities of New Grace or its subsidiaries for the
benefit of their creditors, including asbestos claimants. The Company has reached an agreement in
principle, described below, that will resolve all such claims. Previously, the Company was unable to
estimate the loss or range of loss in the event that there had been a finding that the Cryovac
Transaction was a fraudulent transfer or gave rise to successor liability.

In the Joint Proxy Statement furnished to their respective stockholders in connection with the Cryovac
Transaction, both Sealed Air and Grace stated that it was their belief that New Grace and its
subsidiaries were adequately capitalized and would be adequately capitalized after the Cryovac
Transaction and that none of the transfers contemplated to occur in the Cryovac Transaction would be
a fraudulent transfer. They also stated their belief that the Cryovac Transaction complied with other
relevant laws. However, if a court applying the relevant legal standards had reached conclusions
adverse to the Company, such determination could have had a materially adverse effect on the
Company’s consolidated results of operations and financial position.

On April 2, 2001, New Grace and certain of its subsidiaries filed a petition for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in the District of Delaware.
New Grace stated that the filing was made in response to a sharply increasing number of asbestos
claims since 1999.

In connection with its Chapter 11 filing, New Grace filed an application with the Bankruptcy Court
seeking to stay, among others, all actions brought against the Company (including certain of its
subsidiaries) related to alleged asbestos liabilities of New Grace and its subsidiaries or alleging
fraudulent transfer claims. The court issued an order dated May 3, 2001, which was modified on
January 22, 2002, under which all such filed or pending actions against the Company were stayed and
all such future actions are stayed upon filing and service on the Company. No further proceedings
involving the Company can occur in the actions that have been stayed except upon further order of the
Bankruptey Court.

Committees appointed to represent asbestos claimants in New Grace’s bankruptcy case received the
court’s permission to pursue fraudulent transfer and other claims against the Company and its
subsidiary Cryovac, Inc. and against Fresenius, as discussed below. The claims against Fresenius are
based upon a 1996 transaction between Fresenius and W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn. Fresenius is not
affiliated with the Company. In March 2002, the court ordered that the issues of the solvency of New
Grace following the Cryovac Transaction and whether New Grace received reasonably equivalent value
in the Cryovac Transaction would be tried on behalf of all creditors of New Grace. The proceeding is
pending in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (Adv. No. 02-02210).

In June 2002, the court permitted the U.S. government to intervene as a plaintiff in the fraudulent
transfer proceeding, so that the U.S. government could pursue allegations that remediation expenses at
certain sites were underestimated or omitted in the solvency analyses of New Grace that were
conducted at the time of the Cryovac Transaction. The court also permitted New Grace, which asserted
that the Cryovac Transaction was not a fraudulent transfer, to intervene in the proceeding. In July 2002,
the court issued an interim ruling on the legal standards to be applied in the trial, holding, among
other things, that, subject to certain limitations, post-1998 claims should be considered in the solvency
analysis of New Grace. The Company believes that only claims and liabilities that were known or
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reasonably should have been known at the time of the 1998 Cryovac Transaction should be considered
pursuant to the applicable standard. The trial was scheduled to commence December 9, 2002.

On November 27, 2002, the Company reached an agreement in principle with the Committees
prosecuting the claims against the Company and Cryovac, Inc., to resolve all current and future
asbestos-related claims arising from the Cryovac Transaction. On the same day, the court entered an
order confirming that an amicable resolution of the disputes among the parties had been reached and
that counsel for the Company and the Committees had agreed and bound the parties to the terms of
the agreement in principle. As discussed above, the agreement in principle calls for payment of
9,000,000 shares of Sealed Air common stock and $512,500 in cash, plus interest on the cash payment
at a 5.5% annual rate starting on December 21, 2002 and ending on the effective date of the New
Grace plan of reorganization, when payment must be made. Such shares are subject to customary
anti-dilution provisions (including the effects of stock splits, stock dividends and certain other events
affecting the Company’s common stock). Pursuant to the agreement, the Company cannot seek
indemnity from New Grace for this payment. On December 3, 2002, the agreement in principle was
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. The Company was advised that both of the
Committees had approved the agreement in principle as of December 5, 2002. The parties are jointly
engaged in the process of drafting a definitive settlement agreement consistent with the terms of the
agreement in principle. Once signed by the appropriate parties, the settlement agreement will be
presented to the court for approval and will eventually be incorporated into New Grace’s plan of
reorganization and, assuming approval by New Grace’s creditors as part of the approval of the plan of
reorganization, will then be implemented.

The settlement, upon approval and implementation in the New Grace bankruptcy, will provide that,
upon the effective date of New Grace’s plan of reorganization and payment of the shares and cash, all
present and future asbestos-related claims against the Company and its affiliates that arise from alleged
asbestos liabilities of New Grace and its affiliates (including former affiliates that became affiliates of
the Company through the Cryovac Transaction) will be channeled to and become the responsibility of
one or more trusts to be established as part of New Grace’s plan of reorganization. The settlement will
also resolve all fraudulent transfer claims against the Company and its affiliates arising from the
Cryovac Transaction as well as the claims of Fresenius described below. The settlement will provide
that the Company and its affiliates will receive releases of all such claims. As a condition to the
Company’s obligation to make the payments required by the settlement, New Grace’s plan of
reorganization must be consistent with the terms of the settlement, including provisions for the trusts
and releases referred to above and for an injunction barring the prosecution of any asbestos-related
claims against the Company and its affiliates. It is expected that the order approving the settlement
agreement will also provide that the stay of proceedings involving the Company described above will
continue through the effective date of New Grace’s plan of reorganization, after which the Company
will be released from the liabilities asserted in those proceedings and their continued prosecution
against the Company will be enjoined.

In January 2002, the Company filed a declaratory judgment action against Fresenius Medical Care
Holdings, Inc., its parent, Fresenius AG, a German company, and certain of its affiliates {collectively,
“Fresenius”) in New York State court asking the court to resolve a contract dispute between the
parties. Fresenius contended that the Company was obligated to indemnify Fresenius for certain
liabilities that Fresenius might incur as a result of the 1996 Fresenius transaction mentioned above.
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Nete 18 Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

Fresenius’s contention was based on its interpretation of the agreements between Fresenius and W. R.
Grace & Co. — Conn. in connection with the 1996 Fresenius transaction. In February 2002, Fresenius
announced that it had accrued a charge of $172,000 for such potential liabilities, which include
pre-transaction tax liabilities of New Grace and the costs of defense of litigation arising from New
Grace’s Chapter 11 filing. The Company believed that it was not responsible to indemnify Fresenius
under the 1996 agreements and filed the action in order to proceed to a resolution of Fresenius’s
claims. In April 2002, Fresenius filed a motion to dismiss the action and for entry of declaratory relief
in its favor. The Company opposed the motion, and in June 2002, the court reserved decision after oral
argument. No written order has been issued, and the parties have requested the court to defer issuing a
ruling pending implementation of the definitive settlement agreement between the Company and the
Committees. As noted above, as a result of the November 27, 2002 agreement in principle referred to
above, the parties expect that there will be mutual releases exchanged between Fresenius and the
Company releasing any and all claims related to the 1996 Fresenius transaction.

In view of New Grace’s Chapter 11 filing, the Company may receive additional claims asserting that the
Company is liable for obligations that New Grace had agreed to retain in the Cryovac Transaction and
for which the Company may be contingently liable. To date, no material additional claims have been
asserted or threatened against the Company.

Final determinations and accountings under the Transaction Agreements with respect to matters
pertaining to the Cryovac Transaction had not been completed at the time of New Grace’s Chapter 11
filing. The Company expects to file a claim in the bankruptcy proceeding that will include all of the
costs and liabilities that it has incurred or may incur that New Grace agreed to retain or that are
subject to indemnification by New Grace under the Transaction Agreements other than payments to be
made under the settlement agreement. New Grace alleges that the Company is responsible for certain
amounts under the Transaction Agreements. Any amounts for which the Company may be liable to
New Grace may be used to offset New Grace’s liabilities to the Company. Costs and liabilities for
which the Company intends to seek indemnification by New Grace will also include certain defense
costs related to asbestos and fraudulent transfer litigation and the Fresenius claims, the guaranteed
debt paid by the Company described above, and any of the other potential claims against the Company
mentioned above. Except to the extent of any potential setoff or similar claim, the Company expects
that its claim will be as an unsecured creditor of New Grace. It is not currently possible to determine
the amount of the Company’s claim against New Grace, the extent to which such claim may be secured
by setoff, how much of that claim may be allowed, or the amount of the Company’s recovery on such
claim, if any, in the bankruptcy proceeding.

Leases

The Company is obligated under the terms of various leases covering primarily warchouse and office
facilities, as well as certain smaller manufacturing sites that it occupies. The Company accounts for
substantially all of its leases as operating leases. Net rental expense was $24,264, $23,238 and $23,497
for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Estimated future minimum annual rental commitments under
noncancelable real property leases are as follows: 2003 — $23,758; 2004 — $18,949; 2005 — $13,773;
2006 — $10,515; 2007 — $9,265; and subsequent years—$12,123.
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Note 18 Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)
Long-Term Commitments

The Company entered into the following long-term commitments during 2002:

> Approximately $36,000 for the purchase of certain equipment over an eight-year period
beginning in 2003, together with a potential termination fee in an amount to be determined. The
Company’s obligation is reduced or increased based on market price changes for the equipment
and certain indexes. Estimated future minimum annual commitments are as follows: 2003 —
$3,500; 2004 — $3,900; 2005—$4,500; 2006 — $5,000; 2007 — $5,500; and subsequent years —
$13,600. Failure to purchase any of the minimum annual requirements in any year obligates the
Company to pay an amount of 45% of such shortfall.

Approximately $9,500 to a supplier if the Company fails to purchase 142,700,000 pounds of
certain raw materials, at the then current market price, over a ten-year period that began in
May, 2002. The amount of the potential contingent payment declines in proportion to the
Company’s purchase of minimum quantities required under the contract. At December 31, 2002,
the Company’s purchases were in line with the minimum quantity requirements under the
agreemernt.

Note 19 New Accounting Pronouncements

As required by SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives had to be
tested for impairment as of January 1, 2002 and then tested for impairment at least annually. As
required by this statement, the Company completed its assessment process as of June 30, 2002 and
determined that no impairment charge was necessary as of January 1, 2002 on a reporting unit basis.
The Company also completed its annual testing for impairment for 2002 during the fourth quarter of
2002 and determined that no impairment charge was necessary on a reporting unit basis.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had unamortized goodwill in the amount of
$1,926,244 and $1,913,000, respectively. Amortization expense related to goodwill was $57,005 and
$51,776 in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Beginning January 1, 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 142,
the Company is no longer recording amortization expense related to goodwill. Although goodwill will
no longer be systematically amortized, this statement requires that periodic reviews be conducted to
assess whether or not the carrying amount of goodwill may be impaired. Such reviews could result in
future write-downs of goodwill which would be reflected as a charge against operating income.

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had identifiable intangible assets with definite useful
lives with a gross carrying value of approximately $69,100 and $63,600, respectively, less accumulated
amortization of approximately $47,700 and $40,100, respectively. Amortization of identifiable intangible
assets was approximately $7,200 for 2002. Assuming no change in the gross carrying value of
identifiable intangible assets from the value at December 31, 2002, the estimated amortization for the
year ended December 31, 2003 and the next four succeeding years is approximately $7,200 per year.
Such assets are reflected in “other assets” in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. At
December 31, 2002 and 2001, there were no identifiable intangible assets, other than goodwill, with
indefinite useful lives as defined by SFAS No. 142.
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Note 19 New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per common share
computations for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 as if SFAS No. 142 were adopted as of

January 1, 2000:

Basic EPS:

Numerator

Net earnings ...............

Add: Excess of book value over
repurchase price of preferred
stock ....... . . . . L

Less: Preferred stock dividends . . .

Net earnings ascribed to common
shareholders — basic . .......

Denominator
Weighted average common shares
outstanding — basic . . . ... ...

Basic earnings per common share .

Diluted EPS:

Numerator

Net earnings ascribed to common
shareholders — basic .. ......

Less: Excess of book value over
repurchase price of preferred
stock .. ... ...

Add: Dividends associated with
repurchased preferred stock . . .

Net earnings ascribed to common

shareholders — diluted . . . .. ..

Dencominator

Weighted average common shares
outstanding — basic . . .. ... ..

Effect of assumed exercise of
options. . .. ..............

Effect of conversion of
repurchased preferred stock .. .

Weighted average common shares
outstanding — diluted .. ... ..

Diluted earnings per common
share .. ....... ... ... ...,

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2001

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2000

December 31, Add Back: December 31, December 31, Add Back: December 31,
2001 Goodwill 2001 2000 Goodwill 2000
As Reported Amortization  Adjusted As Reported Amortization  Adjusted
$156,697 $57,005 $213,702 $225,319 $51,776 $277,095
7,456 — 7,456 45,283 —_ 45,283
55,024 — 55,024 64,266 — 64,266
$109,129 $57,005 $166,134 $206,336 $51,776 $258,112
83,692 — 83,692 83,672 - 83,672
$ 130 $ 069 $ 199 $ 247 $ 061 $ 3.08
$109,129 $57,005 $166,134 $206,336 $51,776 $258,112
7,456 — 7,456 45,283 — 45,283
302 — 302 8,423 — 8,423
$101,975 $57,005 $158,980 $169,476 $51,776 $221,252
83,692 -— 83,602 83,672 — 83,672
— — — 90 — 90
208 — 208 4,189 — 4,189
83,900 -_ 83,900 87,951 — 87,951
$ 122 $ 0.67 $ 1.89 $ 193 $ 0.59 $ 252
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Note 19 New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

On January 1, 2003, the Company will adopt SFAS No. 143, “Asset Retirement Obligations™ (“SFAS

No. 143”), which provides the accounting requirements for retirement obligations associated with
tangible long-lived assets. This statement requires entities to record the fair value of a liability for an
asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 is not
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”), which excludes from the definition of long-lived assets
goodwill and other intangibles that are not amortized in accordance with SFAS No. 142. SFAS No. 144
requires that the disposal of long-lived assets by sale be measured at the lower of carrying amount or
fair value less cost to sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in discontinued operations.
SFAS No. 144 also expands the reporting of discontinued operations to include components of an entity
that have been or will be disposed of rather than limiting such discontinuance to a segment of a
business. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities” (“SFAS No. 146”). SFAS No. 146 nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue

No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an
Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)” (“EITF 94-3”) and requires that a
liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized and measured initially at
fair value in the period in which the liability is incurred. Under EITF 94-3, a liability for an exit cost
was required to be recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. The adoption of
SFAS No. 146 is expected to result in delayed recognition for certain types of costs as compared to the
provisions of EITF 94-3. SFAS No. 146 is effective for new exit or disposal activities that are initiated
after December 31, 2002, and does not affect amounts currently reported in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. SFAS No. 146 will affect the types and timing of costs included in
future restructuring programs, if any.

On January 1, 2003, the Company will adopt SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation — Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS No. 148”), which provides alternative methods of
transition for companies that choose to switch to the fair value method of accounting for stock options.
SFAS No. 148 also makes changes in the disclosure requirements for stock-based compensation,
regardless of which method of accounting is chosen. As discussed in Note 15, the Company terminated
all previously maintained stock option plans effective March 31, 1998 in connection with the Cryovac
Transaction, except with respect to options that were still outstanding as of such date. The adoption of
SFAS No. 148 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others”
(“Interpretation No. 45”). Interpretation No. 45 requires the disclosure of certain guarantees existing at
December 31, 2002. The Company had no guarantees meeting the requirements of Interpretation

No. 45 at December 31, 2002. In addition, Interpretation No. 45 requires the recognition of a liability
for the fair value of the obligation of qualifying guarantee activities that are initiated or modified after
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Note 19 New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

December 31, 2002. Accordingly, the Company will apply the recognition provisions of Interpretation
No. 45 prospectively to applicable guarantee activities initiated after December 31, 2002.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”
(“Interpretation No. 46”). Interpretation No. 46 requires that the assets, liabilities and results of the
activity of variable interest entities be consolidated into the financial statements of the company that
has the controlling financial interest. Interpretation No. 46 also provides the framework for determining
whether a variable interest entity should be consolidated based on voting interests or significant
financial support provided to it. Interpretation No. 46 will be effective for the Company on February 1,
2003 for variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003, and on July 31, 2003 for variable
interest entities created prior to February 1, 2003. Based on its preliminary analysis of Interpretation
No. 46, the Company does not currently expect the adoption of Interpretation No. 46 to have a
material impact on its 2003 consolidated financial statements.

Note 20 Interim Financial Information (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth
(Amounts in thousands, except for per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter(1)
2002
Netsales ........ ... $746,087 $786,282 $825.816 $846,071
Gross profit . ..... ... .. ... . 250,642 259,951 264,089 282,931
Net earnings (loss) . ........ ... ... .. ... ..... 60,545 66,005 66,198 (501,817)
Preferred stock dividends . . .. ................... 13,677 13,558 13,306 13,304
Earnings (loss) per common share — basic(2). .. ..... 0.56 0.66 0.70 (6.12)
Earnings (loss) per common share — diluted(2) . ... .. 0.56 0.61 0.62 (6.13)
2001
Netsales ........ i $758,272  $761,599 $766,221 $781,390
Grossprofit . ... ... .. .. . ... 240,245 242,154 249,604 258,284
Net earnings . . ... .ottt e 34,560 39,264 44,410 38,463
Preferred stock dividends . . . .................... 13,754 13,804 13,804 13,662
Earnings per common share — basic(2) ............ 0.30 0.30 0.40 0.30
Earnings per common share — diluted(2)........... 0.25 0.30 0.37 0.30

(1) In November 2002, the Company reached an agreement in principle with the appropriate parties
to resolve all current and future asbestos-related claims made against it and its affiliates in
connection with the Cryovac Transaction. The settlement will also resolve the fraudulent transfer
claims, as well as indemnification claims by Fresenius Medical Care Holdings, Inc. and affiliated
companies, made against the Company in connection with the Cryovac Transaction. Due to the
above settlement, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $850,118 in the consolidated
statement of operations in 2002, which resulted in the Company’s net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2002. See Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) The sum of the four quarter’s earnings per common share may not equal the amounts reported for
the full year since each period is calculated separately.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

PART IIf
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Part of the information required in response to this Item is set forth in Part [ of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant,” and the balance will be set forth
in the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions
“Election of Directors — Information Concerning Nominees” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance.” All such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required in response to this Item will be set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement
for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Director Compensation,” “Executive
Compensation -— Summary Compensation Table” and “Meetings and Committees of the Board of
Directors — Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.” Such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Except as set forth below, the information required in response to this Item will be set forth in the
Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Voting
Securities.” Such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of December 31, 2002

The following table provides information as of Becember 31, 2002 with respect to shares of Common
Stock that may be issued under the Contingent Stock Plan of Sealed Air Corporation (the “Contingent
Stock Plan”) and the Sealed Air Corporation 2002 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the “2002
Directors Stock Plan”).

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under

Number of Securities to be Weighted-Average Equity Compensation
Issued Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Plans (Excluding
Outstanding Options, QOutstanding Options, Securities Reflected im
Warrants and Rights Warrants, and Rights Column (a))
Plan Category(1) (a) (b) (¢)

Equity compensation plans approved

by stockholders(2) .............. 109,043 2) 1,343,452
Equity compensation plans not

approved by stockholders . .. ... ... — — _—

Total .. ... ... 109,043 — 1,343,452

(1) The table does not include information concerning equity compensation plans that have been
terminated. Stock option plans in which certain employees of the Cryovac packaging business
participated were terminated as of March 31, 1998 in connection with the Cryovac Transaction
except with respect to options that were still outstanding as of such date. At December 31, 2002, a
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total of 335,992 shares of Common Stock were issuable upon the exercise of those outstanding
options at an average per share exercise price of $38.66.

(2} Consists of the Contingent Stock Plan and the 2002 Directors Stock Plan. Column (a) includes
103,750 shares awarded under the Contingent Stock Plan but not yet issued as of December 31,
2002, as well as 5,293 deferred stock units held by non-employee directors. The exercise price for
shares awarded under the Contingent Stock Plan is $1.00 per share. The exercise price for deferred
stock units held by non-employee directors is $0.10 per share, all of which had been paid to the
Company prior to December 31, 2002.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

None.

Item 14. Controls and Procedures

Within the 90 days prior to the filing of this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective
to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. There were no
significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
these controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation.
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PART 1V

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports en Form 8-K

(a) Documents filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page 35 of this Annual Report on
Form 16-K.

(ii) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

21

31

3.2
33

10.1

10.2

10.3

104

10.5

10.6

10.7

Description

Distribution Agreement dated as of March 30, 1998 among the Company, W. R. Grace & Co.-
Conn. (“Grace-Conn.”), and New Grace. [Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-X, Date of Report March 31, 1998, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by
reference.]

Unofficial Composite Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company as
currently in effect.

Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation, effective February 4, 2003.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company as currently in effect. [Exhibit 3.3 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, File
No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.]

Employee Benefits Allocation Agreement dated as of March 30, 1998 among the Company,
Grace-Conn. and New Grace. [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
Date of Report March 31, 1998, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.]

Tax Sharing Agreement dated as of March 30, 1998 by and among the Company, Grace-Conn.
and New Grace. [Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Date of Report
March 31, 1998, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.]

Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors of the Company. [Annex E to the
Company’s Proxy Statement for the 1998 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated
herein by reference.]*

Grace 1996 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. [Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q of Grace for the quarter ended March 31, 1997, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated
herein by reference.]*

Grace 1994 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. [Exhibit 10.6 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 10, 1996 of Grace, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by
reference.]*

Grace 1989 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. [Exhibit 10.5 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 10, 1996 of Grace, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by
reference.]*

Grace 1986 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. [Exhibit 10.4 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 10, 1996 of Grace, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by
reference.]*
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Exhibit
Number

10.8

109

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Description
Form of Contingent Stock Purchase Agreement-Section 162(m) Officer. {Exhibit 10.8 to the

Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, File
No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.]*

Form of Contingent Stock Purchase Agreement-Officer. [Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, File No. 1-12139,
is incorporated herein by reference.]*

Form of Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement. [Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8, Registration No. 333-59195, is incorporated herein by reference.}*

Global Revolving Credit Agreement (S-year) dated as of March 30, 1998 among the Company,
certain of its subsidiaries including Cryovac, Inc., ABN AMRO Bank N.V,, Bankers Trust
Company, Bank of America National Trust and Savings Association, NationsBank, N. A., and
the other banks party thereto. [Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
Date of Report March 31, 1998, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.]

First Amendment, dated as of March 16, 1999, to Global Revolving Credit Agreement
(5-year), among the Company, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries as borrowers and
guarantors thereunder, ABN AMRO Bank N.V, as Administrative Agent, and certain other
banks party thereto. [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 1999, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.]

Second Amendment, dated as of June 2, 1999, to Global Revolving Credit Agreement
(5-year), among the Company, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries as guarantors and/or
borrowers thereunder, ABN AMRO Bank N.V,, as Administrative Agent, and certain other
banks party thereto. [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 1999, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.]

Waiver, dated as of January 22, 2003, to Global Revolving Credit Agreement (5-year), among
the Company, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries as borrowers and/or guarantors
thereunder, certain banks party thereto, and ABN AMRO Bank N.V,, as Administrative
Agent.

Consulting Agreement, dated as of February 29, 2000, between the Company and T. J. Dermot
Dunphy. [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2000, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.]*

Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2000, between the Company and Leonard R. Byrne.
[Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.}*

Sealed Air Corporation Performance-Based Compensation Program. [Annex A to the
Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2000 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated
herein by reference.]*

Contingent Stock Plan of the Company, as amended. [Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, File No. 1-12139,
is incorporated herein by reference.]*

Sealed Air Corporation 2002 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors. [Annex A to the
Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated
herein by reference.]*
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Exhibit
Number

10.20

21
23
99.1

Description
Form of Stock Purchase Agreement for use in connection with the Company’s 2002 Stock
Plan for Non-Employee Directors. [Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by
reference. ]*

Sealed Air Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors. [Exhibit 10.21 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, File
No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.]*

Agreement in Principle, dated November 27, 2002, among the Company, the Company’s
subsidiary, Cryovac, Inc., the Official Committee of Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants and
the Official Committee of Asbestos Property Damage Claimants.

Subsidiaries of the Company.
Consent of KPMG LLP.

Certification of William V. Hickey, Chief Executive Officer, and David H. Kelsey, Chief
Financial Officer, of the Company, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, dated March 2§, 2003.

* Compensatory plan or arrangement of management required to be filed as an exhibit to this report
on Form 10-K.




(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

The Company filed the following report under Item S of Form 8-K during the fiscal quarter ended
December 31, 2002:

Date Of Report Disclosures

November 27, 2002 The Company reported that it had reached an
agreement in principle with all of the appropriate
parties to resolve all of the current and future
asbestos-related claims and the pending fraudulent
transfer claims made against it and its affiliates
relating to New Grace.

The Company furnished the following report under Item 9 of Form 8-K during the fiscal quarter ended
December 31, 2002:

Date Of Report Disclosures

December 16, 2002 The Company reported its anticipated range of
earnings per share for 2003.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE 11
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves
Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
(in thousands of dollars)

Balance At Charged To Balance At
Beginning Of Costs And End Of
Description Year Expenses Other  Deductions Year

Year ended December 31, 2002
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ..  $25,424 $ 5,224 $(2,562) $(9,403)(1) $18,683

Inventory obsolescence reserve . ... $30,331 $ 5,537 $ — $(7,795)(2) $28,073

Year ended December 31, 2001
Allowance for doubtful accounts ... $21,171 $ 8,737 $(5,339)(1) $25,424

Inventory obsolescence reserve . ... $24,324 $10,246 $(4,973)(2)  $30,331

Year ended December 31, 2000
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ..  $21,396 $ 3,783 $(4,635)(1) $21,171

Inventory obsolescence reserve . ... $27,061 $ 1,778 $ $(4,646)(2) $24,324

(1) Primarily accounts receivable balances written off.

(2) Primarily items removed from inventory.




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

SEALED AIR CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Date: March 28, 2003 By: /s/ William V. Hickey

William V. Hickey
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature En_ts
By /s/ William V. Hickey March 28, 2003
William V. Hickey

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

By /s/ David H. Kelsey March 28, 2003

David H. Kelsey
Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

By /s/ Jeffrey S. Warren March 28, 2003

Jeffrey S. Warren
Controller (Principal Accounting
Officer)

By /s/ Hank Brown March 28, 2003

Hank Brown
Director

By /s/ Michael Chu March 28, 2003

Michael Chu
Director

85




By

Signature

/s/ Lawrence R. Codey

Lawrence R. Codey
Director

/s/ T. J. Dermot Dunphy

T J. Dermot Dunphy
Director

/s/ Charles F. Farrell, Jr.

Charles F. Farrell, Jr.
Director

/s/ Shirley Ann Jackson

Shirley Ann Jackson
Director

/s/ Kenneth P. Manning

Kenneth P Manning
Director

/s/ William J. Marino

William J. Marino
Director
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, William V. Hickey, President and Chief Executive Officer, certify that:
L.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-X of Sealed Air Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have
identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there
were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 28, 2003 /s/ William V. Hickey

William V. Hickey
President and Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, David H. Kelsey, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, certify that:
1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sealed Air Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors {or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have
identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there
were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective
actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 28, 2003 /s/ DAVID H. KELSEY

David H. Kelsey
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The foilowing table sets forth the name and state or other jurisdiction of incorporation of the
Company’s subsidiaries. Except as otherwise indicated, each subsidiary is wholly owned, directly or
indirectly, by the Company and does business under its corporate name.

Ciras CV Netherlands
CPI Packaging, Inc. Delaware
Cryovac Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia
Cryovac Brazil Ltd. Brazil
Cryovac Chile Holdings, LLC Delaware
Cryovac China Holdings I, Inc. Cayman Islands
Cryovac Far East Holdings, LLC. Delaware
Cryovac (Gaoming) Co., Ltd.** China
Cryovac Holdings, S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Cryovac, Inc.§ Delaware
Cryovac India Private Limited India
Cryovac International Holdings, Inc. Delaware
Cryovac (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia
Cryovac Packaging Portugal Embalagens, Lda. Portugal
Cryovac (Philippines) Inc. Philippines
Cryovac Poland Holdings, Inc. Delaware
Cryovac Rigid Packaging Pty. Ltd. Australia
Cryovac (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Singapore
Cryovac Systems (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong
Cryovac (Thailand) Limited Thailand
Dolphin Packaging (Holdings) Limited United Kingdom
Dry Chill Pty. Ltd. Australia
Drypac Pty. Ltd. Australia
Invertol S.A. de C.V. Mezxico
Kelder Plastibox B.V. Netherlands
Mipa Srl Italy

Noja Inmobiliaria, S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Novofilm Srl Italy

Omni Supply Inc.** North Carolina
00O Sealed Air Russia

Poly Packaging Systems, Inc. Delaware
Polymask Corporation* Delaware
Polypride, Inc. Delaware
Producembal-Producio de Embalagens, Lda Portugal
Reflectix, Inc. Delaware
Sealed Air Africa (Pty) Ltd. South Africa
Sealed Air AG Switzerland
Sealed Air Argentina S.A. Argentina
Sealed Air Australia Pty. Limited Australia
Sealed Air Brasil Ltda. Brazil
Sealed Air Belgium nv Belgium
Sealed Air B.V. Netherlands
Sealed Air (Canada) Inc. Canada
Sealed Air Central America, S.A. Guatemala
Sealed Air Chile Industrial Lida. Chile
Sealed Air Colombia Ltda. Colombia
Sealed Air Corporation (US) Delaware




Sealed Air de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
Sealed Air Denmark A/S

Sealed Air de Venezuela, S.A.

Sealed Air Embalagens Ltda.

Sealed Air Finance B.V.

Sealed Air Finance II B.V.

Sealed Air Finance Ireland

Sealed Air Foreign Sales Corp.

Sealed Air (Gaoming) Packaging Co., Ltd.
Sealed Air GmbH

Sealed Air GmbH

Sealed Air (Greenore) Limited

Sealed Air Hellas S.A**

Sealed Air Holdings (New Zealand) Limited
Sealed Air (Hong Kong) Limited

Sealed Air Hungary Ltd.

Sealed Air International LLC

Sealed Air Italy Srl

Sealed Air Japan Limited

Sealed Air Kaustik (Russia)**

Sealed Air Korea Limited

Sealed Air Limited

Sealed Air Limited

Sealed Air LLC

Sealed Air Luxembourg S.C.A.

Sealed Air Luxembourg S.a.r.l.

Sealed Air Luxembourg (I) S.a.r.l.

Sealed Air Luxembourg (II) S.a.r.l.
Sealed Air (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Sealed Air Management Holding GmbH & Co., KG
Sealed Air Management Holding Verwaltungs GmbH
Sealed Air Multiflex GmbH

Sealed Air Netherlands (Holdings) I B.V,
Sealed Air Netherlands (Holdings) II B.V.
Sealed Air Nevada Holdings Limited
Sealed Air (New Zealand) Limited

Sealed Air Norge AS

Sealed Air Oy

Sealed Air Packaging Holdings (Israel) Ltd.
Sealed Air Packaging, S.A.

Sealed Air Packaging S.A.S.

Sealed Air Packaging (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
Sealed Air Packaging Srl

Sealed Air Peketleme Ticaret Limited Sirketi
Sealed Air Peru S.R.L.

Sealed Air (Philippines) Inc.

Sealed Air Polska Sp. z.0.0.

Sealed Air S.A.S.

Sealed Air SEE Ltd.

Sealed Air (Singapore) Pte. Limited
Sealed Air S.L.

Sealed Air Spain (Holdings) SL

Sealed Air Srl

Sealed Air s.r.o

Mexico
Denmark
Venezuela
Brazil
Netherlands
Netherlands
Ireland
Barbados
China
Germany
Switzerland
Ireland
Greece

New Zealand
Hong Kong
Hungary
England
Italy

Japan
Russia
Korea
England
freland
Delaware
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Malaysia
Germany
Germany
Germany
Netherlands
Netherlands
Nevada
New Zealand
Norway
Finland
Israel

Spain
France
China

Italy

Turkey

Peru
Philippines
Poland
France
Greece
Singapore
Spain

Spain

Italy

Czech Republic




Sealed Air Svenska AB Sweden

Sealed Air Systems S.A. France

Sealed Air Taiwan Limited Taiwan

Sealed Air (Thailand) Limited Thailand
Sealed Air Trucking, Inc. Delaware
Sealed Air Uruguay S.A. Uruguay
Sealed Air Verpackungen GmbH Germany
Shanklin Corporation Delaware
Soinpar Industrial Ltda. Brazil

Tart s.r.o*** Czech Republic
Tepak S.PA. Italy

*  The Company directly or indirectly owns 50% of the outstanding shares.

** The Company directly or indirectly owns a majority of the outstanding shares.
*** The Company directly or indirectly owns less than 50% of the outstanding shares.
T Cryovac, Inc. does business in certain states under the name “Sealed Air Shrink Packaging Division.”

Certain subsidiaries are omitted from the above table. Such subsidiaries, if considered in the aggregate
as a single subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary as of December 31, 2002.




EXHIBIT 99.1

CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND CFO PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Sealed Air Corporation (the “Company”) for

the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the
date hereof (the “Report”), William V. Hickey, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and David H.
Kelsey, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as
adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

{2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ William V. Hickey

Name: William V. Hickey
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 28, 2003

/s/ David H. Kelsey

Name: David H. Kelsey
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 28, 2003

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the
Company for purposes of §18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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